SEASONAL BEHAVIOURS OF COASTAL CUTTHROAT TROUT (*ONCORHYNCHUS CLARKII CLARKII*) IN THE KITIMAT RIVER WATERSHED: OBSERVATIONS AND INFLUENCES

by

Eric Adam Vogt

B.Sc., The University of British Columbia, 2010

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

IN

NATURAL RESOURCE AND ENVIRONMENTAL STUDIES

(BIOLOGY)

UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA

April 2017

© Eric Adam Vogt, 2017

ABSTRACT

Coastal cutthroat trout (O. clarkii clarkii, CCT) are arguably the most poorly understood species of salmonid and little is known of their seasonal patterns of movement, particularly in British Columbia. My study was conducted to assess the overwintering and spawning behaviours of migratory CCT in the Kitimat River watershed and to evaluate how behaviours were influenced by a suite of biotic and abiotic metrics. Radio transmitters were surgically implanted into mature CCT in the late summer and fall of 2012 (Year 1; n = 41) and 2013 (Year 2; n = 68). In the late fall, CCT aggregated within deep, slow moving pools. During the winter, CCT either remained stationary within a single overwintering habitat, or were mobile, moving among 2 to 5 habitats. Spawning occurred in first to third order tributaries throughout the watershed, from April 14 to May 15. Spawning mortality was high, and 57% of radio tagged CCT did not survive spawning. I used an information-theoretic model to assess the influence of mean daily mainstem water temperature and discharge, photoperiod, thermal experience (accumulated thermal units [ATU]), distance travelled to spawn, migration type (mobile or stationary), fork length and sex on the timing that CCT moved out of overwintering habitats and into spawning tributaries. The analysis demonstrated the inherent seasonality of when spawning migrations are initiated and suggested that photoperiod combined with fork length and distance to spawn was best able to predict when CCT moved out of overwintering habitats. The spawning analysis demonstrated that when CCT arrive in spawning tributaries was most strongly influenced by combinations of thermal experience, photoperiod and migration type. My study has provided a comprehensive review of the overwintering and spawning behaviours of migratory CCT at a spatial and temporal scale that has not been completed previously. Behaviours associated with life history events, however, exhibited tremendous variability which has reinforced the need for local, watershed specific research when considering management strategies for the species.

ABSTRACT	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	x
PROLOGUE	1
CHAPTER 1	6
INTRODUCTION	6
Coastal Cutthroat Trout of the Kitimat Watershed	
METHODS	
Fish Capture, Sampling and Radio Tagging	
Relocation of Radio Tagged CCT	15
Data Processing and Analysis	20
Overwintering Behaviours	22
Staging Behaviours	23
Spawning Behaviours	24
Statistical Analyses	26
RESULTS	27
Fish Collection Effort	27
Sampled CCT	29
Radio Tagged CCT	
Overwintering Behaviours	
Overwintering Areas	
Timing of Arrival in Initial Overwintering Areas	40
Travel to Initial Overwintering Areas	43
Movement Between Overwintering Habitats by Mobile CCT	45
Departure from Overwintering Habitats	47
Movement from Overwintering to Staging Habitats	49
Movement from Overwintering to Spawning Habitats	50
Spawning Migrations	51
Distribution of Spawning Habitats	54

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Spawning wortality	56
Post Spawning Behaviours	56
DISCUSSION	58
CHAPTER 2	68
INTRODUCTION	68
METHODS	75
Fish Sampling and Tracking	75
Environmental Data Collection	75
Statistical Analyses	78
Modelling	78
RESULTS	81
Summary of Abiotic Conditions	81
Correlations and Collinearity	84
Overwintering Departure Models	86
5 .	
Spawning Models	
Spawning Models DISCUSSION	91 95
Spawning Models DISCUSSION Overwinter Analysis	91 95 95
Spawning Models DISCUSSION Overwinter Analysis Spawning Analysis	91 95 95
Spawning Models DISCUSSION Overwinter Analysis Spawning Analysis Implications	
Spawning Models DISCUSSION Overwinter Analysis Spawning Analysis Implications EPILOGUE	
Spawning Models DISCUSSION Overwinter Analysis Spawning Analysis Implications EPILOGUE Conservation Concerns	
Spawning Models DISCUSSION Overwinter Analysis Spawning Analysis Implications EPILOGUE Conservation Concerns Research Limitations	
Spawning Models DISCUSSION Overwinter Analysis Spawning Analysis Implications EPILOGUE Conservation Concerns Research Limitations REFERENCES	
Spawning Models DISCUSSION Overwinter Analysis Spawning Analysis Implications EPILOGUE Conservation Concerns Research Limitations REFERENCES	
Spawning Models DISCUSSION Overwinter Analysis Spawning Analysis Implications EPILOGUE Conservation Concerns Research Limitations REFERENCES APPENDICES Chapter 1 Appendix	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1. Regional variation in timing of returns to freshwater (FW Return),
spawning and downstream migrations of anadromous coastal cutthroat trout
in Alaska, British Columbia (BC), Washington (WA) and Oregon (OR). Light
and dark green squares indicate range and peak timing of behaviours,
respectively9
Table 1.2. Summary of location and operation period of stationary receiver stations
in the Kitimat watershed20
Table 1.3. Summary of tests applied to stationary receiver data to remove potential
erroneous detections
Table 1.4. Mainstem river position (rkm) of radio tagged CCT at capture in year 1 and
year 2
Table 1.5. Percent of CCT spawning in major and minor tributaries within the lower,
middle and upper reaches of the Kitimat watershed
Table 1.6. Summary of the relative mortality of CCT spawning within the main
channel, and secondary and tertiary streams of major and minor tributaries
to the Kitimat River
Table 2.1. Summary of grand mean and minimum water temperatures recorded at
mainstem temperature logging sites in year 1 and year 2 from November 1 to
May 31
Table 2.2. Summary of ANOVA and Tukey multiple comparison tests comparing
mean mainstem discharge from October to May in year 1 and year 2 to mean
daily historic flows from 1965 to 2012
Table 2.3. Correlations between metrics included in the analysis of departure from
overwintering habitats85
Table 2.4. Correlations between metrics included in the analysis of arrival in to
spawning tributaries85
Table 2.5. Summary of abiotic measures calculated for temporal intervals included in
the overwintering analysis. Tests for differences between years are
presented in the final column
Table 2.6. Set of logistic regression candidate models used to estimate likelihood of
movement out of overwintering habitats for CCT radio tagged in the Kitimat
River in year 1 and year 2. Standard errors in each model were clustered by
individual CCT. Fixed effect variables include: Photoperiod, a continuous
measure of mean civil day length (hr); Temperature and Discharge, measures
of mean mainstem water temperature and discharge, respectively; ATU,
running sum of mean daily mainstem water temperature; Distance, measure
of the total absolute distance (km) each CCT travelled to spawn from final
overwintering habitats; Mig.Type, a dichotomous measure identifying mobile
(1) and stationary CCT (0); Sex, a dichotomous variable identifying male (0)
and female (1) CCT, and; FL, a measure of the fork length (mm) of individual
ССТ

- Table 2.9. Set of logistic regression candidate models used to estimate likelihood of movement into spawning tributaries for CCT radio tagged in the Kitimat River in year 1 and year 2. Standard errors in each model were clustered by individual CCT. Fixed effect variables include: Photoperiod, a continuous measure of mean civil day length (hr); Temperature and Discharge, measures of mean mainstem water temperature and discharge, respectively; Distance, measure of the total absolute distance (km) each CCT travelled to spawn from final overwintering habitats; Mig.Type, a dichotomous measure identifying mobile (1) and stationary CCT (0); Sex, a dichotomous variable identifying male (0) and female (1) CCT, and; FL, a measure of the fork length (mm) of individual CCT.
 Table 2.10. Diagnostic summary of spawning candidate models with AICc values less than 2. Standard errors in each model were clustered by individual CCT. Fixed effect variables include: Photoperiod, a continuous measure of mean civil
 - day length (hr); ATU, a measure of cumulative mean daily mainstem water temperature; Discharge, measure of mean mainstem discharge, and; Mig.Type, a dichotomous measure identifying mobile (1) and stationary CCT (0)......94

Table A2.1. Observations identified in scientific literature supporting the inclusion of
abiotic metrics in the overwintering candidate model set171
Table A2.2. Observations identified in scientific literature supporting the inclusion of
abiotic metrics in the spawning candidate model set
Table A2.3. Mean water temperature recorded in tributaries of the Kitimat river
throughout the overwinter period (October 1 to March 14), spawning period
(March 15 to May 31) and combined periods (October 1 to May 31) of each
year174
Table A2.4. Summary of date that radio tagged CCT were first observed in spawning
tributaries and the temperature of spawning tributaries upon arrival175

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Position of stationary antenna arrays within the Kitimat watershed16
Figure 1.2. Histogram comparing the location that radio tagged CCT were sampled
throughout the Kitimat watershed28
Figure 1.3. Fork length frequency histogram of all CCT captured in 2012 and 2013. 30
Figure 1.4. Fork length (A), weight (B), age (C) and condition factor (D) of male and
female CCT radio tagged with large transmitters in year 1 and year 233
Figure 1.5. Fork length (A), weight (B), age (C) and condition factor of mobile and
stationary CCT tagged with large transmitters in year 1 and 2
Figure 1.6. Position of winter aggregation areas (red dots) used by radio tagged CCT
in the Kitimat watershed38
Figure 1.7. Mean river and tributary position of initial overwintering habitats used by
radio tagged CCT in year 1 and 2. Note that northern and southern tributaries
are identified by positive and negative values of tributary position,
respectively
Figure 1.8. Mean river and tributary position of final overwintering habitats used by
radio tagged CCT in year 1 and 2. Note that northern and southern tributaries
are identified by positive and negative values of tributary position,
respectively
Figure 1.9. Date that male and female CCT were captured within (A), and first
relocated within (B), initial overwintering habitats in in year 1 and 2. Note
CCI that were captured in overwintering habitats are not included in Figure
1.9A
Figure 1.10. Date that mobile and stationary CCT were captured within (A), and first
CCT that were contured in every intering habitats are not included in Figure
1 10A
Figure 1.11 Comparison of the relative properties of radio tagged CCT (dotted line)
Figure 1.11. Comparison of the relative proportion of radio tagged CCT (dotted line)
habitats in year 1 and 2. The dates when aerial relocation flights were
conducted are indentified by circles. The median date when radio tagged CCT
were observed within overwintering babitats in each year is identified by an
"X" Note that the relative proportion of CCT observed within overwintering
habitats (dashed line) includes CCT that travelled to overwintering habitats
as well as CCT that were captured within overwintering habitats
Figure 1.12. Mean and SE absolute distance male and female (A), and mobile and
stationary (B) CCT travelled through the mainstem from their location of
capture to initial overwintering habitats in year 1 and 2
Figure 1.13. Mean and SE absolute distance male and female (A), and mobile and
stationary (B) CCT travelled through the mainstem and tributaries from their
location of capture to initial overwintering habitats in year 1 and 2

Figure 1.14. Mean river position of overwintering aggregation areas in the Kitimat watershed in year 1 and 2. The size of each point corresponds to the number of fish observed within each overwintering area. Initial overwinter (OW) areas represent the first overwintering habitat that mobile and stationary radio tagged CCT were observed within. The three lower panels represent the position of the second, third and fourth overwintering habitats used by mobile CCT, and thus demonstrate how the distribution of mobile CCT changed over time. Note that northern and southern tributaries are identified by positive and negative values of tributary position, respectively.
Figure 1.15. Correlation between the date that radio tagged CCT departed final overwintering habitats and the total distance travelled (rkm + tkm) to spawn. 48
Figure 1.16. Median date non-staging male and female (A) and mobile and
stationary (B) CCT departed overwintering habitats in year 1 and year 2 48
Figure 1.17. Median date staging male and female (A) and mobile and stationary (B)
Figure 1.18 Modian data that staging (A) and non-staging (P) male and famile CCT
Figure 1.10. Median date that staging (A) and non-staging (b) male and remaine CCT
Figure 1.19 Modian date that staging (A) and non-staging (B) mobile and stationary
Figure 1.15. Median date that staging (A) and non-staging (b) mobile and stationary
Figure 1.20 Location of putative snawning habitats (red dots) used by radio tagged
Figure 1.20. Execution of putative spawning habitats (red dots) used by faulo tagged
CCT III the Nitillat watershed. Pad circles indicate the position of
Figure 2.1. Map of the Kitimat Watershed. Red circles indicate the position of
Canada hydrometric gauges
Canada hydrometric gauges
Figure 2.2. Trends in daily measures of day length recorded in Kitimat BC, from
Ciclober 1 to June 1
Figure 2.3. Profile of mean and minimum daily mainstern water temperature from
October 1 to May 31 of year 1 and year 2. Temperatures recorded at 11.2
rkm on the Kitimat River
Figure 2.4. Profile of mean and minimum daily discharge in the Kitimat River in year
I and year 2
Figure 2.5. Environmental conditions and count of the number of fish moving per
period in year 1 and 2. Each period represents 4 days, starting on February
15. Line plots compare mean water temperature (Temp., C), accumulated the mean water temperature), discharge (Flaus $m^3 r^{-1}$)
thermal units (AIU, sum of mean daily temperature), discharge (Flow, m's),
and day length (Photo, nr) per period in year 1 and year 2. Histograms
summarize the total number of CCT observed moving out of overWintering
nabitats (UW) and into spawning tributaries (Spawn) during each period88
rigure A1.1. Fork length (A), weight (B), age (C) and condition factor (D) of all CCI
Sampleu uuring anging
rigure A1.2. Condition of CCT ID#5 upon recapture on November 10, 2012. Note the
yenow discolutation at the exit point of the antenna as well as off abuomen

where transmitter appears to be resting. Fish was not relocated again 1	
month after this photo was taken1	169
Figure A1.3. Condition of CCT ID#51 upon recapture on March 15, 2013. The	
transmitter in this CCT was recovered on April 19, 2013 and the fish is	
assumed to have died1	169
Figure A1.4. Condition of CCT ID#134 upon recapture on July 14, 2014. The incision	n
appears to have healed cleanly and sutures have dissolved	L70
Figure A1.5. Condition of CCT ID#148 upon recapture on April 24, 2014. Note that	
scar, circled in red has healed cleanly. Abscess is possibly due to wear again	nst
the transmitter	170

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to acknowledge the support of my supervisory committee. I am thankful for the contributions of my supervisor, Dr. Allan Costello. This project would not have been possible without him. I am honoured to have had the opportunity to work closely with my co-supervisor, Dr. Mark Shrimpton. His patience, support and experience were inspiring. The insight and fresh perspectives provided by Dr. Daniel Erasmus were invaluable. Although not a member of my committee, I would like to thank Dr. Chris Johnson for his analytical support. I am grateful to have had funding from the Habitat and Conservation Trust Fund.

Skeena Region Fish & Wildlife biologists Jeff Lough and Joe De Gisi were critical to the success of this project. Jeff, I am incredibly grateful to have worked with you and for all that you have taught me. I am also very appreciative of the support provided by Markus Feldhoff and Vince Sealy as well as the rest of the staff at the Kitimat River Fish Hatchery. Ben Millard Martin and Greg Winter, thank you for your support and patience in the field. Dean Miller, I am thankful for your mastery of telemetry and hot tubs.

I would like to thank the locals of Kitimat and Terrace who volunteered to help with sampling. There are too many names to list, but there are some that cannot be ignored. A very special thank you goes to Brian and Jennifer Kean for making me feel at home in a new community. Brian, I hope that one day I will have as many fishing stories as you. Mitch Drews was also a tremendous help and was a valuable source of knowledge, humour, flies and taggable cutthroat. I would also like to thank Jason Bunn, Trent Vines and Steven Reid for sharing many of their trout with me.

I was very fortunate to have received support from family and friends and want to express a special thank you to Peter Clarke, Thomas Towers, Sophia Harrison, Dave Eng, Kristi Serwa, Quinn, Ros, Fisher and Tully Barabash; Eric, Carla, Maelle and Daeyin Lennert; Ian Riemenschneider, Kamryn McFarlane, Mike Dewer, Kim Tuor, Wyatt Klopp, Amy Blanding, Marley Bassett, Brett Leversage, Wes McKay, Cedar Welsh, David Vogt and Tracy Proke.

I am indebted to my family for their unconditional love, support and encouragement during this chapter of my life and for instilling in me a curious mind and a passion for nature and the outdoors. Shannon, thank you for your patience during this journey. I am thrilled to be starting my next chapter with you.

Finally, thank you (and my apologies) to all the beautiful cutthroat that I sampled.

PROLOGUE

The movement of animals across heterogeneous landscapes is poorly understood, but movement patterns are a fundamental component of understanding the biology of a species. Movements are responsible not only for the contemporary distribution and assemblage of species that exist today (Hanski 1999, Brunsfeld et al. 2001), but continue to influence species evolution by promoting gene flow and colonization of new habitats (Hanski 1999, Hanski and Gaggiotti 2004, Brenkman et al. 2008). It is ultimately the individual's ability to move through the environment, both into critical habitats and away from degraded habitats and predators that permits its continued persistence (Roff 1974, Kareiva et al. 1990, Pickett and Cadenasso 1995). Thus, a thorough understanding of the potential forces influencing species movement is necessary to make accurate ecological predictions on the effects of habitat fragmentation, climate change, or other anthropogenic impacts on species (Saunders et al. 1991, Walther et al. 2002, Morales et al. 2010).

The challenges of understanding species movements and range of migratory behaviours, however, can be substantial. One of the greatest challenges in understanding behaviour of a species is simply observing them, as individuals often reside within environments that are inhospitable to humans or undergo movements that occur over vast spatial and temporal scales (Belisle 1986). Even when movements are readily detected, variability among individuals and populations may limit the ability to extrapolate patterns that are representative of larger populations (Waples and Gaggiotti 2006, Cagnacci et al. 2010).

These difficulties are often encountered in members of the Family Salmonidae. Throughout their life cycle, salmonids are dependent on a diverse array of habitats, from small rearing streams to productive marine foraging areas. Often, these habitats are separated by considerable distances, requiring salmonids to make significant movements and migrations to forage and reproduce. While long distance migrations can be risky and physiologically demanding, the ontogenic partitioning of resources permits the development of far greater population densities than would otherwise be possible within a single homogenous habitat (Quinn 2011).

There are clear ecological and evolutionary advantages that favour dispersal and migration to high quality foraging and reproductive habitats. For example, gene flow among populations can contribute to genotypic variation and reproductive success is often positively correlated with body size (Beacham and Murray 1993, Bohonak 1999, Wenburg and Bentzen 2001). Thus, migration and movement between critical habitats are central to the viability of salmon populations, necessitating the maintenance of not only life history stage-specific habitats, but also migration corridors between them. While effective conservation and management requires a thorough understanding of salmonid migration patterns and habitat requirements, the large spatial and temporal scales at which these behaviours typically occur make this task inherently challenging.

A particularly interesting salmonid is the coastal cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii*). The most widely distributed of the 14 cutthroat trout subspecies, coastal cutthroat trout (CCT) range from the Eel River in California to Gore Point in Alaska, roughly coinciding with the Pacific temperate rainforest (Behnke 1992). Populations are

predominantly found in small to medium sized watersheds draining directly into the Pacific Ocean, however, they have also been documented in the lower tributaries of larger systems such as the Fraser, Skeena and Stikine Rivers in British Columbia as well as the Columbia River in Oregon and Washington (Johnson et al. 1999, Connolly et al. 2005, Costello and Rubidge 2005). CCT are relatively small in comparison to anadromous salmonids, a characteristic that has permitted the subspecies to occupy and reside within freshwater habitats that are generally inaccessible to larger salmonids (Trotter 2008). Unfortunately, the small, low gradient headwater streams the subspecies is dependent upon are areas that are often coveted for human development and are often overlooked by landscape managers (Rosenfeld et al. 2002, Costello and Rubidge 2005, Slaney and Roberts 2005). Consequently, forest harvesting, agricultural practices and urban development have contributed to dramatic declines in the subspecies abundance throughout the last century. While declines have been the greatest throughout the highly developed southern portion of the subspecies range, it is expected that continued resource extraction and development in northern regions may produce similar detrimental effects (Johnson et al. 1999, Wildlife 2004, Connolly et al. 2005, Costello and Rubidge 2005, Slaney and Roberts 2005, Stein et al. 2012a).

Unlike other Pacific salmonids, CCT populations tend to be small; typically in the order of 100's to 1000's of individuals, of which mature breeding individuals may be limited to 10's to 100's (Sumner 1952, Slaney and Roberts 2005, Costello 2006). Within populations, life history behaviours are incredibly diverse and it is not uncommon for multiple life history strategies to exist in sympatry within the same watershed (Sumner 1972, Trotter 1989). It is

also not uncommon for individuals to switch between strategies throughout their life. For example, an individual may move into marine environments one year and then return to freshwater habitats for two years before returning to marine environments again. While, CCT do migrate between critical spawning, foraging and overwintering habitats, the species is perhaps better known for its wandering, opportunistic movements that are frequently associated with seasonally abundant food sources (i.e. eggs during spawning of Pacific salmon; Bilby et al. 1996). Although the general timing and duration of movements within populations appear to be relatively consistent, there is a high degree of variability among populations and even among individuals within populations. The fact that multiple life history strategies, each showing unique movement behaviours, are often present within the same system adds further complexity to the subspecies movements. Not surprisingly then, the movement behaviours and migration patterns of CCT are arguably among the most complex, and least understood, of any salmonid (Trotter 2008).

There is however, a growing impetus to unravel the ecology of CCT, as this salmonid has suffered significant population declines throughout its range in recent years due to habitat alteration, over harvesting and species introductions (Johnson et al. 1999, Connolly et al. 2005, Costello 2008). While many, if not most, of British Columbia's medium sized coastal watersheds have been heavily impacted by forest harvesting throughout the last century, few have been further subjected to the extent of industrialization and urban development that has occurred throughout the Kitimat River watershed (Macdonald and Shepherd 1983, Karanka 1993, Simpson et al. 1998). Despite these impacts, the Kitimat River remains one of the most popular recreational angling destinations on the British

Columbia coast, primarily due to ease of access, proximity to population centers and the large numbers of returning hatchery raised Pacific salmon and steelhead trout (DFO 2009). Future pipeline and refinery developments in this region can be expected to not only further degrade habitat, but also indirectly increase angling pressure as these new industries attract workers. There is a need, therefore, to develop and institute conservation and management strategies aimed at salmonids in this watershed. This is of particular importance for species such as the CCT, which are particularly vulnerable to anthropogenic disturbances (Slaney and Roberts 2005). Doing so, however, requires a detailed knowledge of this subspecies life history related movements and migration behaviours between critical habitats.

To address these issues and contribute to the development of local conservation strategies for migratory CCT, this study employed radio telemetry to investigate the life history strategies and movement patterns of CCT within the Kitimat River. The first chapter of this study describes the overwintering and spawning behaviours of CCT in the Kitimat watershed. In Chapter 2, I examine the extent to which a suite of biotic and abiotic factors influence the timing of migrations from overwintering to spawning habitats. This research provides a comprehensive overview of the seasonal behaviours and habitat use of CCT in the northern portion of their geographic distribution and contributes to the development of science-based conservation and management initiatives in the region.

CHAPTER 1

Observations on the Seasonal Behaviours of Coastal Cutthroat Trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii*) in the Kitimat River Watershed

INTRODUCTION

Pacific salmon are well known for their extensive, obligate migrations between rearing, foraging and spawning habitats (Quinn 2011). These generally take salmon from freshwater natal streams to the open ocean and back again over a period of 3 to 5 years. While these behaviours are predictable among the species of Pacific salmon, the same is not true for species of Pacific trout. Indeed, the migration strategies and life history behaviours of the trout species and subspecies are diverse and not well understood.

The coastal cutthroat trout (CCT) is a subspecies of cutthroat trout for which life history strategies are poorly understood – but appear highly variable (Trotter 2008). It has been suggested that CCT exhibit at least four distinct life history strategies: (1) a resident strategy in which individuals remain within small tributaries and headwater streams for the duration of their life; (2) a lacustrine strategy, characterized by individuals that forage and mature in lakes but rear and spawn in small inlet and outlet streams and tributaries; (3) a fluvial (river migratory) strategy in which small tributary and headwater streams are used for foraging and spawning and larger individuals migrate to larger streams and rivers to forage and mature, and; (4) a diadromous¹ (sea-run), form in which individuals spawn and

¹ Diadromy, rather than anadromy, is preferred given that CCT in this study were primarily observed within fluvial habitats and migrations to sea were of short duration, lasting just weeks to months (McDowall 1997, 2001).

rear in small tributary and headwater streams but make short (3-8 month) migrations to marine environments to forage (Trotter 1989, Behnke 1992, McDowall 1997, 2001). Typically, multiple life history strategies will exist sympatrically within a watershed. Our current understanding suggests that the development of multiple life history strategies allows CCT to exploit the full spectrum of available habitats within coastal watersheds while also acting as buffer to environmental stochasticity (Northcote 1997a, Trotter 2008, Quinn 2011).

The development of multiple life history strategies and stream to stream wandering behaviour, however, may be opportunistic and allow CCT to exploit seasonally abundant food resources (Jones 1975, Johnson et al. 1999). Although aquatic invertebrates compose the majority of the subspecies diet in both marine and freshwater environments, individuals become increasingly piscivorous as they increase in size and will move extensively to capitalize upon seasonally abundant food sources (Sumner 1972, Pauley et al. 1989, Jones et al. 2008). For example, sea-run and fluvial CCT will move into lower river reaches to eat migrating salmon smolts in the spring and will follow spawning salmon upstream to forage on their eggs and carcasses in the fall (Giger 1972, Trotter 1989, Saiget et al. 2007). This opportunistic feeding strategy has likely influenced the subspecies contemporary distribution and resiliency (Trotter 2008).

Although CCT do make life history specific migrations between habitats, these movements may, in fact, be highly flexible, given the diversity of habitats the species occupies and the temporal variation of individual's movements both within and among populations (e.g. Saiget et al. 2007). The factors influencing life history strategies of CCT are

not fully understood, however, it appears that many of the same factors that structure the life histories of salmonids, namely natal stream conditions and stability, population density and species composition, migration distances between required habitats, and the relative sex selective advantages of migration also affect CCT (Jonsson and Jonsson 1993).

Coastal cutthroat trout do not typically remain in marine environments for more than 6-8 months (Mercer and Johnston 1979, Mercer 1980; but see Krentz 2007) and primarily return to fresh water for the winter where they overwinter in large deep pools that provide refuge from unfavourable stream conditions (i.e. extreme temperatures, high and low stream flows and ice flows) and are in proximity to food sources (i.e. emerging fry; Giger 1972, Johnston 1981, Behnke 1992, Trotter et al. 1993). Geographical differences in climate, condition and availability of suitable habitat appear to influence the use of overwintering habitats. In the southern portion of the subspecies range, where climates are relatively mild and winter precipitation is predominantly rain, there is less variability in winter stream flows and individuals primarily overwinter in large pools within the mainstem of their natal streams (Michael 1983, Hudson et al. 2008). Further north, sea-run CCT often overwinter in coastal lakes and beaver ponds, which may or may not be within natal watersheds (Jones and Harding 1998, Jones and Yanusz 1998, Saiget et al. 2007).

While some southerly populations may spawn as early as February, it appears that spawning occurs in the spring throughout much of the species range, typically from early April until June with peaks in early May (Table 1.1; Trotter 2008). Regardless of location or life history form, CCT primarily spawn in the most upstream sections of first and second order streams. Spawning in these upper stream reaches may act to increase spatial

reproductive isolation when the subspecies occurs in sympatry with steelhead trout (*O. mykiss*; Ostberg et al. 2004, Buehrens et al. 2013). It has generally been perceived that mature CCT move from overwintering habitats directly to spawning grounds (e.g. Saiget et al. 2007), however this process may be more complex and some individuals may move out of overwintering habitats towards staging or foraging areas prior to moving to spawning grounds (pers. observation). Once on the spawning grounds, CCT typically remain within the immediate vicinity of their redds for a period of days or even weeks (Costello 2006, Saiget et al. 2007, Losee et al. 2016). Throughout the spawning period, pairs are unlikely to move more than 100 m from the spawning habitat (Saiget et al. 2007). Individuals may reside within spawning streams for as little as one to two days or as long as three to four weeks (Costello 2006, Saiget et al. 2007).

Table 1.1. Regional variation in timing of returns to freshwater (FW Return), spawning and downstream migrations of anadromous coastal cutthroat trout in Alaska, British Columbia (BC), Washington (WA) and Oregon (OR). Light and dark green squares indicate range and peak timing of behaviours, respectively.

Pagion	Behaviour	Month											
Region		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
AK	FW Return Spawning Outmigration												
BC	FW Return Spawning Outmigration												
WA	FW Return Spawning Outmigration												
OR	FW Return Spawning Outmigration												

Regional References: Alaska: Jones & Harding 1998, Jones & Yanusz 1998, Saiget et al. 2007, Marston et al. 2011. British Columbia: Slaney & Roberts 2005. Washington: June 1981, Michael 1989, Garrett 1998, Moore et al. 2010, Buehrens 2011. Oregon: Sumner 1972, Pearcy et al. 1990; Johnson et al. 1994; Stein et al. 2012.

Studying the movement and behaviours of any species in their natural environment is inherently challenging, but when the species of interest cannot be directly observed and movements occur over extended spatial and temporal scales these challenges are compounded. Fortunately, many creative and effective methods have been, and continue to be, developed to directly and indirectly track individuals in aquatic environments. Telemetry, both radio and acoustic, are technologies that have greatly contributed to our current understanding of the life history and movement behaviours of fish (Adams et al. 2012), including CCT. Recent studies employing telemetry in the lower Columbia River, for example, have provided the most comprehensive review of anadromous CCT movement patterns in the southern region of the species range (Hudson et al. 2008, Johnson 2008, 2009, Zydlewski et al. 2008, 2009). These studies have demonstrated that both mature and juvenile emigrants use the lower Columbia River tributaries, mainstem, plume and estuary extensively, that downstream migrations are strongly influenced by both diel and tidal cycles, and that individuals regularly make 3 to 5 km crossings of the shipping channel. Telemetry studies in Alaska have focused primarily on spawning behaviours and have identified size and sex gradients among spawners (Jones and Yanusz 1998), have described the variability in spawning behaviours of diadromous and fluvial CCT (Saiget et al. 2007), and have documented spawning habitats and migration behaviours (Marston et al. 2011). While similarities do exist in the behaviours of southern and northern CCT populations, tracking studies reinforce the inherent variability in behaviours among and within populations and suggest a high degree of adaptation to the local environment.

Despite the insight that these studies have provided into the behaviours of CCT, there is still a strong argument to be made that CCT are among the most poorly understood species of salmonid (Trotter 2008). Certainly, there has been far less systematic research into the ecology and behaviours of this subspecies relative to other salmonids. All too often, stream specific information is anecdotal or has been collected indirectly during studies of other species (McCubbing 2002, Trotter 2008). The diverse array of habitats occupied by CCT and the varied life history strategies displayed by the species have added to the challenges in extrapolating range-wide trends from the research that has been conducted. For these reasons, watershed-specific, or at least regional evaluations of CCT are required to assess and manage stocks appropriately. This is of particular importance in British Columbia, which contains the majority of the species native range. To date, however, the research on the migration patterns and movement behaviours of CCT has occurred overwhelmingly at the extremities of the species range (specifically, in Oregon and Alaska).

Coastal Cutthroat Trout of the Kitimat Watershed

The Kitimat River flows into Douglas Channel near the town of Kitimat, on the northern coast of British Columbia. The geography, flora and fauna of this medium sized coastal watershed have attracted industry and recreationists for decades. Heavy industrial developments have been occurring in the lower Kitimat River and estuary since the 1950's. The watershed has also experienced extensive forest harvesting, much of which occurred prior to the development of harvesting guidelines designed to mitigate impacts on salmonids (Karanka 1993). The unique geographic features that initially attracted industry to Kitimat continue to do so and multiple major energy projects are currently in the

proposal and development phases. Despite the extensive industrial activity, artificial supplementation has contributed to an abundance of Pacific salmon which draw recreational anglers from around the world. Coastal cutthroat trout are captured as by-catch during salmon fisheries and are targeted by local recreational anglers throughout the winter and spring. Though not as popular as the salmon fishery, the life cycle, behaviours and population structure of CCT make them increasingly vulnerable to angling and industrial activity (Slaney and Roberts 2005). The development of major energy projects in the watershed is likely to impact local salmonid populations by directly affecting habitat connectivity and quality, and indirectly by increasing infrastructure and the local population base.

Identifying the best means of mitigating further impacts to CCT in the face of continued development within the watershed requires a thorough understanding of the subspecies' movements, behaviours and habitat use. This research will contribute to our knowledge of the basic life history and ecology of CCT in the northern portion of this subspecies geographic distribution, and should thus contribute to regional fisheries management and conservation efforts.

My objective was to describe the observed variation in overwintering, staging and spawning behaviours for CCT in the Kitimat watershed. I used radio telemetry to examine the distribution of overwintering and spawning areas throughout the watershed, but also to determine the timing of CCT movements throughout the winter, staging and spawning periods. This approach allowed me to determine timing of departure from and arrival to, overwintering and spawning habitats. This research, will contribute to our knowledge of the

basic life history and ecology of CCT in the central/northern portion of the species geographic distribution.

METHODS

Fish Capture, Sampling and Radio Tagging

Coastal cutthroat were captured by angling throughout the Kitimat watershed over two sampling seasons, from August to mid-December of 2012 (year 1) and from June to mid-October of 2013 (year 2). Angling effort was widely distributed throughout the Kitimat watershed to ensure a diverse array of fluvial and diadromous life history strategies would be included in the radio tagged sample. Angling effort was primarily focused on mainstem, side-channel and major tributary habitats believed to support fluvial and diadromous CCT. Angling effort (rod hours), pH, water temperature, air temperature, location (UTM) and habitat type (i.e. pool, riffle, glide) were recorded at each sampling location.

Upon capture, all fish visually identified as coastal cutthroat trout were placed within a black PVC recovery bag and were kept at the site of capture until angling was complete. All sampling was conducted in the field and regardless of size all captured CCT were photographed, measured for fork length (mm) and weight (± 5 g) determined using a calibrated spring scale. Scale and tissue samples were also collected from CCT greater than 100 mm in length. Scales were collected from the left side of the fish, above the lateral line and slightly posterior to the distal insertion of the dorsal fin and were stored within adhesive scale envelopes for age determination by Birkenhead Scale Analyses (Lone Butte, BC). Tissue from the adipose fin was collected for genetic analysis and stored in 95% ethanol. To ensure that sampled fish were not mistaken for hatchery released fish the

natural shape of the adipose fin was maintained as much as possible. Tissue samples were used for genetic determination of sex as well as species diagnostic testing to identify potential hybrids. Analysis was performed by AB Costello (University of Northern British Columbia). A uniquely numbered Floy[™] tag was also inserted between the vestigial rays at the base of the dorsal fin in all CCT greater than 250 mm.

Ninety uniquely coded Lotek® MCFT2-3EM series radio transmitters (Lotek Wireless Inc., New Market, ON) were surgically implanted into the intraperitoneal cavity of CCT greater than 440 g. Tags were 12 mm x 53 mm, weighed 11 g in air and 4.6 g in water with a 43-cm antenna. To reduce collisions, each tag was programmed with either a 5 or 5.5 s burst rate and a frequency of either 150.350 MHz or 151.700 MHz. Expected battery life for all MCFT2 type transmitters was 423 d. Additionally, ten smaller radio transmitters were implanted intraperitoneally into CCT greater than 250 g during the 2013 sampling season (Lotek® MST-930 series). These tags were 9.5 mm x 28 mm and weighed 4 g with a 37.5 cm whip antenna. The smaller tags also had a 5.5 s burst rate with an expected battery life of 222 d, and transmitted at 150.350 MHz. The predefined weight limits ensured that the dry weight of radio tags was no greater than 2.5% of the total weight (in air) of CCT. Though this is outside of the generally followed "2%-rule" (Winter 1983), it is consistent with previous radio telemetry studies of cutthroat trout where tags less than 2.5% were implanted (Waters 1993; Hendricks 2002; Goetz et al. 2013; Smircich and Kelly 2014).

Coastal cutthroat trout selected for surgery were anaesthetized in a 30 L tote with oxygenated river water containing 50 mg \cdot L⁻¹ clove oil emulsified in ethanol. A general loss of reactivity to external stimuli and slightly decreased opercular rate were used to assess

depth of anaesthesia (Stage 2, Summerfelt and Smith 1990; Brown et al. 2008). Upon reaching the fourth stage of anaesthesia fish were removed from the anaesthetic bath and placed within a custom LEXAN[™] plastic surgical trough lined with wetted closed cell foam (Summerfelt and Smith 1990; Brown et al. 2008).

A 2-cm incision was made anterior to the pelvic girdle and lateral to the midline. A cannula was then inserted into the peritoneal cavity through the incision and positioned such that it exited posterior to the pelvic girdle. The antenna of the radio transmitter was fed through the cannula and the transmitter was inserted into the peritoneal cavity. Two sutures (3-0, 26 mm 1/2c Tapered Monocryl violet monofilament) were used to close the incision and the fish was immediately transferred to a recovery tote containing 35 L of river water oxygenated with a portable aquarium air pump. A turkey baster was used to apply fresh oxygenated water to the gills throughout the entire surgical procedure. The duration of each surgery was timed from the moment the fish was removed from the anaesthetic until the moment it was returned to the recovery tote. Surgeries ranged in duration from 145 to 702 s with a mean and standard deviation of 307 ± 106 s. Once equilibrium was regained and the fish appeared to respond to external stimuli it was transferred from the recovery tote to the black PVC recovery bag at the location of capture. When the fish appeared vigorous, the recovery bag was opened and fish released.

Relocation of Radio Tagged CCT

Movements of radio tagged CCT were monitored using a combination of active and passive relocation techniques. The positions of radio tagged CCT were identified via aerial and ground based searches. Fixed receiver sites were erected at key points throughout the

watershed and passively monitored CCT moving past their location (Figure 1.1). In combination, these two monitoring techniques provided a means of identifying where and when CCT moved throughout the watershed. Indeed, stationary receivers provided insight into the timing of migrations while mobile tracking revealed the spatial distribution of CCT during these migrations.



Figure 1.1. Position of stationary antenna arrays within the Kitimat watershed.

Search methods that identify the positions of all individuals at a single point in time are preferred as they reduce contact bias between individuals (Rogers and White 2001). Thus, a helicopter was used to conduct aerial tracking and to ensure that all available habitats were searched at a single point in time. The relocation snapshot provided by aerial tracking is also beneficial as it provides greater insight into how individuals have responded to changes in their environment than could be achieved through ground based or passive search techniques. For these reasons, active tracking by helicopter was the primary means of relocation throughout the key periods of interest in this study: the winter and spring.

A total of 32 aerial tracking flights were completed with a Bell 206 Jet Ranger mounted with a single 3-element Yagi antenna (Lotek Wireless Inc.). This antenna was connected to two SRX-400 Receivers (Lotek Wireless Inc.), each of which monitored one of the two transmitter frequencies. The time on the receivers was synchronized to the time on a Garmin 60CSx handheld Global Positioning Systems unit (GPS) (Olathe, KS) which recorded a track of the helicopters position at 1 s intervals. To determine relocation positions, the time at which the maximum signal power was recorded was matched to the time of the recorded flight track. For redundancy, the maximum power and helicopter position at the time of maximum power was also physically recorded as a waypoint on the GPS.

Relocation flights followed a standardized flight path that covered the mainstem of the Kitimat River and its major tributaries. However, throughout the spawning period short deviations from this path were required to identify spawning positions in small tributaries. Tracking flights ranged from 1.2 to 3.5 h (mean 2.5 \pm 0.09 h) and were relatively shorter during the winter (mean 2.0 \pm 0.09 h) than during the spawning period (mean 2.8 \pm 0.8 h). Active aerial tracking occurred at altitudes of roughly 100-200 m and at speeds from 30-60 km/h. During all tracking flights signal power was communicated to a navigator who directed the pilot. To improve tracking efficiency, Avenza PDF Map's (Toronto, ON) was

used to display the last known positions of all CCT on a georeferenced orthorectified satellite image of the Kitimat watershed. To determine the type and characteristics of relocation habitats a GoPro[®] (San Mateo, CA) camera was mounted to the helicopter and filmed and photographed throughout the flights.

The frequency, duration and scale of relocation flights reflected the predicted seasonal behaviours of CCT. When CCT were expected of being sedentary throughout the winter, tracking flights were conducted monthly and focused primarily on the mainstem of the Kitimat River and its major tributaries. In the spring as CCT moved to spawning habitats the frequency of tracking flights increased to every 4-8 d and scale expanded to include both minor tributaries and uppermost reaches of the Kitimat watershed.

Throughout the late winter and spring, tracking flights were supplemented with daily ground based mobile tracking. Mobile tracking was primarily used to monitor the timing of movements out of overwintering habitats, confirm aerial relocation positions, verify suspected spawning areas, and recover radio transmitters from mortalities. A 3element directional antenna connected to an SRX-400 was used to triangulate positions which were then marked using a handheld GPS device. Relocation habitat types were recorded and photographed. During the spawning period, the vicinity was visually searched for signs of spawning (i.e. redds, spawning gravels, paired up CCT, precocious males). No formal habitat classification or measurements were conducted throughout this study.

Active aerial and ground based search methods were necessary to identify where CCT travelled throughout the watershed however they provided limited information on

when individuals moved between habitats. Insight into the timing of movements between habitats was provided by an array of stationary receivers set up throughout the watershed. These receivers provided information on the timing of movements out of overwintering and spawning habitats as well as the timing of movements towards the estuary.

Four fixed receivers were erected along the Kitimat River in Mid-August of 2012 and a fifth station was added in early April of 2013 (Table 1.2). Each receiver location consisted of an upstream and a downstream facing 4-element directional Yagi antenna connected to a Lotek SRX-400 receiver and powered by a 12 V deep cycle marine battery. Receivers were housed within a secure steel box mounted to a tree along the margin of the Kitimat River. A GPS unit was used to synchronize the date and time of all stationary receivers. Receiver stations operated continuously and recorded the date, time, code and power of all relocation events. Movements to and from the Kitimat Estuary were monitored by a receiver station immediately upstream of the tidal boundary (2.8 rkm). Movements within the lower and middle river were monitored by receiver stations at 8.2 rkm and 16.1 and 25.1 rkm, respectively. The uppermost receiver station was located at 41.7 rkm and monitored the timing of movements to and from the upper watershed.

All receiver stations were erected in August of 2012, except the receiver at 2.8 rkm, which was erected in April of 2013. Receivers were inspected, downloaded and maintained weekly. Logistical challenges associated with access and maintenance of stationary receivers prevented continuous operation throughout the winter, except for the receiver station at 8.2 rkm which was graciously operated with the support of the DFO operated Kitimat River Fish Hatchery. Excluding the station at 8.2 rkm which operated until July 23,

2014, all receiver stations were dismantled on June 1, 2014. Table 1.2 provides a summary of the periods of operation for each receiver station. Lotek SRX-400 receivers and telemetry equipment were provided by the BC Ministry of Forests, Lands and Natural Resource Operations (FLNRO).

Receiver #	rkm	Year	Operation Period
00	2.7	1	02-Apr-13 to 10-Oct-2013
		2	31-Mar-14 to 01-Jun-2014
01	8.7	1 & 2	16-Aug-12 to 23-Jul-2014
02	16.5	1	19-Aug-12 to 19-Dec-2012
		1	01-Mar-13 to 06-Oct-2013
		2	24-Mar-14 to 30-May-2014
03	25.1	1	19-Aug-12 to 06-Oct-2013
		2	21-Mar-14 to 20-May-2014
04	41.7	1	19-Aug-12 to 15-Dec-2012
		1	06-Feb-13 to 16-Oct-2013
		2	21-Mar-14 to 01-Jun-2014

Table 1.2. Summary of location and operation period of stationary receiver stations in the Kitimat watershed.

Data Processing and Analysis

Relocation accuracy to within 500 m was deemed sufficient to meet the objectives of this study. Thus, no direct measure of the accuracy of aerial relocation positions were conducted. Ground based mobile tracking, however, confirmed that actual fish positions were typically within 100 m, and often within 10 m, of the aerial relocation positions. Positions identified by mobile tracking were similarly not tested for accuracy as only the strongest signals were used to identify relocation positions. Greater than 1.3 million detections were recorded by the fixed receiver stations throughout this study. To filter out weak and potentially erroneous detections a set of rules were applied to the fixed station (Table 1.3). These rules were applied to all detections of a specific code by a specific receiver on a single date, if any rule was met the relocation event for that date was included in the analysis. Overall these rules reduced the number of detections included in the analysis by approximately 42%.

Table 1.3. Summary of tests applied to stationary receiver data to remove potential erroneous detections.

Test of:	Test #	Description
Signal Power	1 2 3	Average power greater than 175 and more than 10 detections in a day. Maximum power is greater than 195 and there are greater than 25 detections in a day. Average power is greater than 120, maximum power is greater than 200 and at least 10 detections in a day.
# Relocations	4 5	Greater than 500 events in a day and average power is greater than 110. Greater than 250 events in a day and average power is greater than 130.
% of Possible Relocations	6 7	At least 25% of the possible detections were recorded over a 1 hour time period and the average power is 140. Fish relocated at least 20% of the time over a period of at least 20 minutes and the average power is greater than 120.

The Linear Referencing toolset in ArcMap 10.1 (ESRI, Redlands, CA) was used to assign each relocation event to the nearest stream (Euclidean distance) in the British Columbia Watershed Atlas. The same toolset in ArcMap was then used to measure the linear distance (measured in river kilometers, rkm) of the relocation position from the estuary along the stream network. This method permitted an accurate and consistent means of determining the position of each CCT within the stream network. Measurements of mainstem position (rkm) were measured upstream from the estuary (0 rkm) while measures of tributary position (tkm) were measured upstream from the confluence with the last major watercourse. A database was developed in a spreadsheet that used these measures of rkm and tkm to calculate the distance that individuals moved between relocations. This resulted in a final spatial dataset that included the date and position (in terms of waterbody, rkm and tkm) for each relocation event of each fish within the watershed as well as the distance each individual had travelled since it was last relocated.

Two datasets were generated for this study: a biological dataset containing all fish sampling information and a spatial dataset containing the measured relocation positions of all radio tagged CCT. Together, these datasets were used to interpret the variation in observed seasonal behaviours of radio tagged CCT. Prior to performing any analyses on the behaviours of CCT, the metrics within the biological dataset were compared between sampling seasons to ensure that CCT radio tagged in 2012 and 2013 were similar in terms of the distribution of sex, age, fork length, weight and contribution. The relocation data was used to generate movement profiles depicting the river and tributary position of each radio tagged CCT over time. These profiles were visually inspected to identify the location of, as well as the timing that CCT occupied overwintering, staging and spawning habitats. The spatial dataset was then used to summarize the movements and behaviour of CCT within each of these habitats. Coastal cutthroat trout exhibiting similar behavioural patterns were grouped and analysed in greater detail.

Overwintering Behaviours

The locations of overwintering areas were identified by examining movement profiles and identifying areas where CCT aggregated throughout the winter. The position (rkm and tkm) of each overwintering area was defined as the mean relocation position of all aggregated CCT. Movements of CCT within and between overwintering habitats were also summarized to assess variability in winter behaviours. For each CCT relocated within a given overwintering area, the date of arrival and departure, and distance travelled to mean

overwintering position was calculated. An individual's date of arrival and departure from a given overwintering area was defined as the first and final date of relocation, respectively (measured in Julian date). The distance travelled towards initial overwintering areas was calculated as the difference in position from the location of capture to the mean position of the first overwintering habitat each CCT was observed within. This approach reduced contact bias resulting from an unequal number of relocations among CCT by ensuring that all measures of distance moved towards an overwintering area were not based upon a single relocation event. Distance travelled between overwintering habitats was measured as the difference between the mean river position of each habitat. Based on these overwintering behaviours, CCT were classified as stationary if they occupied a single overwintering area throughout an entire winter or as mobile if they moved between multiple overwintering areas throughout the winter. The resulting overwintering behaviours dataset was then merged with the morphological dataset to examine whether the physical characteristics of CCT differed among overwintering groups. This merged dataset was used to complete a set of independent tests examining variability in overwintering behaviours. These tests aimed to identify whether the date of arrival and departure from overwintering habitats and the distance travelled to initial overwintering habitats differed between years, sex or behavioural groups.

Staging Behaviours

Radio tagged CCT observed moving from overwintering areas to a location downstream of eventual spawning habitats were assumed to be staging prior to spawning. Individuals observed moving back and forth between staging habitats and the lower reaches

of spawning tributaries were considered to be searching. These individuals were not considered to have departed staging habitats until they were observed making continuous upstream movements towards eventual spawning grounds. The date of arrival and departure as well as distance of staging habitats from overwintering areas and to maximum upstream spawning positions was calculated for each staging CCT.

Spawning Behaviours

Movement profiles of each CCT were visually inspected to identify period and location of spawning. Spatial data were then used to define position of spawning habitats and summarize behavioral characteristics of all CCT observed moving into tributaries throughout the spawning period. This summary provided a means of capturing spatial and temporal variability in spawning behaviours among individual CCT as well as among CCT using common spawning grounds. No radio-tagged CCT were visually observed on redds throughout the spawning period. Thus, each individual is assumed to have spawned at the location of, and on the date corresponding to, the maximum upstream relocation position within a putative spawning tributary. This approach is warranted given that the spawning behaviours observed during this study (i.e. direct movements into small tributaries throughout the spring) coincide with findings from previous research on coastal cutthroat trout. A similar technique was recently applied by Homel et al. (2015) to identify the timing and location of spawning west slope cutthroat.

Temporal variability in spawning behaviours was quantified by defining the period during which each CCT spawned. The spawning period for each CCT was defined by date of arrival, date corresponding to maximum upstream relocation position, and date of

departure from a putative spawning tributary. Date of arrival in a putative spawning tributary was defined as the first relocation date immediately prior to continuous upstream movement towards the maximum upstream tributary position. Spawning was assumed to have occurred on the date a CCT was observed in its most upstream position within a supposed spawning tributary. Date of departure from spawning habitats was defined as the last date on which CCT were relocated within their assumed spawning tributary. Individuals that were only relocated once in a single tributary throughout the spawning period are assumed to have arrived, spawned and departed on the date of that relocation. These three temporal measures were then used to define the duration CCT travelled to reach spawning habitats as well as the median date of arrival and spawning (max tkm).

In addition to the temporal measures, spatial metrics were calculated for each CCT observed in a spawning tributary. Spatial measures aimed to quantify the distances CCT travelled to reach spawning habitats as well as to examine the relationship between location of capture, overwintering, staging and spawning habitats. Distance travelled to spawning habitats was calculated as the difference in river position from the maximum upstream spawning position to the mean position of a given overwintering area. For mobile CCT, this distance was measured from initial and final overwintering habitats to examine whether mobile CCT selected initial overwintering habitats that were proximal to spawning tributaries and whether movements throughout the winter reduced the distance to eventual spawning grounds. Similarly, distances from capture and staging habitats were measured as the difference in river position from the maximum position to the location of capture and the mean staging position.

Variability in these spatial and temporal measures of spawning behaviours were analyzed using numerous independent tests. The distance travelled to spawning habitats as well as the date that CCT arrived in spawning tributaries and at their maximum upstream tributary position were compared between years, sexes and migration types. Similarly, these same tests were performed on all CCT within a spawning season period.

Statistical Analyses

Welch's two-sample t-test was used to test for differences in physiological measures between sampling periods, behavioural groups and sexes. The same test was used to examine how the magnitude of movements from capture to overwintering habitats as well as from overwintering habitats to staging and spawning habitats differed between sexes, behavioural groups and years. No tests of homogeneity of variance were conducted on comparisons of two groups as Welch's two-sample t-test is robust to heterogeneity in variance between groups.

Variation in the timing of behaviours was examined using a two-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. This test compared the distribution of dates that CCT arrived in and departed from overwintering, staging and spawning habitats. Radio tagged CCT were assumed to have remained within a habitat until they were relocated elsewhere. Spawning was not observed during this study and is assumed to have occurred on the date corresponding to the maximum upstream tributary position. Spawning departure dates are defined as the last date each CCT was observed within a tributary. Radio tagged CCT observed making downstream movements towards the estuary immediately following spawning are assumed to be sea-run and are to have arrived in and departed from the estuary on the date
corresponding with the last, and first relocation on the most downstream fixed receiver station, respectively. A Spearman correlation test was used to examine the relationship between capture date and the physical characteristics of radio tagged CCT.

Measures reporting the overall timing of seasonal movements are presented as the date at which 50% of CCT were observed to have moved (median ± standard deviation). Additional descriptive measures are presented as the sample mean ± standard error along with the range of raw values. This approach is preferred as it demonstrates the degree to which the sample mean can be expected to vary from the true population mean. Measures of range are included to provide perspective on the spread of values in the dataset. Tests with alpha values less than 0.05 were considered significant. However, to reduce type 1 error, a Bonferroni correction was applied to significance values when multiple comparisons were made with the same dataset. Tests found to be statistically insignificant but for which there appears to be a biological significance or trend are presented. All significant test results are presented in bold.

RESULTS

Fish Collection Effort

Angling was conducted over a 54-day period from August 8 to December 15, 2012 (year 1) and over a 72-day period from June 20 to October 18, 2013 (year 2). A total of 258 trout were sampled during angling in year 1 (n = 103) and 2 (n = 155). Of these, 41 trout angled in year 1 and 68 trout angled in year 2 were of suitable size to be radio tagged. Throughout the first and second sampling season a mean of 0.76 and 0.94 CCT were radio tagged per day of angling, respectively. The date on which 50% of tags had been deployed

was significantly later for the first year of sampling (October 8) than for the second (September 7) (Two Sample KS Test, H_0 : Year 1 > Year 2; D = 0.43, P = 0.002).

Angling effort was widely distributed throughout the lower 50 rkm of the watershed (Figure 1.2). Coastal cutthroat trout selected for radio tagging were angled in the estuary (n = 1), the lower river (from 0-21 rkm; n = 39), the middle river (21-41 rkm; n = 47) and the upper middle river (>41 rkm; n = 15) (Table 1.4). Cutthroat trout selected for radio tagging were also captured in tributaries in year 1 (n = 13, 13% of sampled CCT) and year 2 (n = 33, 21% of sampled CCT).



Figure 1.2. Histogram comparing the location that radio tagged CCT were sampled throughout the Kitimat watershed.

		Number of Radio Tagged CCT				
Water Body	rkm	Year 1	Year 2			
Kitimat River Mainstem		25	36			
Lower Mainstem	0-20.9	5	4			
Middle Mainstem	21-40.9	13	22			
Upper Mainstem	>41	7	10			
Estuary	0	0	1			
Duck Creek	10.6	1	1			
Goose Creek	10.8	1	3			
Hirsch Creek	15.7	4	9			
Powerline Creek	16.5	2	0			
Little Wedeene Creek	20.1	1	8			
Big Wedeene Creek	21.4	2	4			
Nalbeelah Creek	24.8	1	3			
Humphrey Creek	29.7	4	1			
Total:		41	66			

Table 1.4. Mainstem river position (rkm) of radio tagged CCT at capture in year 1 and year 2.

Sampled CCT

Sampled coastal cutthroat trout ranged in length and weight from 110 to 480 mm FL ($325 \pm 4 \text{ mm FL}$) and 35 to 1180 g ($464 \pm 17 \text{ g}$), respectively (Table A1.1²; Figure A1.1A and B). Age was estimated from the scales of 205 CCT ranging in size from 135 to 480 mm and 35 to 1120 g. The mean age of all sampled individuals was 3.8 ± 0.8 years, though estimates ranged from 2 to 7 years (Figure A1.1C). Genetic analysis was performed on 241 samples and identified that female CCT were sampled disproportionately relative to males. Indeed, females represented 64% of all sampled CCT. Female CCT were found to be significantly longer, heavier and older than male CCT (Table A1.1). Even though females were

² Table and figure references in appendices are denoted by "A".

significantly larger than males, no difference in condition factor was apparent between the sexes (Table A1.1; Figure A1.1D). A fork length frequency distribution for all sampled cutthroat is presented in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.3. Fork length frequency histogram of all CCT captured in 2012 and 2013.

Radio Tagged CCT

A total of 99 CCT were implanted with the larger radio transmitters during sampling in year 1 (n = 41) and year 2 (n = 58). Six radio transmitters recovered from spawning mortalities during the spring of year 1 were reapplied to trout captured during the second sampling season. An additional three transmitters collected from CCT that died during tag implantation in year 2 were sterilized and reapplied.

Fork length and weight of CCT implanted with the larger tags ranged from 330 to 480 mm (385.6 \pm 4.4 mm) and 430 to 1180 g (671.6 \pm 20.5 g), respectively (Table A1.2; Figure 1.4A and B). Overall, radio transmitters represented a mean of 1.78 \pm 0.05 % of the dry weight of these CCT, though this ranged from 0.93 to 2.62%. Scales from 96 radio tagged CCT were aged and fish ranged from 3 to 7 yr; mean age of 4.2 \pm 0.1 yr (Figure 1.4C). Genetic analysis of the radio tagged CCT indicated that 66% were female; a ratio that was consistent in both sampling years. Coastal cutthroat trout tagged in year 1 were longer (FL) and heavier than CCT tagged in year 2. Despite being larger, CCT tagged in the first sampling season had significantly lower condition factor than those tagged in year 2 (Figure 1.4D).

Differences in size of fish caught in the two years of the study were principally driven by the size of males; which were significantly longer and heavier in year 1 than year 2. Female CCT radio tagged during both sampling periods were older and heavier than radio tagged male CCT, but differences were not significant (Table A1.2; Figure 1.4A and B). Females in year 1 were significantly younger than in year 2 (Table A1.2; Figure 1.4C), and; males in year 1 had significantly lower condition factor than in year 2 (Figure 1.4D). In year 2, an additional 10 CCT implanted with the smaller radio transmitters were between 3 and 5 years of age (3.7 ± 0.2 yr) and ranged in length from 276 to 355 mm (314.8 ± 8.9 mm). The weight of these CCT ranged from 250 to 470 g (mean = 329 ± 53.1 g), and transmitters represented between 0.86 to 1.60% (1.27 ± 0.08%) of the dry weight of these CCT. Condition factor ranged from 0.87 to 1.33 g \cdot cm⁻³ (1.05 ± 0.04 g \cdot cm⁻³). There was also a female biased sex ratio in the smaller tagged fish (67% female).

Of the 109 radio tagged CCT a total of 19 (18% of total tagged) likely expelled their transmitters or died shortly after the tagging procedure, including three CCT that died during the operating procedure in year 2. In the second sampling period, six CCT (6% of total tagged) moved directly to the estuary after being radio tagged and were not subsequently relocated. Though the fate of these individuals is unclear they are presumed to have died. Additionally, three CCT (3%) appear to have died after moving into overwintering habitats in year 1 (n = 1) and year 2 (n = 2). An additional eight CCT (7% of total tagged) were not relocated – or were relocated sporadically following tagging in year 1 (n = 2) and year 2 (n = 6). In total, this represents a potential tagging mortality rate of up to 34% for all radio tagged CCT.

The physical characteristics and fate of all radio tagged CCT, and the timing and physical state of recaptured radio tagged CCT are summarized in Table A1.3 and Table A1.4, respectively. The physical condition of radio tagged CCT that were recaptured during subsequent sampling are described in Appendix A1. Supplemental Recapture Data.



Figure 1.4. Fork length (A), weight (B), age (C) and condition factor (D) of male and female CCT radio tagged with large transmitters in year 1 and year 2.

Overwintering Behaviours

A total of 68 radio tagged CCT were relocated in overwintering habitats and were successfully tracked throughout the winters of year 1 (n = 31) and year 2 (n = 37). Forty-two of the CCT tracked throughout the winter were observed moving from their position of capture into overwintering areas. The remaining 26 CCT were captured and radio tagged within overwintering areas, 17 of which eventually moved to new overwintering habitats at a later date. The number of CCT captured in overwintering habitats did not differ between years, even though sampling occurred significantly later in year 1. Six CCT radio tagged in year 1 were observed in overwintering areas during both winters (Table A1.5). An additional 11 CCT were tracked into overwintering areas, but were not relocated sufficiently to be included in further analyses.

Two distinct behavioral patterns were apparent in the winter movement profiles of CCT that were tracked throughout the winter. The first behavioral pattern was one of relative inactivity. These "stationary" CCT remained within the immediate vicinity of a single overwintering area throughout the winter. Stationary CCT were observed during both winters, however this behaviour was far more prevalent in year 1 (n = 19) than year 2 (n = 6). The second behavioral pattern was characterized by movement between multiple overwintering aggregation areas throughout the winter. "Mobile" CCT were observed moving between proximal habitat features within overwintering areas (i.e. adjacent riffles and pools), back and forth between overwintering areas as well as continuously moving towards new overwintering areas. When data from both years was combined, stationary CCT were found to be significantly longer and heavier than mobile CCT (Table A1.6; Figure 1.5A and B). Although, the mean age of stationary fish was also older, the difference was not significant (Figure 1.5C). Additionally, condition factor did not differ between behavioural groups, although condition factor of mobile CCT was significantly greater in year 2, than year 1 (Figure 1.5D).

Six female CCT radio tagged in year 1 were relocated in overwintering areas during both winters; four of which were tracked sufficiently to determine overwintering behaviours for both years. Throughout the winter of year 1, four of the six CCT exhibited stationary behaviours and two exhibited mobile behaviours. During the following winter, however, one of the four year 1 stationary CCT was observed moving between overwinter areas in year 2. Two of the three CCT that displayed stationary behaviours during both winters occupied the same overwintering areas in year 1 and 2 (ID#009 and ID#013), while the third remained stationary in each year, but in different overwintering habitats (ID#050). The movement behaviours of these CCT are summarized in Table A1.5



Figure 1.5. Fork length (A), weight (B), age (C) and condition factor of mobile and stationary CCT tagged with large transmitters in year 1 and 2.

Overwintering Areas

Tracking of radio tagged CCT identified nine areas where CCT aggregated in the Kitimat watershed (Figure 1.6). Overwintering areas were located in the lower and middle sections of the Kitimat watershed, from 10 to 35 rkm (Figure 1.7). No radio tagged CCT were observed upstream of 35 rkm from mid-December until late March of either winter. Overwintering aggregations were identified in the mainstem of the Kitimat River, the lower reaches of major tributaries and within sloughs and back channels associated with minor tributaries. Deep, slow moving pools and backchannel sloughs were used most commonly, however radio tagged CCT were frequently relocated within adjacent riffles and glides. The position of initial (Figure 1.7) and final overwintering habitats (Figure 1.8) did not differ significantly between years, sex (Table A1.7), or behavioural groups (Table A1.8).



Figure 1.6. Position of winter aggregation areas (red dots) used by radio tagged CCT in the Kitimat watershed.



Figure 1.7. Mean river and tributary position of initial overwintering habitats used by radio tagged CCT in year 1 and 2. Note that northern and southern tributaries are identified by positive and negative values of tributary position, respectively.



Figure 1.8. Mean river and tributary position of final overwintering habitats used by radio tagged CCT in year 1 and 2. Note that northern and southern tributaries are identified by positive and negative values of tributary position, respectively.

Timing of Arrival in Initial Overwintering Areas

The timing that CCT first moved into overwintering habitats was estimated using relocation and capture data. Relocation data suggested that half of all CCT radio tagged in year 1 had been relocated within overwintering areas by November 20, significantly later than the median date of arrival in year 2 (October 21). When data from both years was combined, no differences were observed in the date that CCT were captured in overwintering habitats between sexes (Table A1.9; Figure 1.9A) or winter behavioural groups (Table A1.10; Figure 1.10A). Median dates of arrival in overwintering areas, however, directly corresponded with the date of the first aerial tracking flights during each winter (Figure 1.9B and Figure 1.10B). Thus, it is likely that the median arrival dates observed in this study are not only conservative, but that they were biased by the sampling design and aerial tracking frequency. This is particularly true for the first winter, as minimal sampling was conducted throughout October and the first flight was not conducted until November 20, 2012.

Given this bias, the relocation data was combined with the angling data to gain additional insight into when CCT arrived in overwintering areas. This provided a means of indirectly assessing arrival timing by examining the relationship between the relative proportion of CCT that had been radio tagged to the total number of radio tagged CCT observed and captured within overwintering habitats. Figure 1.11 demonstrates that the relative proportion of CCT captured within overwintering habitats increased steadily from late October of year 1, and from mid-October of year 2, suggesting that CCT may have moved into overwintering habitats earlier than the dates identified by aerial tracking flights.



Figure 1.9. Date that male and female CCT were captured within (A), and first relocated within (B), initial overwintering habitats in in year 1 and 2. Note CCT that were captured in overwintering habitats are not included in Figure 1.9A.



Figure 1.10. Date that mobile and stationary CCT were captured within (A), and first relocated within (B), initial overwintering habitats in in year 1 and 2. Note CCT that were captured in overwintering habitats are not included in Figure 1.10A.



Figure 1.11. Comparison of the relative proportion of radio tagged CCT (dotted line) that were observed (solid line) and captured (dashed line) in overwintering habitats in year 1 and 2. The dates when aerial relocation flights were conducted are indentified by circles. The median date when radio tagged CCT were observed within overwintering habitats in each year is identified by an "X". Note that the relative proportion of CCT observed within overwintering habitats (dashed line) includes CCT that travelled to overwintering habitats, as well as CCT that were captured within overwintering habitats.

Travel to Initial Overwintering Areas

Excluding the 27 CCT that were captured within initial overwintering areas, radio tagged trout were observed traveling up to 22.0 rkm and up to 12.0 tkm from their location of capture to initial overwintering areas (Table A1.11 and Table A1.12). When the data from both years were combined female CCT travelled significantly further than males through the mainstem (rkm) as well as in total when mainstem and tributary distances were combined (Table A1.11; Figure 1.12A and Figure 1.13A). When sex data in each year was combined, CCT travelled further in year 2, through the mainstem as well as in total, although the differences were not statistically significant. The apparent difference was likely driven by males in year 1 which were captured closer to OW habitats than females in year 1, and males in year 2. Distances travelled to overwintering habitats did not differ between mobile and stationary CCT during either year, or when years were combined (Table A1.12; Figure 1.12B and Figure 1.13B). Nor were differences apparent between years when behavioural groups were combined.



Figure 1.12. Mean and SE absolute distance male and female (A), and mobile and stationary (B) CCT travelled through the mainstem from their location of capture to initial overwintering habitats in year 1 and 2.



Figure 1.13. Mean and SE absolute distance male and female (A), and mobile and stationary (B) CCT travelled through the mainstem and tributaries from their location of capture to initial overwintering habitats in year 1 and 2.

Movement Between Overwintering Habitats by Mobile CCT

Stationary CCT were only observed within a single overwintering location. In contrast, mobile CCT moved between 2 to 5 overwintering habitats from November 20 to March 21. The number of CCT in mainstem overwintering aggregations generally increased throughout the winter (Figure 1.14). Mobile CCT travelled total distances of up to 15.0 km between overwintering habitats and both up- and downstream movements were observed. Final overwintering positions were a mean distance of 1.7 ± 0.7 km downstream of initial overwintering habitats, though final overwintering positions were observed as far as 12.0 km up and downstream of initial overwintering locations. Males tended to move between more overwintering habitats than females in year 1 and females tended to move between more habitats than males in year 2. However, the mean distance CCT travelled between habitats did not differ statistically between sexes or years, nor were differences apparent in the total distance CCT travelled throughout the winter (Table A1.13). Cutthroat moving between more overwintering habitats did not necessarily move greater total distances throughout the winter. Indeed, male CCT occupied relatively, but not significantly, more habitats in year 1 than year 2, yet no difference was observed in the total distance travelled between years.



Figure 1.14. Mean river position of overwintering aggregation areas in the Kitimat watershed in year 1 and 2. The size of each point corresponds to the number of fish observed within each overwintering area. Initial overwinter (OW) areas represent the first overwintering habitat that mobile and stationary radio tagged CCT were observed within. The three lower panels represent the position of the second, third and fourth overwintering habitats used by mobile CCT, and thus demonstrate how the distribution of mobile CCT changed over time. Note that northern and southern tributaries are identified by positive and negative values of tributary position, respectively.

Departure from Overwintering Habitats

Radio tagged CCT departed overwintering habitats from early March to early May. Greater variability in departure times was observed between years than between sexes or behavioural groups. Indeed, departures occurred significantly earlier in year 1 than year 2 when movements of all CCT were considered as a whole, regardless of sex (Table A1.14) or behaviour group (Table A1.15). A strong negative correlation was observed between the date that CCT departed overwintering habitats and the total distance travelled to reach spawning habitat (Figure 1.15).

From overwintering areas, radio tagged CCT either moved directly into spawning tributaries or into pre-spawn staging areas. Staging and non-staging CCT departed overwintering habitats at similar times. Combining sex and behavioural data identified that non-staging CCT departed overwintering habitats significantly earlier in year 1 (Figure 1.16A and B). However, between year differences were not apparent among staging CCT (Figure 1.17A and B). Females departed overwintering habitats later than males in each year, however differences were not statistically significant. Nor were other differences apparent between males and females during, or between years.

Among mobile and stationary CCT, differences were apparent between years, but not between groups. Mobile CCT departed significantly earlier in year 1 than year 2 when staging and non-staging CCT were assessed together, but differences between years were not statistically significant when staging and non-staging fish were considered independently (Table A1.15). Departure times of stationary CCT did not differ between years.



Figure 1.15. Correlation between the date that radio tagged CCT departed final overwintering habitats and the total distance travelled (rkm + tkm) to spawn.



Figure 1.16. Median date non-staging male and female (A) and mobile and stationary (B) CCT departed overwintering habitats in year 1 and year 2.



Figure 1.17. Median date staging male and female (A) and mobile and stationary (B) CCT departed overwintering habitats in year 1 and year 2.

Movement from Overwintering to Staging Habitats

Radio tagged CCT travelled up to 36 km from overwintering habitats to staging areas. Distances travelled to staging areas were more variable among behavioural groups than between years or sexes (Table A1.16). Mobile CCT tended to travel further to staging areas than stationary CCT, however differences between groups were not statistically significant within, or between years (Table A1.17).

From staging areas, CCT travelled up to 14.0 km to spawn. When data from both years were combined, stationary CCT appeared to select staging areas that were closer to spawning habitats than mobile CCT (Table A1.16), but the large range in movement of CCT in each movement group resulted in a lack of statistical significance. Indeed, mobile CCT

appeared to travel greater mean distances in each year. No significant differences were observed between male and female CCT in the distance travelled to spawn from staging areas, nor were differences observed between years when sex data was combined (Table A1.17). The timing that CCT arrived in staging areas did not differ between years, nor did it differ between sexes (Table A1.18) or behavioural groups (Table A1.19). In fact, the median date CCT arrived in staging areas differed by only 1 day when sex and behaviour data was combined. Female and stationary CCT arrived later than males and mobile CCT in each year, but again differences were statistically insignificant.

However, when sex and behavioural data were combined, significant differences were identified in the date that CCT departed staging habitats between years. Indeed, departures occurred significantly earlier in year 1 than year 2. Departure dates did not differ between sexes, however females consistently departed staging areas later than males (Table A1.18). Similarly, no statistical differences were found between behavioural groups during or between years, though relatively greater variability was observed in the departure dates of mobile CCT than stationary CCT (Table A1.19).

Movement from Overwintering to Spawning Habitats

From overwintering habitats, staging and non-staging CCT travelled total distances of up to 37.0 and 35.0 km, respectively, to spawn. Distances travelled to spawn did not differ statistically between years, or between staging and non-staging CCT. Nor were differences apparent between sexes (Table A1.20) or behavioural groups (Table A1.21) within or between years.

Despite the lack of statistical significance, trends were apparent in the data comparing distances travelled by each sex that may be biologically important (Table A1.20). For instance, non-staging female CCT travelled further than staging females in both years, but especially further in year 2. Distances that staging and non-staging male CCT travelled to spawn were comparatively more variable between years; staging males travelled further than non-staging males in year 1, but the opposite was observed in year 2.

Non-significant, but potentially biologically important trends were also apparent when considering the distances travelled by CCT in each behavioural group (Table A1.21). Compared to staging CCT, non-staging stationary and mobile CCT travelled relatively further in each year. Additionally, overwintering locations used by staging and non-staging mobile CCT were consistently further from spawning habitats used by stationary CCT in each group.

Spawning Migrations

Radio tagged CCT moved into spawning tributaries from March 28 to May 6 in year 1 (median = April 19; n = 25) and from April 11 to May 9 in year 2 (median = May 1; n = 22). When sex and behaviour data were combined, CCT arrived in spawning tributaries significantly earlier in year 1 than year 2 (Table A1.22). Between year differences were also apparent among staging CCT when sex and behaviour data were combined (Figure 1.18A and Figure 1.19A), but not among non-staging CCT (Figure 1.18B and Figure 1.19B).

The timing that CCT moved into spawning tributaries differed between years, but not between sexes, behavioural groups or staging and non-staging fish. Male and female CCT entered spawning tributaries at similar times and comparisons of sex data did not identify any significant differences (Table A1.22; Figure 1.18A and B). However, male CCT in year 2 arrived later, but not significantly later than males in year 1 when staging and nonstaging CCT were combined and when staging CCT were assessed independently. Stationary CCT consistently moved into spawning tributaries earlier than mobile CCT, but no other trends were apparent in the comparisons of behavioural groups (Table A1.23; Figure 1.19).

Spawning is assumed to have occurred at the maximum upstream relocation position within putative spawning tributaries. Radio tagged CCT spawned 0 to 24 days after first arriving in spawning tributaries (mean = 5.2 ± 0.5 days). Spawning occurred significantly earlier in year 1 (from April 6 to May 17; n = 23) than in year 2 (April 17 to May 15; n = 21). In year 2, staging CCT spawned significantly later than non-staging CCT and later than staging CCT in year 1 (Table A1.24).

During each year, male and female CCT spawned at similar times. In year 1, males spawned significantly earlier than in year 2, but this difference was not identified among females (Table A1.24). Nor were statistically significant differences apparent between male and female CCT during either year. Mobile CCT spawned later than stationary CCT in each year, but the difference in timing was not statistically significantly (Table A1.25). Comparisons between years also failed to identify significant differences in the date that mobile and stationary CCT spawned. Similarly, spawn date did not differ statistically between staging and non-staging CCT.



Figure 1.18. Median date that staging (A) and non-staging (B) male and female CCT arrived in spawning tributaries in year 1 and year 2



Figure 1.19. Median date that staging (A) and non-staging (B) mobile and stationary CCT arrived in spawning tributaries in year 1 and year 2.

Distribution of Spawning Habitats

Spawning activity was observed within the lower (0 to 21 rkm; 57% of all spawning activity), middle (21 to 41 rkm; 32%) and upper (>41 rkm, 11%) reaches of the Kitimat watershed (Figure 1.20, Table A1.26). The majority of spawning activity (n = 34, 72%) was observed within 9 of the 13 major drainages identified by Macdonald & Shepherd (1983). The remaining 28% (n = 13) of spawning activity occurred within 7 minor 1st to 4th order streams draining directly into the Kitimat River.

Within major drainages, putative spawning positions were observed in the main channel (n = 16), as well as within secondary and tertiary streams to the main channel (n = 18) (Figure 1.20, Table 1.5). First (22%), second (61%) and third (17%) order streams were used by CCT that spawned in secondary and tertiary tributaries. Spawning CCT were relocated as far as 30.9 km from the mainstem of the Kitimat River in major tributaries (mean = 7.0 \pm 1.1 km) and 6.9 km in minor tributaries (mean = 3.8 \pm 0.5 km). Cutthroat travelled up to 23.3 km to access secondary tributaries within major drainages (mean = 5.1 \pm 1.3 km) and then travelled up to an additional 3.5 km within secondary and tertiary tributaries to reach putative spawning areas (mean = 1.3 \pm 0.3 km). Three cutthroat spawned within the lower 1.2 \pm 0.2 km of first and second order streams draining directly into the mainstem of the Kitimat River. These spawning streams were primarily within the upper watershed and joined the Kitimat River between 31 rkm and 68 rkm.



Figure 1.20. Location of putative spawning habitats (red dots) used by radio tagged CCT in the Kitimat watershed.

	Major Tributaries		Μ	linor Tributaries	Combined		
	n	% of All Spawners	n	% of All Spawners	n	% of All Spawners	
Lower Watershed	7	15%	8	17%	15	32%	
Middle Watershed	23	49%	4	9%	27	57%	
Upper Watershed	4	9%	1	2%	5	11%	
Total	34	72%	13	28%	47	100%	

Table 1.5. Percent of CCT spawning in major and minor tributaries within the lower, middle and upper reaches of the Kitimat watershed.

Spawning Mortality

Greater than half of all radio tagged CCT did not survive spawning in year 1 (56%) and year 2 (59%). No differences in mortality rate were observed between main channel and secondary/tertiary spawning CCT (Table 1.6). Nor were statistical differences detected between years, winter behavioural groups, sexes and staging and non-staging CCT. Mortality was greatest among male, mobile and staging CCT than among female, stationary CCT and non-staging CCT, respectively, however statistical differences between groups were non-significant.

Post Spawning Behaviours

Following spawning, surviving CCT travelled directly towards the estuary or travelled to positions in the mainstem or major tributaries. Less than half (9) of the 20 surviving CCT travelled directly towards the Kitimat River estuary following spawning. These CCT moved out of the Kitimat River (past the lowermost receiver stations) from May 20 to June 3 of year 1 and from June 1 to June 3 of year 2. Diadromous CCT spent a mean of 51.3 \pm 8.9 days in the estuary and returned to Kitimat River from July 1 to September 6 in Year 1 (median = July 23) and from June 28 to July 18 of year 2 (median = July 5). Following spawning, 11 CCT moved to habitats in the mainstem (n = 8) and lower reaches of major tributaries (n = 3).

Spawning Water Body	All CCT			Main Channel Spawning CCT			2° and 3° Spawning CCT		
	# Spawned	# Survived	% Mortality	# Spawned	# Survived	% Mortality	# Spawned	# Survived	% Mortality
Hirsch Creek	5	2	60%	0	-	-	5	2	60%
Big Wedeene	8	4	50%	2	1	50%	6	3	50%
Little Wedeene	2	1	50%	0	-	-	2	1	50%
Nalbeelah Creek	4	1	75%	4	1	75%	0	-	-
Humphrey Creek	1	1	0%	1	1	0%	0	-	-
Deception Creek	2	0	100%	2	0	100%	0	-	-
Cecil Creek	8	4	50%	5	4	20%	3	0	100%
Chist Creek	2	1	50%	1	1	0%	1	0	100%
McKay Creek	2	2	0%	1	1	0%	1	1	0%
All Major Tributaries	34	16	53%	16	9	44%	18	7	61%
Duck Creek	3	1	67%	3	1	67%	0	-	-
Goose Creek	3	1	67%	2	1	50%	1	0	100%
McNeil Creek	2	1	50%	2	1	50%	0	-	-
Powerline Creek	2	0	100%	2	0	100%	0	-	-
Unnamed Creeks*	3	1	67%	3	1	67%	0	-	-
All Minor Tributaries	13	4	69%	12	4.0	66.7%	1	0	100%

Table 1.6. Summary of the relative mortality of CCT spawning within the main channel, and secondary and tertiary streams of major and minor tributaries to the Kitimat River.

DISCUSSION

Radio tagged CCT in the Kitimat River displayed fluvial and diadromous life history strategies. Fluvial CCT moved between the mainstem and tributaries of the Kitimat River. Diadromous CCT moved throughout the mainstem and tributaries but also travelled into the estuary following spawning. High mortality throughout the spawning period limited the extent to which CCT could be defined as diadromous or fluvial. Furthermore, radio tagged CCT were not tracked for the duration of their life and it is possible that CCT displaying fluvial behaviours throughout the study period had previously, or would later, move into marine environments. Thus, described behaviours are considered for migratory CCT, which includes both diadromous and fluvial life history strategies. The results of this study should not be extended to stream resident CCT as they were not sampled during this research.

The behaviours displayed by radio tagged CCT fit within Northcote's (1997a) functional model of migration and residency. In the fall, CCT moved into habitats that provided refuge through the winter and in the spring, they moved from refuge to reproductive and then foraging habitats. However, when considered at a finer resolution the overwintering and spawning movements of radio tagged CCT appear to be more complex than have been previously documented for the subspecies. Indeed, multiple overwintering behaviours as well as pre-spawn staging behaviours were observed.

For many salmonids, winter is believed to be a period of reduced survival (Huusko et al. 2007). To improve winter survival, CCT select habitats that promote energy conservation and provide refuge from deleterious environmental conditions (Northcote 1997b, Harvey et al. 1999, Huusko et al. 2007, Trotter 2008). In this study, radio tagged CCT aggregated in

deep, slow moving pools within side-channels and sloughs of the mainstem of the Kitimat River. The character and structure of these habitats are similar to the deep pool habitats used by more southern CCT populations (Bustard and Narver 1975a, Harvey et al. 1999, Slaney and Roberts 2008) and to the beaver ponds that are used in Alaska's Copper River Delta (Saiget et al. 2007). The use of off-channel habitats in this study suggests that the subspecies will select habitats that are best able to provide refuge throughout the winter – demonstrating the subspecies' ability to adapt to conditions of the local environment.

My study also showed that deep, slow moving off-channel habitats provide critical winter refuge for CCT in the Kitimat watershed. The importance of these habitats was reinforced by the fact that all major overwintering aggregations shared similar physical characteristics and that they were used during both years of the study. Furthermore, CCT appeared to actively select deep, slow moving off-channel habitats. Indeed, relative to other habitat types in the watershed, habitats matching the characteristics of the major overwintering aggregations were relatively limited in number, yet all habitats with these characteristics were used extensively. Additionally, mobile CCT consistently moved between aggregations and were infrequently relocated outside of them, suggesting that they were moving to specific habitats.

Recreational anglers frequently targeted aggregated CCT throughout the winter. For a number of reasons, this should be of concern to regional fisheries managers. First, if the behaviours of radio tagged CCT are representative of the greater population of CCT in the Kitimat watershed it is reasonable to assume that the majority of CCT are concentrated within a limited number of habitats during the winter. Thus, targeting aggregated CCT may

promote a false sense of abundance among anglers, which may contribute to illegal retention (personal observation). In addition, capture by angling is physiologically stressful and energetically taxing (Ferguson and Tufts 1993, Meka and Margraf 2007). Thus, angling aggregated CCT may diminish the ability of overwintering habitats to provide winter refuge. Given that winter can be a period of increased mortality and that habitat selection appears to be a survival strategy, angling overwintering CCT could have long term detrimental population affects. Measures that provide additional protection of overwintering habitats should, therefore, be considered if there is concern about the status of CCT populations in the region.

Previous studies of CCT have generally stated that CCT remain within a single overwintering habitat throughout the winter (Trotter et al. 1993, Saiget et al. 2007, Trotter 2008). My findings, however, demonstrate that CCT may remain stationary within a single habitat, or move between multiple habitats throughout the winter. To the best of my knowledge, winter movement of lotic CCT at the scale and frequency reported in this study has not been described previously. Among other subspecies of cutthroat trout, winter movement appears to be common. Indeed, WCT appear to move frequently throughout the winter and similar mobile and stationary behaviours have been reported for the subspecies (Brown 1994, 1999, Jakober et al. 1998, Morris and Prince 2004). Given these observations and the frequency that radio tagged CCT moved between habitats, it is possible that cutthroat, as a species, may be more mobile throughout the winter than has been previously considered. Furthermore, similar behavioural structuring has been observed in

studies examining the marine habitat use of CCT (Krentz 2007, Goetz et al. 2013), suggesting that CCT may adopt specific behavioural strategies throughout key life stages.

The factors contributing to the distinct winter behaviours observed in this study are not clear. However, studies of other salmonids provide insight and suggest that winter movements may be due to changes in environmental conditions, interspecific competition and/or external stressors (Mäki-Petäys et al. 2004, Huusko et al. 2007, 2013, Meka and Margraf 2007). Additional clarity is likely to be provided by studies that employ biotelemetry and monitor winter movements of migratory CCT in multiple watershed and at a finer temporal resolution.

Changes in water temperature and habitat occlusion caused by instream ice formation are frequently cited as a source of winter movement (Brown et al. 1993, Brown and Mackay 1995b, Jakober et al. 1998, Morris and Prince 2004, Huusko et al. 2013). Periods of hypercooling and instream ice formation were observed during both years of this study. The influence of water temperature and ice formation on winter movements, however, could not be assessed due to the low temporal resolution of the winter tracking data. It is likely that temperature, flow and ice conditions did contribute to the observed winter movements, but it is unlikely that they were the sole factor promoting winter movement. Indeed, movement was observed throughout the winter and not strictly during hypercooling or high flow events. Furthermore, radio tagged CCT remained within overwintering habitats throughout the winter and no single ice or flow event resulted in the movement of all individuals from a habitat.

In this study, stationary CCT were significantly older, longer and heavier than stationary CCT, suggesting that movement between overwintering habitats may be in response to interspecific competition. Dominance hierarchies and interspecific cohort segregation are often observed during studies of salmonids, and may be more pronounced in winter if multiple cohorts aggregate in the same habitats (Mäki-Petäys et al. 2004, Huusko et al. 2007). Furthermore, interspecific competition for habitats may increase when refuge habitats are of limited availability, which may benefit larger individuals (Harwood et al. 2001, Huusko et al. 2007). Intraspecific competition is less likely to have influenced winter behaviours as the two other salmonid species present in the watershed during the winter, Dolly Varden and resident rainbow trout, were consistently smaller than CCT selected for radio tagging.

Recreational anglers were frequently observed targeting overwintering aggregations and stress associated with catch-and-release angling may have promoted movement between overwintering habitats. Certainly, capture by angling is a physiologically stressful and energetically taxing event and it is possible that movements out of overwintering habitats were an avoidance response (Ferguson and Tufts 1992, Meka and Margraf 2007). Arguably, activities that increase stress and energy expenditure while reducing foraging potential diminish the capacity of overwintering habitats to function as refuges. Future studies employing biotelemetry are recommended to better understand the extent to which catch and release angling affects the winter movements of CCT (Donaldson et al. 2008).
Pre-spawn staging behaviours have been well documented among salmonids (e.g. Colyer et al. 2005, High et al. 2011, Starcevich et al. 2012). Spawning movements of CCT, however, have generally been described as direct from overwintering to spawning habitats. To the best of my knowledge, pre-spawn staging behaviours of CCT have not been thoroughly assessed, though indirect references in recent studies suggest the behaviour may be more common than has been recognized. For instance, Saiget et al. (2007) described 4 CCT that held in small pools for 3-14 days while travelling towards spawning habitats. Temporary staging prior to spawning may be advantageous if it permits individuals to assess natal stream conditions, or select mates.

In my study, CCT were observed moving from overwintering to staging habitats prior to spawning. Staging habitats were 0.1 to 36.2 km from overwintering habitats and 0.8 to 14.0 km from spawning habitats. Cutthroat arrived in staging habitats from late March to early May and departed after a period of 1 to 25 d. Interestingly, stationary CCT were often observed in overwintering locations that were proximal to spawning tributaries (i.e. 0.1 km from confluence with spawning tributary). Radio tagged CCT staged in multiple locations including at the confluence of small first to 3rd order tributaries flowing into the mainstem and major tributaries; at the confluence of major tributaries with the Kitimat River and in the Kitimat River mainstem itself. Searching behaviours were common and involved movement into the lower reaches of a stream before returning to the staging location. From staging habitats CCT moved directly to putative spawning positions.

Radio tagged CCT were not observed actively spawning, nor were redds of radio tagged CCT identified during bank walks of spawning tributaries. However, observations of

non-radio tagged CCT spawning as well as radio tagged CCT paired with migratory and stream resident CCT within first to third order streams suggests that movements into small tributaries in the spring were to spawn. Radio tagged CCT were first relocated in spawning tributaries from the last week of March to the first week of May, with peak arrival occurring in late April. Arrival at putative spawning positions occurred slightly later, from the first week of April to mid-May, with peak spawning occurring in late April and early May. Spawn times reported in this study are consistent with records of spawn timing throughout the range of CCT (Jones and Harding 1998, Jones and Yanusz 1998, Slaney and Roberts 2005, Saiget et al. 2007, Trotter 2008, Moore et al. 2010, Buehrens 2011, Marston et al. 2011, Stein et al. 2012b).

Coastal cutthroat may spawn in the upper reaches of small tributaries where other salmonids are less abundant to reduce competition of juvenile CCT with coho salmon and steelhead (Pearcy et al. 1990) and/or reduce hybridization with steelhead (Buehrens et al. 2013). In this study, radio tagged CCT were observed within ephemeral streams and in the upper most accessible reaches of small first to third order streams. Generally, tributaries used by radio tagged CCT throughout the spawning period were of similar character to those that have been previously described for the subspecies (e.g. Roberts and Slaney 2005, Costello 2006, Trotter 2008).

Mortality of spawning radio tagged CCT was high and demonstrates the risks that migratory CCT incur while spawning in relatively small streams. Similar rates of mortality have been observed in studies of CCT (Costello 2006) and WCT (Schmetterling 2011). When transmitters were recovered from dead radio tagged CCT, it was not clear what was the

cause of death. A number of factors are likely to have contributed to the high rates of observed spawning mortality including, but not limited to: predation by eagles and otters; tagging related complications; intraspecific competition; fatigue from spawning, and; unfavorable environmental conditions. The extent to which each of these factors contributed to observed mortality rates is unclear; however, evidence of predation by eagles and otters was observed during bank walks of spawning tributaries.

Radio telemetry has the capability to provide great insight into the behaviours of cryptic species. However, the technology is not without its limitations, and biases in sampling design can influence how behaviours are interpreted (Adams et al. 2012). Variability in the frequency with which individuals are relocated can result in contact bias (Jones and Rogers 1998, Rogers and White 2001, Adams et al. 2012). In this study, the frequency of ground and aerial based relocation events as well as the behaviours of CCT (which influenced relocation success) contributed to contact biases. Indeed, the increased duration between relocation events throughout the winter is likely to have underestimated movement. Similarly, individuals that remained within known habitats were relocated more often than individuals that moved into new habitats. Thus, relocation success was greatest throughout the winter and lowest throughout the spring spawning period.

In addition to biases resulting from the application of radio telemetry, additional forms of bias may have been introduced by the location, timing and methods of sampling. Recent evidence suggests that resident and migratory life history forms are part of a single randomly mating population (Johnson et al. 2010). Given that sexual selection is likely to favour migration among females (Jonsson and Jonsson 1993) it is possible that targeting

large, mobile CCT during sampling may have influenced sex ratios in this study. If CCT in the Kitimat watershed are panmictic (Johnson et al. 2010), it is therefore possible that a more balanced sex ratio would have been observed if resident CCT were included in sampling (Downs et al. 1997, Meyer et al. 2003). Similar sex ratios have been documented in studies of sea-run and lacustrine CCT populations where resident CCT were not sampled (Sumner 1972, de Leeuw 1987, Johnson et al. 1994, Foster 2003, Costello and Rubidge 2005). Consequently, the female biased sex ratios reported here are not likely to be representative of the Kitimat River CCT population as they fail to include stream resident CCT.

Sampling was conducted significantly later in year 1 than year 2, and radio tagged CCT were significantly larger in year 1 than year 2. However, a Spearman correlation test of capture date and fish length, weight, age and condition factor failed to detect a significant relationship between physical characteristics and capture date (results not presented). It is thus unlikely that the difference in the timing of sampling in year 1 and year 2 affected the observed behaviours.

The observations that I have reported on in this chapter demonstrate that there is considerable variability in the behaviours of individual CCT and that this variability often limits the statistical differentiation of relationships that may be of biological significance. Distinct behavioural patterns, however, were apparent when the data was considered at a coarser scale which focused on seasonal movement patterns. Indeed, this approach demonstrated that CCT displayed one of two behaviours throughout the winter. Additionally, movements from overwintering to spawning habitats and movements from spawning habitats to the estuary were highly synchronized and coordinated in each year.

Thus, my study suggests that CCT often behave in unison and that the subspecies' may be no more individual than any other species of salmonid.

In chapter 2, I apply a logistic regression modeling approach to explore the extent to which the timing that CCT moved from overwintering habitats to spawning habitats was influenced by a suite of biotic and abiotic conditions. The timing that these migrations were completed differed significantly between years and there is considerable evidence suggesting that salmonids are capable of adjusting migration behaviours in response to environmental conditions (see reviews by Jonsson 1991, Jonsson and Jonsson 2009, Taylor and Cooke 2012, Milner et al. 2012). Little is known, however, about the behavioural responses of CCT to changes in their environment. Fortunately, telemetry studies are particularly well suited to assess how behaviours are influenced by the environment (e.g. Erkinaro et al. 1999, Bendall et al. 2012, Thorstad et al. 2013), especially when considering migrations during ecologically sensitive periods, such as spawning (Tetzlaff et al. 2005). In combination, these two chapters provide insight into the seasonal behaviours of CCT and the factors that affect them.

CHAPTER 2

Environmental and Biological Factors Influencing the Spawning Migration of Coastal Cutthroat Trout (Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii) in the Kitimat River Watershed

INTRODUCTION

Migratory patterns are associated with physiological and behavioural adaptations to the environment that function to maximize individual fitness and population viability (Fleming 1996, Svendsen et al. 2004, Jonsson and Jonsson 2009, Milner et al. 2012). Travelling long distances through a dynamic fluvial environment, however, is energetically taxing and migrations are often a period of increased mortality (Rand et al. 2006, Brönmark et al. 2014). Consequently, salmonids have adapted physiological processes and behavioural strategies to mitigate these costs and maximize individual fitness (Quinn 2011, Fraser et al. 2011, Milner et al. 2012). The timing of key life history events – such as spawning – are believed to be heritable and reflect adaptations to local environmental conditions (Stewart et al. 2002, Klemetsen et al. 2003, Tetzlaff et al. 2005, O'Malley et al. 2010, Fraser et al. 2011). Environmental conditions appear to be a key component in the realization of these complex strategies, functioning to control seasonal migration timing at both long and short temporal scales (O'Malley et al. 2010, Milner et al. 2012). The timing and extent of migrations will not only reflect the local environmental conditions but also the physical state and migration capacity of the individual (Jonsson 1991).

Photoperiod is an anticipatory cue for important life history events in a range of aquatic, avian and terrestrial species (Bradshaw and Holzapfel 2007). Among salmonids, photoperiod is believed to have both ultimate and proximate effects on migratory behaviour by synchronizing seasonal migrations and initiating physiological processes that may motivate migration, respectively (Thorstad et al. 2005, Binder et al. 2011). Photoperiod has been shown to initiate and influence the maturation cycle of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss; Duston and Bromage 1986, Carrillo et al. 1989) and Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar; Duston and Saunders 1990, Björnsson et al. 1994) and is considered to be the dominant environmental cue stimulating physiological changes associated with smolting in anadromous forms of both species (Zaugg and Wagner 1973, McCormick et al. 2002 and references within). Less understood is how physiological changes influence an individual's internal motivations to move (Thorstad et al. 2005, 2008) which may be affected by energy and stress levels, maturation state and hormones (Milner et al. 2012). Maturation, therefore, might motivate movements towards spawning habitats as gravid females have a relatively short window within which eggs are viable (Thorstad et al. 2008, Quinn 2011). Stimulating physiological changes that are likely to affect internal motivations, photoperiod may function to ensure that behaviours occur during temporal periods that have been determined through selection. Day length has also been shown to ultimately affect migration behaviours by directly stimulating rheotaxis (Dodson and Young 1977, Martin et al. 2012). The fact that the timing of life history events differs considerably between individuals within a population, however, reinforces that photoperiod is not the only factor influencing when behaviours are undertaken.

There is considerable evidence that migrations are influenced by prevailing stream conditions in larger bodied salmonids such as Atlantic salmon (see reviews by Jonsson 1991, Tetzlaff et al. 2005, Taylor and Cooke 2012, Milner et al. 2012). Similar results have been reported in studies of smaller salmonids such as brown trout (S. trutta), rainbow trout (O. mykiss), bull trout (Salvelinus confluentus) and multiple subspecies of cutthroat trout (O. clarkii) (Waters 1993a, Brown and Mackay 1995a, Swanberg 1997, Jakober et al. 1998, Simpkins et al. 2000, Meka et al. 2003, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Svendsen et al. 2004, Harper and Farag 2004, Bahr and Shrimpton 2004, Friesen 2005, Colyer et al. 2005, Bryant et al. 2009, Young et al. 2010, Gregory et al. 2011, Starcevich et al. 2012, Bennett et al. 2014, Ringel et al. 2014), suggesting that trends observed in Atlantic salmon are applicable to other salmonids. Discharge and water temperature are primarily identified as the environmental variables affecting migrations (Table A2.1 and A2.2). Although considerable variation has been reported among species and populations in their response to environmental variables, such differences likely indicate that populations have adapted responses to meet conditions of the local stream environment (Thorstad et al. 2008, Bronmark et al. 2013). The high incidence of homing as well as evidence of diminished reproductive success among straying salmonids is certainly indicative of local adaptation at the population scale (Dittman and Quinn 1996).

Temperature influences the rate at which physiological processes, such as maturation occur (Hoar et al. 1983, McCormick et al. 2002, Wilkinson et al. 2010), but also influences migration capacity (Brett 1971, Quinn 2005). Physiological processes function optimally within a relatively narrow thermal range (Farrell 2002, Lee et al. 2003).

Movements will likely occur at temperatures that maximize physiological efficiency and function to conserve energy for critical life history processes such as spawning. In contrast, sexual maturation which occurs over a period of months is also affected by temperature and is dependent on an individual's thermal experience, which is typically measured in accumulated thermal units (ATUs) (Petty et al. 2012, Chezik et al. 2014). Field and laboratory studies of the effects of antecedent water temperatures have shown that increased water temperatures can stimulate early sexual maturation (Quinn and Adams 1996, Sauter et al. 2001, Dahl et al. 2004, Clark et al. 2005, McMillan et al. 2011). The effect of temperature on spawning migrations, however is equivocal. Indeed, spawning migrations of coastal cutthroat trout (CCT) have often been positively associated with water temperature, but not always (Webb and McLay 1996, Gresswell et al. 1997, Jones and Harding 1998, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, DeRito et al. 2010, Bennett et al. 2014). Similar inconsistencies have been observed in other species of salmonids and suggest local adaptation (Table A.1).

Responses to flow are variable among species and populations, however several patterns have been reported in the literature. First, flow response is relative to river size (Thorstad et al. 2008, Milner et al. 2012). Fish moving through large rivers are less likely to be affected by flow than those moving through small streams where reduced flows may physically limit habitat connectivity (Milner et al. 2012). Second, response to flow may vary based upon migration stage (Thorstad et al. 2008). Individuals may show minimal response to flow, therefore, while still moving through large rivers towards natal streams, but may delay entry into natal streams until flows are sufficient to enable movement past instream

obstacles. Third, salmonids are most likely to respond to flow during specific life history stages or transitions, when internal motivations are elevated. For instance, migratory individuals can be expected to show a stronger response to flows than fish that are foraging or rearing. Finally, variability in the timing of life history events between years is common and may be related to interannual variability in temperature and flow regimes, as well as past climatic conditions (Smith et al. 1994, Gresswell et al. 1997, Dahl et al. 2004, Tetzlaff et al. 2005, Budy et al. 2012, Milner et al. 2012, Bennett et al. 2014).

The migrations of CCT from overwintering habitats to spawn were described in Chapter 1. As coordinated movements, departures from overwintering habitats represent the initiation of the spawning migration which are then culminated upon arrival within spawning tributaries (or more accurately at the arrival to spawning locations). However, it is likely that CCT will key in on different environmental stimuli during each stage of the migration. For instance, the distance that CCT travelled to reach spawning tributaries was frequently much greater than the distance travelled within spawning tributaries. Given metabolic costs of migration are increased when water temperatures are above or below a species thermal optima, it seems plausible that movements out of overwintering habitats would not occur until a threshold temperature had been achieved. Further, fish may show an elevated response to flow while moving into and within spawning tributaries relative to when they are moving towards them. Indeed, overwintering habitats were primarily within the mainstem of the Kitimat River and low flows are unlikely to have limited movements out of overwintering habitats. Whereas elevated flows will increase access to the upper reaches of small spawning tributaries, reduce predation and contribute to olfaction.

In addition to water temperature and discharge, several biotic factors are also likely to influence migratory behaviours. Previous research has observed variation in migratory behaviours between fish of different sex, size and life history type. For instance, Yanusz (1997) found that larger, predominantly female CCT in SE Alaska initiated movements from overwintering to spawning habitats earlier. Similar size gradients have also been observed in studies examining the spawning behaviours of steelhead, bull trout, brook trout (*S. fontinalis*) and Atlantic salmon (Swanberg 1997, Curry et al. 2002, Dahl et al. 2004, McLean et al. 2005). The factors contributing to size segregation, however, are not well understood.

Differences in migration behaviour between male and female salmonids are also well described (Dahl et al. 2004). For instance, female CCT may favor migration as increased size correlates positively with fecundity, in terms of eggs size and number (Downs et al. 1997). Differences in reproductive capacity may also influence the spawning behaviours of males and females. Females have a finite number of eggs and a relatively short temporal window to complete oviposition and are likely to move out of spawning habitats once oviposition is completed (Hoar et al. 1983). In contrast, males are capable of producing sperm throughout the spawning period and their reproductive capacity is only limited by the availability of females and the amount of energy that can be invested in spermatogenesis. Males may therefore maximize reproductive success by moving into spawning tributaries with the earliest mature females, and/or remaining within spawning tributaries for the duration that ripe females are present and available.

The distance separating habitats will also influence the timing that migrations are initiated and/or completed. Certainly, individuals travelling greater distances between

habitats should be expected to initiate migrations earlier, or complete them later. For instance Bahr and Shrimpton (2004) observed that bull trout travelling the furthest distance to spawn were the earliest to initiate migrations. The distance that CCT travel to access spawning habitats may also differ among life history types and may influence how individuals respond to environmental cues. For instance, Quinn and Adams (1996) suggested that endogenous rhythms will have the greatest influence on the spawning migrations of species that complete long distance migrations and do not directly experience the environmental conditions of natal streams throughout much of their life, such as sockeye salmon (O. nerka). In contrast to sockeye salmon, the authors argue that spawn timing will be more variable among species that remain proximal to natal tributaries or within a single watershed (E.g., American shad, Alosa sapidissima) as these species are more likely to be influenced by, and respond to variable environmental cues stimuli. Their finding was corroborated by Dahl et al. (2004) who demonstrated that interannual variability in spawn timing was greater among brown trout than among further ranging Atlantic salmon. Relative to other species of Pacific salmon and trout, CCT are not far ranging and it is therefore possible that the subspecies will show an elevated response to environmental stimuli during migrations.

The life history behaviours and population structure of CCT make them particularly well suited for the study of migration behaviours at the watershed scale. Evidence of stream level population structure and diminished reproductive success among mature strays suggest that CCT are highly adapted to their local environment (Wenburg and Bentzen 2001, Quinn 2005). Furthermore, CCT generally remain in fresh water and are relatively

sedentary throughout the winter prior to spawning in the spring. Due to the relatively sedentary nature of their overwintering behaviours, CCT can be tracked from overwintering to spawning habitats with relatively high temporal and spatial precision using radio telemetry. When combined with measures of the environment and the physical characteristics of radio tagged CCT, the telemetry data can provide invaluable insight into the factors that are structuring the migratory behaviours of CCT. Chapter 1 presented evidence of at least two coordinated spring movements: movement from overwintering habitats and migration to spawning habitats. In this chapter I will apply an information theoretic approach to examine how a set of biological and abiotic factors may have influenced these two behaviours.

METHODS

Fish Sampling and Tracking

Methods employed to sample, radio tag and relocate radio tagged CCT are described in Chapter 1.

Environmental Data Collection

Water temperature was monitored throughout the Kitimat watershed using HOBO Data Loggers (Onset Computer Corporation). HOBO loggers were encapsulated within a perforated ABS pipe attached to a concrete cinder block that was submerged and anchored to shore. Each recorder measured water temperature on 4 hour intervals. A total of nineteen temperature loggers were distributed throughout the watershed: four throughout the mainstem of the Kitimat River; nine in major tributaries, and; six in minor tributaries (Figure 2.1). Eight HOBO loggers were deployed into suspected spawning tributaries in 2012 and an additional 8 were deployed into confirmed tributaries in 2013. To assess how mainstem water temperature varied throughout the study area, temperature loggers were deployed at 11.2 rkm and 38.3 rkm in 2012. In 2013, additional mainstem loggers were deployed at a key overwintering area (30.4 rkm) as well as within the upper watershed at 48.3 rkm. However, the logger at 48.3 rkm was displaced by ice, resulting in unreliable temperature metrics and has not been included. Tributary water temperatures are summarized in Table A2.3, but tributary temperatures were not included in either analyses as temperature was not recorded in all spawning tributaries nor was it available for both years of the study. Mean daily mainstem water temperatures (collected at 11.2 rkm) were summed for the period from November 15 of each year to calculate the thermal experience, or accumulated thermal units (ATU) in each year. Thermal experience was calculated from November 15 as it was roughly the date when water temperatures first approached 0 °C in each year.

Discharge data was collected by Environment Canada and downloaded from the website of the Water Survey of Canada (<u>https://wateroffice.ec.gc.ca/</u>). Environment Canada operates three stations within the Kitimat watershed, however, data was only collected from the station that operated on the Kitimat River, downstream of Hirsch Creek (Station 08FF001). Hydrometric data was collected continuously at a 5-minute interval and are reported as mean daily values.

Photoperiod was calculated as the duration of time (hr) between civil twilight (sun 6° above and below the horizon). Daily estimates of civil twilight were downloaded from the National Research Council of Canada website (<u>http://www.nrc-cnrc.gc.ca/eng/services/</u> <u>sunrise</u>), and were calculated for Kitimat BC (Longitude = 128° 39' West, Latitude = 54° 13.2' North).



Figure 2.1. Map of the Kitimat Watershed. Red circles indicate the position of temperature loggers; green squares indicate the position of Environment Canada hydrometric gauges.

Statistical Analyses

Welch's two sample t-test was used to compare measures of mean daily water temperature and discharge between years. Discharge and water temperature were tested for the tracking period (October to June) as well as for the period when CCT were observed moving out of overwintering habitats and into spawning habitats (March to June). Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was applied when more than two groups were compared and was used to test for differences in mainstem flow between years and for differences in temperature between mainstem logger sites and years. Tukey's test was used to compare means when significant differences were identified. Variance in temperature was assessed for normality and homogeneity using Bartlett's and Levene's tests prior to analyses. For all tests, alpha values less than 0.05 were deemed significant. Summary values for all measures are presented as mean ± SD.

Modelling

An information theoretic approach (Burnham and Anderson 2002) was applied to assess how a suite of biotic and abiotic metrics influenced two observed life history behaviours: movement out of overwintering habitats, and; movement into spawning habitats. Candidate models were developed using parameters identified from previous research and were ranked using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC). The factors influencing the life history behaviours of CCT are understudied consequently research was expanded to include other cold water salmonids with similar life history behaviours. Species reviewed include westslope cutthroat trout (WCT; *O. clarkii lewisi*), Brook trout, Brown trout, Rainbow trout / Steelhead, Bull trout, and Atlantic salmon. This review identified four

abiotic (photoperiod, discharge, water temperature, and thermal experience) and three biotic parameters (fork length, sex, and distance from overwintering to spawning habitats) that have been shown to influence life history behaviours. An additional biotic metric, migration type, was included to distinguish between CCT displaying mobile and stationary behaviours during each winter. Due to limitations in sample size, year was not differentiated within candidate models.

Mobile and stationary relocation data was used to identify the median date that behaviours were completed by each CCT. Median departure dates from overwintering habitats were calculated as the median date between the final relocation within overwintering habitats and the first observation outside of overwintering habitats. Similarly, the date of spawning tributary arrival was calculated as the median date between the last observation outside of, and the first relocation within a spawning tributary. To account for variability in the frequency that each CCT was relocated, date was broken into 27, 4-day temporal periods from February 15 to June 1 of each year. A binary metric was then calculated to identify whether each CCT did (1), or did not (0) complete movements within a given temporal period. For each CCT, a minimum of 4 consecutive periods were included in the analysis and once a behaviour was observed no further periods were included. Mean values of the abiotic variables were calculated for each temporal period. Measures of water temperature and discharge were calculated using data collected in the mainstem of the Kitimat River. Sex and migration type were included as categorical variables. Distance to spawn was calculated as the total absolute distance CCT travelled from final overwintering habitats to maximum upstream spawning positions. Separate longitudinal datasets

comprised of repeated measures of each CCT were prepared for the overwintering and spawning analyses.

In each candidate model, biotic and abiotic measures were treated as predictor variables and event (indicating either overwinter departure, or spawning arrival) was treated as the response variable. Candidate models were assessed by standard logistic regression, however standard errors were clustered by individual fish. Models were evaluated by examining coefficient estimates, standard errors and confidence intervals. Multicollinearity was assessed by visually inspecting Spearman correlations between metrics and by calculating variance inflation factors and tolerance values for each variable. Logistic regressions were performed in STATA (StataCorp 2015), two-sample t-tests, ANOVA's and Tukey's tests were performed using R (R Core Team 2016). All figures were prepared using the ggplot2 package in R (Wickham 2009).

Overwintering departure and spawning arrival models were assessed on independent data sets. Models in each candidate set were ranked by AIC, corrected for small sample size (AICc) (Burnham and Anderson 2002, Symonds and Moussalli 2011). Models with the lowest AICc value were deemed to be the best fit of the data. Competing models with AICc values < 2 were considered to be as good as the top model. The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve, relates the relative proportions of correctly and incorrectly classified predictions. The area under the ROC curve is an index of model performance and was calculated to assess the predictive ability of each model (Hanley and McNeil 1982).

RESULTS

Summary of Abiotic Conditions

Overwintering and spawning migrations occurred when photoperiod was increasing in the spring (Figure 2.2). Mainstem water temperatures declined rapidly in the late fall, remained cool through the winter and warmed again in the spring (Figure 2.3). Temperatures did not differ significantly among mainstem logger sites during either year; nor was a difference apparent between years when mainstem temperature was compared from October to June. Mean temperatures recorded in tributaries ranged from 1.6 to 5.4 °C during the winter and 2.9 to 5.8 °C throughout the spawning period (Table A2.3). The number of CCT observed in temperature monitored tributaries and the temperatures during their use are presented in Table A2.4. Tributary temperatures were not included in any additional analyses. Extended periods of sub-zero air temperatures were associated with extensive ice formation throughout the Kitimat watershed and resulted in mean daily water temperatures below 0 °C (Figure 2.3). The timing of ice events differed between years. Major ice events occurred from December 22 to 30 and January 10 to 14 in year 1 and from December 6 to 9 and February 1 to 13 in year 2. Subsurface and frazil ice were observed during the longer ice events in each year.

Historic mean \pm SD annual discharge in the Kitimat River is 132 \pm 116 m³/s, calculated from 1965 to 2012 and show that peak flows primarily occur with the spring freshet (Figure 2.4). The Kitimat River typically remains low and clear throughout the winter, although short duration high flow events frequently occur following rain on snow events (Figure 2.4). Flows in year 1 did not differ from historic flows, however flows in year

2 were significantly greater than flows in year 1 and historic flows (Table 2.2). The increased variability in flows recorded during year 2 was likely due to differences in snow pack between years. Indeed, snow levels in year 1 were minimal compared to year 2 (personal observation).



Figure 2.2. Trends in daily measures of day length recorded in Kitimat BC, from October 1 to June 1.

Voor	rlena	_	Mean		Minimum						
rear	rkm	Mean	SD	Range	Mean	SD	Range				
1	11.2	2.98	2.19	0.0 - 8.0	2.33	1.76	0.0 - 6.3				
1	38.3	2.89	2.07	0.0 - 7.9	2.22	1.65	0.0 - 6.0				
		t(420.	6) = 0.44 <i>,</i> p	o = 0.66	t(420.	o = 0.49					
2	11.2	2.81	2.13	0.0 - 8.3	2.28	1.95	0.0 - 6.8				
2	30.4	2.8	2.40	0.0 - 8.2	2.18	1.97	-0.1 - 6.6				
2	38.3	2.72	2.13	0.0 - 7.7	2.16	1.75	0.0 - 6.2				
		F _{[2, 633}	_{3]} = 0.95, p	=0.91	F _{[2, 633}	_{3]} =0.21, p	=0.81				

Table 2.1. Summary of grand mean and minimum water temperatures recorded at mainstem temperature logging sites in year 1 and year 2 from November 1 to May 31.



Figure 2.3. Profile of mean and minimum daily mainstem water temperature from October 1 to May 31 of year 1 and year 2. Temperatures recorded at 11.2 rkm on the Kitimat River.



Figure 2.4. Profile of mean and minimum daily discharge in the Kitimat River in year 1 and year 2.

	Raw Sui	nmar	У	Tukey's Post-hoc Compariso							
Year	Mean	SE	Range	Comparison	P-value						
1	109.7	7.2	3.1 - 681.3	Year 1 - Year 2	< 0.001						
2	161.7	8.1	12.5 - 979.7	Year 1 - Historic	0.97						
Historic	111.8	3.6	47.5 - 253	Year 2 - Historic	< 0.001						
ANOVA:	F[2, 725]	= 19.9	93, p < 0.001	-							

Table 2.2. Summary of ANOVA and Tukey multiple comparison tests comparing mean mainstem discharge from October to May in year 1 and year 2 to mean daily historic flows from 1965 to 2012.

Correlations and Collinearity

Strong correlations were observed between the abiotic variables in both the overwintering departure (Table 2.3) and spawning arrival datasets (Table 2.4). Correlations were strongest between water temperature and photoperiod ($r \ge 0.80$). In the spawning analysis, a correlation of moderate strength (r = 0.66, p < 0.001) was also observed between photoperiod and discharge, though this correlation was considerably weaker in the overwinter data set (r = 0.30, p < 0.001). Strong, significant correlations were also observed between accumulated thermal units and discharge (r = 0.65, p < 0.001) and temperature (r = 0.78, p < 0.001) in the spawning analysis (Table 2.4); these correlations were weaker in the overwintering analysis (Table 2.3). The strength of the relationship between water temperature and discharge was similar in both analyses, however the relationship was negative in the overwintering analysis (r = -0.21, p < 0.001) and positive in the spawning analysis (r = -0.21, p < 0.001) and positive in the spawning analysis (r = -0.21, p < 0.001) and positive in the spawning analysis (r = -0.21, p < 0.001) and positive in the spawning analysis (r = -0.21, p < 0.001) and positive in the spawning analysis (r = -0.21, p < 0.001) and positive in the spawning analysis (r = -0.21, p < 0.001) and positive in the spawning analysis (r = -0.21, p < 0.001) and positive in the spawning analysis (r = -0.21, p < 0.001) and positive in the spawning analysis (r = -0.21, p < 0.001) and positive in the spawning analysis (r = -0.40, p < 0.001).

Analysis of VIF scores for the global overwintering and spawning models

demonstrated that collinearity was a serious issue between water temperature and photoperiod. Thus, to reduce collinearity, water temperature and photoperiod parameters were not included in the same candidate models. Quadratic terms for each abiotic variable were tested; however, they did not significantly improve model fit and were not included in any of the candidate models.

Parameter		Photoperiod	Discharge	Temperature	ATU	Fork Length	Distance	Sex	Mig.Type	
Photoperiod		1	0.30	0.83	0.90	-0.09	-0.10	0.07	0.02	
Discharge		< 0.001	1	-0.21	0.49	-0.25	-0.06	0.10	0.25	
Temperature		< 0.001	< 0.001	1	0.57	0.10	-0.06	0.00	-0.16	C
ATU	ne	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	1	-0.2	-0.11	0.1	0.15	orre
Fork Length	Val	0.055	< 0.001	0.030	< 0.001	1	0.09	0.25	-0.44	lati
Distance	4	0.030	0.174	0.219	0.020	0.049	1	0.03	0.07	on
Sex		0.128	0.026	0.918	0.030	< 0.001	0.462	1	-0.08	
Mig.Type		0.596	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.125	0.084	1	

Table 2.3. Correlations between metrics included in the analysis of departure from overwintering habitats.

Table 2.4. Correlations between metrics included in the analysis of arrival in to spawning tributaries.

Parameter		Photoperiod	Discharge	Temperature	ATU	Fork Length	Distance	Sex	Mig.Type	
Photoperiod		1	0.66	0.80	1.00	-0.17	0.04	0.09	0.19	
Discharge		< 0.001	1	0.21	0.65	-0.24	0.01	0.08	0.23	
Temperature		< 0.001	< 0.001	1	0.78	-0.03	0.03	0.05	0.05	င္ပ
ATU	ne	< 0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	1	-0.18	0.04	0.10	0.20	rre
Fork Length	Vali	< 0.001	0.000	0.516	< 0.001	1	0.05	0.20	-0.40	latio
Distance	4	0.437	0.827	0.475	0.430	0.295	1	-0.07	0.14	on
Sex		0.059	0.111	0.340	0.040	< 0.001	0.124	1	-0.07	
Mig.Type		< 0.001	< 0.001	0.254	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.003	0.137	1	

Overwintering Departure Models

A total of 47 candidate models for CCT were included in the overwintering analysis to characterize departure from overwintering habitats between March 13 to May 7 (median = April 7) (Figure 2.5). The number of temporal periods included in the analysis for each fish ranged from 4 to 18, with an overall mean of 10.1 ± 3.0 . Mean values of day length recorded in each period ranged from 12.8 to 17.1 hr. Mean temperature and discharge values ranged from 0.2 to 7.0 °C and 8.5 to 309.8 m³ s⁻¹, respectively (Table 2.5; Figure 2.5). Accumulated thermal units experienced by CCT during periods when movements were completed ranged from 177.6 to 427.3 ATU. Measures of water temperature, discharge and ATUs differed significantly between years during intervals when CCT moved out of overwintering habitats (Table 2.5; Figure 2.5). Cutthroat included in the overwintering and spawning analysis were primarily female (60%) and ranged in fork length from 331 to 460 mm (395.3 \pm 34.9 mm). The mean \pm SD total absolute distance radio tagged CCT travelled from overwintering to spawning habitats was 9.7 \pm 7.9 km, though this ranged from 1.1 to 37.0 km.

The results of the overwintering analysis are summarized in Table 2.6. Models that included photoperiod primarily had lower AICc values than models that did not include photoperiod; photoperiod was included in 9 of the top 10 models and the model with only photoperiod was ranked 6th. The model with the lowest overall AICc value (AICc = 236.89) consisted of photoperiod and fork length. This model indicates that photoperiod (β = 1.442, SE = 0.248, *P* < 0.001) and fork length (β = 0.011, SE = 0.004, P = 0.003) significantly influence when CCT depart from overwintering habitats (Table 2.7). An additional 3 models

had AICc values that differed by less than 2 and are considered to be probable candidate models. The model with the second lowest AICc value (Δ AICc = 0.16) included photoperiod (β = 1.413, SE = 0.198, *P* < 0.001) and distance travelled from overwintering to spawning habitats (β = 0.060, SE = 0.024, P = 0.024). Confidence intervals of the top 2 models did not include zero and all parameters were shown to have a significant effect. Together these two models account for a total accumulated Akaike weight of 0.44. The third and fourth ranked models were more complicated versions of the second and first ranked models, respectively, and both contained negative, non-significant coefficient estimates for discharge. Including the third and fourth ranked models increased the total accumulated Akaike weight of the top models to 0.65. The area under the receiver operating curve was greater than 0.86 for all four of the top ranked models, indicating that they had good predictive ability.

Table 2.5. Summary of abiotic measures calculated for temporal intervals inclu	ded in the overwintering
analysis. Tests for differences between years are presented in the final column	1.

		Com	bined		Ye	ar 1		Ye	ar 2	Two-Sample T-Test			
	Mean	SD	Range	Mean	SD	Range	Mean	SD	Range	Two-Sample 1-Test			
Photoperiod	14.8 0.8 12.8 - 17.1		14.6 0.7 13.2 - 15.9		13.2 - 15.9	15.1	0.9	12.8 - 17.1	t(466.6) = -1.31, p = 0.19				
Temperature	4.4	1.1	0.2 - 7.0	4.7	0.7	2.5 - 5.8	4.1	1.4	0.2 - 7.0	t(428.0) = 9.59, p < 0.001			
ATU	276.0	50.8	177.6 - 427.3	258.2	46.1	177.6 - 343.2	296.3	49.2	204.5 - 427.3	t(447.3) = -8.31, p < 0.001			
Discharge	rge 112.9 80.6 8.5 - 309.8		8.5 - 309.8	56.9	25.2	8.5 - 81.4	176.4	74.4	59.0 - 309.8	t(343.3) = -17.91, p < 0.001			



Figure 2.5. Environmental conditions and count of the number of fish moving per period in year 1 and 2. Each period represents 4 days, starting on February 15. Line plots compare mean water temperature (Temp., °C), accumulated thermal units (ATU, sum of mean daily temperature), discharge (Flow, m³s⁻¹), and day length (Photo, hr) per period in year 1 and year 2. Histograms summarize the total number of CCT observed moving out of overwintering habitats (OW) and into spawning tributaries (Spawn) during each period.

Table 2.6. Set of logistic regression candidate models used to estimate likelihood of movement out of overwintering habitats for CCT radio tagged in the Kitimat River in year 1 and year 2. Standard errors in each model were clustered by individual CCT. Fixed effect variables include: Photoperiod, a continuous measure of mean civil day length (hr); Temperature and Discharge, measures of mean mainstem water temperature and discharge, respectively; ATU, running sum of mean daily mainstem water temperature; Distance, measure of the total absolute distance (km) each CCT travelled to spawn from final overwintering habitats; Mig.Type, a dichotomous measure identifying mobile (1) and stationary CCT (0); Sex, a dichotomous variable identifying male (0) and female (1) CCT, and; FL, a measure of the fork length (mm) of individual CCT.

Rank	Model	ш	n	df	k	ROC	AICc	Δ AICc	Wi	Acc. Wi
1	Photoperiod + FL + Constant	-114.404	473	2	4	0.86	236.89	0.00	0.23	0.23
2	Photoperiod + Distance + Constant	-114.485	473	2	4	0.87	237.06	0.16	0.21	0.44
3	Photoperiod + Discharge + Distance + Constant	-114.152	473	3	5	0.87	238.43	1.54	0.11	0.55
4	Photoperiod + Discharge + FL + Constant	-114.238	473	3	5	0.86	238.60	1.71	0.10	0.65
5	Photoperiod + Sex + Constant	-115.766	473	2	4	0.87	239.62	2.72	0.06	0.71
6	Photoperiod + Constant	-116.799	473	1	3	0.86	239.65	2.75	0.06	0.77
7	Temperature + Discharge + Distance + Constant	-114.973	473	3	5	0.85	240.07	3.18	0.05	0.81
8	Photoperiod + Mig.Type + Constant	-116.169	473	2	4	0.86	240.42	3.53	0.04	0.85
9	Photoperiod + Discharge + Constant	-116.384	473	2	4	0.85	240.85	3.96	0.03	0.88
10	Photoperiod + Discharge + Sex + Constant	-115.450	473	3	5	0.86	241.03	4.13	0.03	0.91
11	Temperature + Discharge + Constant	-116.886	473	2	4	0.85	241.86	4.96	0.02	0.93
12	Temperature + Discharge + FL + Constant	-115.897	473	3	5	0.85	241.92	5.03	0.02	0.95
13	Photoperiod + Discharge + Mig.Type + Constant	-115.934	473	3	5	0.86	242.00	5.10	0.02	0.97
14	Temperature + Discharge + Sex + Constant	-116.067	473	3	5	0.85	242.26	5.37	0.02	0.99
15	Temperature + Discharge + Mig.Type + Constant	-116.811	473	3	5	0.85	243.75	6.86	0.01	0.99
16	ATU + FL + Constant	-119.055	473	2	4	0.84	246.19	9.30	0.00	1.00
17	ATU + Discharge + FL + Constant	-118.746	473	3	5	0.84	247.62	10.73	0.00	1.00
18	ATU + Distance + Constant	-119.864	473	2	4	0.84	247.81	10.92	0.00	1.00
19	ATU + Discharge + Distance + Constant	-119.314	473	3	5	0.85	248.76	11.86	0.00	1.00
20	ATU + Mig.Type + Constant	-120.855	473	2	4	0.83	249.79	12.90	0.00	1.00
21	ATU + Sex + Constant	-120.952	473	2	4	0.84	249.99	13.09	0.00	1.00
22	ATU + Constant	-121.976	473	1	3	0.83	250.00	13.11	0.00	1.00
23	ATU + Discharge + Sex + Constant	-120.450	473	3	5	0.85	251.03	14.13	0.00	1.00
24	ATU + Discharge + Mig.Type + Constant	-120.517	473	3	5	0.83	251.16	14.27	0.00	1.00
25	Temperature + Distance + Constant	-121.961	473	2	4	0.82	252.01	15.11	0.00	1.00
26	Temperature + Constant	-123.041	473	1	3	0.82	252.13	15.24	0.00	1.00
27	Temperature + Sex + Constant	-122.654	473	2	4	0.82	253.39	16.50	0.00	1.00
28	Temperature + Mig.Type + Constant	-122.880	473	2	4	0.82	253.85	16.95	0.00	1.00
29	Temperature + FL + Constant	-122.948	473	2	4	0.82	253.98	17.09	0.00	1.00
30	Discharge + Constant	-149.425	473	1	3	0.65	304.90	68.01	0.00	0.00
31	Discharge + FL + Constant	-148.579	473	2	4	0.65	305.24	68.35	0.00	1.00
32	Discharge + Distance + Constant	-148.965	473	2	4	0.64	306.02	69.12	0.00	1.00
33	Discharge + Sex + Constant	-149.015	473	2	4	0.63	306.12	69.22	0.00	1.00
34	Discharge + Mig.Type + Constant	-149.055	473	2	4	0.64	306.20	69.30	0.00	1.00
35	Distance + Constant	-152.804	473	1	3	0.52	311.66	74.77	0.00	1.00
36	FL + Constant	-152.914	473	1	3	0.53	311.88	74.99	0.00	1.00
37	Sex + Constant	-152.923	473	1	3	0.52	311.90	75.00	0.00	1.00
38	Mig.Type + Constant	-153.090	473	1	3	0.51	312.23	75.34	0.00	1.00
39	Sex + FL + Distance + Constant	-152.360	473	3	5	0.55	314.85	77.95	0.00	1.00
40	Mig.Type + FL + Distance + Constant	-152.655	473	3	5	0.53	315.44	78.54	0.00	1.00

Table 2.7. Diagnostic summary of overwintering candidate models with AICc values less than 2. Fixed effect variables include: Photoperiod, a continuous measure of mean civil day length (hr); Discharge, a measure of mean mainstem discharge; Distance, measure of the total absolute distance (km) each CCT travelled to spawn from final overwintering habitats, and; FL, a measure of the fork length (mm) of individual CCT.

Rank	Parameter	β	Std. Err.	z	P> z	C.I. (2.5	5, 97.5)	Odds Ratio	Log Likelihood	n dfl	χ²	Prob > χ²	Pseudo R ²	ROC	AICc	Δ AICc	wi	Acc. Wi
1	Photoperiod	1.442	0.248	5.82	0.000	0.957	1.927	4.229	-114.404	473 2 4	35.8	0.00	0.253	0.862	236.89	0.00	0.23	0.23
	FL	0.011	0.004	2.97	0.003	0.004	0.018	1.011										
	Constant	-26.927	4.198	-6.41	0.000	-35.156	-18.698	0.000										
2	Photoperiod	1.413	0.198	7.14	0.000	1.025	1.800	4.107	-114.485	473 2 4	61.7	0.00	0.252	0.866	237.06	0.16	0.21	0.44
	Distance	0.060	0.024	2.51	0.012	0.013	0.106	1.062										
	Constant	-22.728	2.771	-8.20	0.000	-28.159	-17.297	0.000										
3	Photo	1.493	0.202	7.40	0.000	1.098	1.888	4.449	-114.152	473 3 5	67.73	0.00	0.254	0.866	238.43	1.54	0.11	0.55
	Discharge	-0.002	0.003	-0.73	0.462	-0.008	0.003	0.998										
	Distance	0.059	0.024	2.41	0.016	0.011	0.106	1.060										
	Constant	-23.655	2.766	-8.55	0.000	-29.076	-18.234	0.000										
4	Photo	1.498	0.247	6.05	0.000	1.013	1.983	4.471	-114.238	473 3 5	38.14	0.00	0.254	0.861	238.60	1.71	0.10	0.65
	Discharge	-0.002	0.003	-0.50	0.620	-0.008	0.004	0.998										
	FL	0.011	0.004	2.92	0.004	0.003	0.018	1.011										
	Constant	-27.405	4.203	-6.52	0.000	-35.644	-19.167	0.000										

Spawning Models

The same 47 CCT in the overwintering analysis were also included in the spawning analysis. The median date that CCT arrived in spawning tributaries ranged from April 6 to May 11, with peak spawning (median) occurring on April 27. Abiotic metrics were calculated for a total of 15 four-day temporal periods encompassing March 11 to May 9. Mean measures of day length calculated in each period ranged from 12.9 to 16.8 hr. The mean values of mainstem water temperature, accumulated thermal units and discharge ranged from 12.9 to 17.1 °C, 177.6 to 427.3 ATU and 8.5 to 309.8 m³ s⁻¹, respectively. In year 1, movements into spawning tributaries occurred at significantly lower values of photoperiod, accumulated thermal units and discharge (Table 2.8; Figure 2.5). Abiotic metrics are the same as those used in the overwintering model.

Candidate models tested in the spawning analysis are summarized in Table 2.9 and Table 2.10. Accumulated thermal units dominated the top spawning models; ATU was included in 7 of the top 10 models and the model with only ATU ranked 5th. The spawning model with the lowest AICc value had an Akaike weight of 0.25 and suggests that movement into spawning tributaries is influenced by accumulated thermal units (β = 0.027, SE = 0.003, P < 0.001) and migration type (β = - 0.781, SE = 0.347, P < 0.024) (Table 2.10). Two additional models had Δ AICc values less than 2 and are considered as good as the top model. The second ranked model (Δ AICc = 1.66) also included migration type (β = -0.771, SE = 0.335, P = 0.021), though ATU was replaced by photoperiod (β = 1.677, SE = 0.209, P < 0.001). The final model had a Δ AICc value of 1.82 and contained accumulated thermal units (β = 0.028, SE = 0.004, P < 0.001), migration type (β = - 0.747, SE = 0.350, P = 0.033) and discharge. Except for discharge in the third model, all parameters were significant and did not include zero within their confidence intervals. Area under the ROC curves for all three top models were greater than 0.85, indicating that they were of high predictive value.

Table 2.8. Summary of measures of photoperiod (hr), temperature (°C), thermal experience (ATU, °C) and discharge (m/s^3) calculated for temporal intervals included in the spawning analysis.

		Comb	ined		Yea	r 1		Ye	ar 2	Two Sample T Test
	Mean	SD	Range	Mean	SD	Range	Mean	SD	Range	Two-sample T-Test
Photoperiod	15.8 0.8 13.7 - 17.1		15.5	15.5 0.9 13.7 - 16.8		16.0	0.8	14.6 - 17.1	t(426.4) = -7.39, p < 0.001	
Temperature	5.2	0.8	2.9 - 7	5.3 0.6 4.2 - 6.7		4.2 - 6.7	5.1 1.0 2.9-7		2.9 - 7	t(415.9) = 0.43, p = 0.67
ATU	335.4	55.2	205 - 427.3	321.6	57.6 205 - 410.7		351.1 48.9		268.1 - 427.3	t(431.4) = -7.98, p < 0.001
Discharge	136.1 75.9 8.5 - 309.8		82.9	36.7	8.5 - 181.7	196.6	62.2	126.9 - 309.8	t(263.8) = 12.87, p < 0.001	

Table 2.9. Set of logistic regression candidate models used to estimate likelihood of movement into spawning tributaries for CCT radio tagged in the Kitimat River in year 1 and year 2. Standard errors in each model were clustered by individual CCT. Fixed effect variables include: Photoperiod, a continuous measure of mean civil day length (hr); Temperature and Discharge, measures of mean mainstem water temperature and discharge, respectively; Distance, measure of the total absolute distance (km) each CCT travelled to spawn from final overwintering habitats; Mig.Type, a dichotomous measure identifying mobile (1) and stationary CCT (0); Sex, a dichotomous variable identifying male (0) and female (1) CCT, and; FL, a measure of the fork length (mm) of individual CCT.

Rank	Model	ш	n	df	k	ROC	AIC _c	Δ AICc	W _i	Acc. W _i
1	ATU + Mig.Type + Constant	-108.34	473	2	4	0.85	224.76	0.00	0.25	0.25
2	Photoperiod + Mig.Type + Constant	-109.17	435	2	4	0.85	226.42	1.66	0.11	0.36
3	Discharge + ATU + Mig.Type + Constant	-108.22	473	3	5	0.85	226.57	1.82	0.10	0.46
4	ATU + FL + Constant	-109.57	473	2	4	0.85	227.23	2.47	0.07	0.53
5	ATU + Constant	-110.63	473	1	3	0.84	227.30	2.54	0.07	0.60
6	ATU + Sex + Constant	-109.67	473	2	4	0.84	227.42	2.66	0.07	0.66
7	Photo + Discharge + Mig.Type + Constant	-109.03	435	3	5	0.85	228.20	3.44	0.04	0.71
8	Photoperiod + FL + Constant	-110.17	435	2	4	0.85	228.44	3.68	0.04	0.75
9	ATU + Distance + Constant	-110.25	473	2	4	0.84	228.58	3.82	0.04	0.78
10	Discharge + ATU + Sex + Constant	-109.29	473	3	5	0.85	228.70	3.94	0.03	0.82
11	Photoperiod + Constant	-111.43	435	1	3	0.85	228.91	4.15	0.03	0.85
12	Discharge + ATU + FL + Constant	-109.40	473	3	5	0.85	228.93	4.17	0.03	0.88
13	Photoperiod + Sex + Constant	-110.58	435	2	4	0.85	229.24	4.48	0.03	0.91
14	Discharge + ATU + Distance + Constant	-109.85	473	3	5	0.85	229.83	5.08	0.02	0.93
15	Photoperiod + Discharge + Constant	-111.00	435	2	4	0.85	230.09	5.33	0.02	0.94
16	Photo + Discharge + FL + Constant	-109.99	435	3	5	0.85	230.12	5.36	0.02	0.96
17	Photoperiod + Distance + Constant	-111.08	435	2	4	0.85	230.25	5.49	0.02	0.98
18	Photo + Discharge + Sex + Constant	-110.16	435	3	5	0.85	230.46	5.70	0.01	0.99
19	Photo + Discharge + Distance + Constant	-110.65	435	3	5	0.85	231.44	6.68	0.01	1.00
20	Temperature + Discharge + Mig.Type + Constant	-115.33	435	3	5	0.83	240.80	16.04	0.00	1.00
21	Temperature + Discharge + Constant	-117.07	435	2	4	0.82	242.24	17.48	0.00	1.00
22	Temperature + Discharge + FL + Constant	-116.10	435	3	5	0.82	242.34	17.58	0.00	1.00
23	Temperature + Discharge + Sex + Constant	-116.56	435	3	5	0.82	243.27	18.51	0.00	1.00
24	Temperature + Discharge + Distance + Constant	-116.85	435	3	5	0.82	243.84	19.08	0.00	1.00
25	Temperature + Constant	-122.75	435	1	3	0.80	251.56	26.80	0.00	1.00
26	Temperature + Mig.Type + Constant	-122.37	435	2	4	0.81	252.83	28.07	0.00	1.00
27	Temperature + Sex + Constant	-122.46	435	2	4	0.80	253.02	28.26	0.00	1.00
28	Temperature + Distance + Constant	-122.61	435	2	4	0.81	253.30	28.55	0.00	1.00
29	Temperature + FL + Constant	-122.63	435	2	4	0.81	253.36	28.60	0.00	1.00
30	Discharge + Constant	-140.87	435	1	3	0.72	287.80	63.04	0.00	1.00
31	Discharge + Mig.Type + Constant	-140.11	435	2	4	0.72	288.31	63.56	0.00	1.00
32	Discharge + FL + Constant	-140.20	435	2	4	0.71	288.50	63.74	0.00	1.00
33	Discharge + Sex + Constant	-140.73	435	2	4	0.73	289.56	64.80	0.00	1.00
34	Discharge + Distance + Constant	-140.80	435	2	4	0.72	289.70	64.94	0.00	1.00
35	Distance + Constant	-148.89	435	1	3	0.51	303.84	79.09	0.00	1.00
36	Sex + Constant	-148.92	435	1	3	0.51	303.89	79.14	0.00	1.00
37	Mig.Type + Constant	-148.92	435	1	3	0.51	303.90	79.14	0.00	1.00
38	FL + Constant	-148.94	435	1	3	0.51	303.93	79.17	0.00	1.00
39	Sex + FL + Distance + Constant	-148.84	435	3	5	0.52	307.82	83.06	0.00	1.00
40	Mig.Type + FL + Distance + Constant	-148.87	435	3	5	0.52	307.89	83.13	0.00	1.00

Table 2.10. Diagnostic summary of spawning candidate models with AICc values less than 2. Standard errors in each model were clustered by individual CCT. Fixed effect variables include: Photoperiod, a continuous measure of mean civil day length (hr); ATU, a measure of cumulative mean daily mainstem water temperature; Discharge, measure of mean mainstem discharge, and; Mig.Type, a dichotomous measure identifying mobile (1) and stationary CCT (0).

Rank	Parameter	β	SE	Z	P> z	<mark>C.I. (</mark> 2.	5, 97.5)	Odds Ratio	Log Likelihood	n	df k	χ²	Prob > χ²	Pseudo R ²	ROC	AIC _c	∆ AICc	Wi	Acc. W _i
1	ATU	0.027	0.003	8.60	0.000	0.021	0.033	1.027	-108.337	473	24	74.04	0.00	0.273	0.850	224.76	0.00	0.25	0.25
	Mig.Type	-0.781	0.347	-2.25	0.024	-1.461	-0.101	0.458											
	Constant	-9.613	1.059	-9.08	0.000	-11.688	-7.538	0.000											
2	Photoperiod	1.677	0.209	8.01	0.000	1.266	2.088	5.349	-109.165	435	24	64.2	0.00	0.267	0.852	226.42	1.66	0.11	0.36
	Mig.Type	-0.771	0.335	-2.30	0.021	-1.428	-0.114	0.463											
	Contstant	-27.116	3.310	-8.19	0.000	-33.603	-20.629	0.000											
3	ATU	0.028	0.004	7.38	0.000	0.020	0.035	1.028	-108.223	473	35	75.95	0.00	0.273	0.852	226.57	1.82	0.10	0.46
	Discharge	-0.001	0.003	-0.51	0.613	-0.007	0.004	0.999											
	Mig.Type	-0.747	0.350	-2.13	0.033	-1.432	-0.061	0.474											
	Constant	-9.710	1.099	-8.83	0.000	-11.865	-7.556	0.000											

DISCUSSION

The overwintering and spawning analyses demonstrate that both abiotic and biotic factors influence migratory behaviours of CCT. Additionally, responses to environmental stimuli appeared to differ between migration from overwintering habitat and migration to spawning areas. Spawning migrations were initiated when CCT depart from overwintering habitats and the results of this analysis demonstrated that photoperiod and fork length were the primary variables which correlate when movements occur. In contrast, the results suggest that arrival in spawning tributaries is most strongly influenced by thermal experience and migration type. Collinearity between environmental variables was a serious issue in this study and the influence of abiotic effects must be considered cautiously.

Overwinter Analysis

The overwintering analysis identified 4 top candidate models that were able to explain when CCT would depart overwintering habitats. Photoperiod, distance to spawn, fork length and discharge were identified as the most influential variables. Photoperiod was the most important variable and appeared in each of the top 4 models, however, it was strongly correlated with thermal experience and water temperature. Thus, the effect of photoperiod should be considered cautiously.

Photoperiod dominated the top models and was clearly the single abiotic variable that best predicted when CCT would move out of overwintering habitats. Models that included photoperiod consistently ranked higher (had lower AICc values) than models that did not, including when photoperiod was modelled independently. The results of this study are novel because they suggest that photoperiod was a better predictor of when CCT would

move out of overwintering habitats than other variables that have commonly been linked with migratory movements such as water temperature and discharge. Photoperiod has been shown to influence migratory behaviour by cueing physiological changes associated with sexual maturation and smolting and by promoting positive rheotaxis (Dodson and Young 1977, Duston and Bromage 1986, Duston and Saunders 1990, Björnsson et al. 1994, Martin et al. 2012). However, it is difficult to link physiological changes associated with photoperiod to the migratory behaviours that were observed. Sexual maturation is not an immediate process and will have been initiated several months before the earliest movement dates included in the analysis. Additionally, CCT moved both up and downstream from overwintering to spawning habitats suggesting that rheotaxis alone did not induce the observed migrations. Thus, if photoperiod is having a direct effect on movements out of overwintering habitats it is having an effect that has not been previously described. Additional research focusing specifically on overwintering behaviours, and which includes physiological as well as biological measures is likely to provide greater insight into this phenomenon.

Collinearity between abiotic variables is often recognized as one of the greatest factors limiting the ability to interpret environmental influences on migratory behaviours (Trepanier et al. 1996). Indeed, collinearity was a serious issue in my study. Photoperiod changes were highly correlated with temperature (r = 0.83) and even more highly correlated with thermal experience (r=0.90); a weaker, but still significant correlation was observed between photoperiod and discharge (r=0.30). A substantive argument could be made that

water temperature rather than photoperiod may have been driving the observed behaviours.

Models containing water temperature and photoperiod were of similar predictive ability, as evidenced by similar ROC values. Additionally, the steady nature by which day length increased during, and leading up to the period when movements were observed suggests that CCT responded to a threshold rather than a specific change in photoperiod. Threshold responses to day length have not been described for salmonids; however, they have been well documented in response to water temperature. In fact, water temperature is often recognized as a primary trigger initiating short duration spawning migrations among salmonids (e.g. Jensen et al. 1986, Swanberg 1997, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Svendsen et al. 2004). It is therefore a very real possibility that CCT responded to water temperature rather than photoperiod, but that the strong progressive nature of photoperiod promoted its significance within the models and resulted in photoperiod being the best predictor of movement from overwintering habitats.

Fork length was also identified as a variable that influenced the timing that CCT moved out of overwintering habitats. In my study, larger CCT initiated movements out of overwintering habitats earlier during each winter. In year 1, radio tagged CCT were significantly larger and spawned earlier than CCT in year 2, however, it is unlikely that fork length appeared in the top models due to these differences between years. Indeed, a visual examination of the data demonstrated that the relationship was clear in each year and similar size gradients have been recorded for CCT as well as other salmonids and charr. Yanusz (1997) observed a similar pattern among CCT emigrating from Sitkoh Lake to spawn

in small coastal streams of SE Alaska. Size gradients have also been described during studies of the migratory behaviours of steelhead, bull trout, brook trout and Atlantic salmon (Swanberg 1997, Curry et al. 2002, Dahl et al. 2004, McLean et al. 2005). Early arrival of larger fish may promote size assortative mating (Hanson and Smith 1967). However, more recent studies employing genetics have demonstrated that size may have less of an effect on reproductive success than previously believed (Garant et al. 2001, Seamons et al. 2004, Dickerson et al. 2005, Costello 2006). Indeed, precocious stream resident male CCT have been shown to successfully reproduce with larger, migratory female CCT (Costello 2006).

In my study, early departure from overwintering habitats did not confer earlier arrival within spawning tributaries. Radio tagged CCT that departed overwintering habitats earlier took relatively longer to enter spawning tributaries. This suggests that larger, earlier departing CCT either travelled further to spawn, and/or travelled to staging positions prior to spawning. The significant positive correlation between fork length and distance travelled to spawn (r = 0.09, p = 0.049, Table 2.3) demonstrates that larger CCT generally travelled further. The fact that the second-top overwintering model identified distance as a significant predictor of overwintering departure timing further reinforces this observation. In addition, the relocation data described in chapter 1 provides considerable evidence that CCT used staging habitats prior to spawning. Staging may be preferred by larger CCT to ensure that final movements into spawning tributaries occur under suitable stream conditions. For instance, selection of higher, more turbid flows may reduce predation during migrations (Svendsen et al. 2004 and references within). Movements out of overwintering habitats roughly coincide with the April emigration of coho and Chinook
salmon smolts (Macdonald and Shepherd 1983). It is therefore also possible that larger, presumably more piscivorous CCT move out of overwintering habitats earlier to capitalize upon this important seasonal food source prior to spawning. Finally, given that female CCT were significantly larger than males, the observed size gradient may be due to differences in the date that male and female CCT departed overwintering areas. Sex did appear in the 5th ranked overwintering model (Δ AIC_c = 2.72), however it's effect was non-significant and weakly negative suggesting that males moved earlier than females.

The second ranked overwintering model suggests that the absolute total distance CCT travelled to spawn had a significant positive effect on the likelihood that an individual would move out of an overwintering habitat. Date when fish initiate movements toward spawning areas was described in an earlier study on fall spawning bull trout. Bahr and Shrimpton (2004) found that adult bull trout initiated a directed movement earlier in the season if they were further from spawning locations. To my knowledge, my study is the first to find that distance from spawning locations was associated with timing of overwintering departure for a spring spawning salmonid. As described earlier, the relationship may be associated with larger fish overwintering in locations further from the spawning locations. Consequently, CCT travelling further to spawn are more likely to move out of overwintering habitats at an earlier date than CCT that overwintered closer to spawning habitats, a relationship observed during both years. Early departure from overwintering habitats did not confer early spawning and many CCT travelled great distances to staging habitats prior to spawning. Thus, it is likely that CCT travelling further initiated migrations earlier to be situated closer to spawning habitats in the period immediately prior to spawning. Moving

close to spawning tributaries would ensure that CCT are better able to respond to the conditions of the spawning stream and may also increase the likelihood of finding a mate, particularly if spawning populations are low.

The final parameter that appeared within the top set of overwintering models was discharge. In the two models that included discharge, it had a weakly negative effect suggesting that CCT are moving as discharge declines; the confidence intervals however were large and overlapped zero indicating that discharge had little informative power. Thus, even though discharge did appear within the top-ranking models, it's effect appears to be small. Given that the longest distance migrations were from overwintering to staging and spawning habitats a response to flow should be expected. Indeed, a visual examination of the discharge profile shows that movements out of overwintering habitats were initiated after flows began to increase in the spring. However, from overwintering habitats CCT primarily moved through the mainstem and major tributaries and it is likely that migrations through these relatively large waterbodies are possible at a wide range of flows. Evidence that CCT can complete overwintering migrations at a wide range of flows is provided by the fact that CCT completed movements out of overwintering habitats at significantly higher flows in year 2. This discrepancy between years may also explain the insignificant effect of discharge as an elevated response in one year may have been muted by a reduced response in the second year. It is also possible, however, that flows throughout the study period did not restrict movements out of overwintering habitats. Longer term datasets are likely necessary to fully understand how CCT are responding to flow.

Spawning Analysis

Three top models were identified as being able to explain when CCT would arrive in spawning tributaries. These three models identified thermal experience, migration type, photoperiod and discharge as the variables having the strongest effect on spawning migrations. As with the overwintering analysis, collinearity between thermal experience, water temperature and photoperiod require that interpretation of the effects of these variables be considered with caution.

Thermal experience appeared in 2 of the 3 top spawning models and was identified as the primary abiotic variable influencing migrations into spawning habitats. The inclusion of thermal experience in the top models indicates that CCT are more likely to move into spawning tributaries as cumulative degree-days increase. This suggests that spawn timing is influenced by prevailing environmental conditions and may explain why CCT moved into spawning habitats significantly earlier in year 1. Thermal experience is likely to affect migration timing by influencing when CCT mature. Certainly, water temperature has been shown to influence rates of sexual maturation (Hokanson et al. 1973) and warmer antecedent temperatures have been associated with early seaward migration (Holtby 1988) and spawn timing (Dahl et al. 2004). Along with photoperiod, water temperature functions to synchronize the timing of important life history events with environmental conditions (Hoar et al. 1983). For instance, changes in day length have been shown to control the timing of annual life history events, such as spawning, by initiating important physiological processes, such as gametogenesis. However, it is water temperature that controls the rate at which maturation occurs and which therefore ensures that life history events, such as

spawning, occur under favorable conditions during a given season. The fact that water temperatures were warmer and that fish spawned earlier in year 1 reinforces the likelihood that thermal experience influenced spawn timing by affecting maturation rates. Future research that applies bio-tracking technologies is required to better understand how thermal experience influences migration behaviours.

During each winter, radio tagged CCT displayed one of two overwintering behaviours. They either remained stationary within a single overwintering habitat, or were mobile and moved between multiple aggregations. Migration type appeared in the top two spawning models and was identified as the most important biological parameter for predicting when CCT would arrive in spawning tributaries. Coefficient estimates of migration type were consistently negative and of moderate strength, indicating that stationary CCT were more likely to move into spawning tributaries earlier than mobile CCT in each temporal period. Migration type appeared within each of the top spawning models, demonstrating that CCT in each behavioural group showed differing responses to thermal experience, photoperiod and discharge. This discrepancy in behavioural responses between groups adds additional support to the notion that CCT in each group are displaying unique behavioural strategies.

The mechanisms contributing to the behavioural differences between groups are not clear and require further research. However, there is evidence to suggest that physical characteristics, age, and/or life experience may have contributed to the observed behavioural differences. Stationary CCT were significantly larger and older than mobile CCT. The difference in age and size may indicate that stationary CCT were repeat spawners

and/or had greater experiential knowledge. If this is the case then the observed discrepancy in behaviours may exist along a size gradient. Further research is required to assess the perceived size gradient and to better understand how and why observed differences in behaviour exist.

Photoperiod was shown to have a significant positive effect on spawning timing within one of the three top candidate models, suggesting that the likelihood CCT will move into spawning tributaries increases with longer day length. Photoperiod has been shown to affect the timing of spawning migrations by stimulating rheotaxis and/or by cueing physiological processes related to sexual maturation. For the reasons described in the overwintering analysis, however, it is unlikely that these processes had a direct effect on the timing of CCT movement into spawning habitats. Furthermore, if photoperiod had a direct effect on the timing of spawning it should be expected that spawning movements would not differ between years. Movement times differed in this study between years and suggests that photoperiod either had a novel influence on spawning behaviours, or more likely, that the nature by which photoperiod increased throughout the study period promoted its significance within the model.

Collinearity between water temperature and photoperiod was a serious issue in this study and has been shown to greatly complicate, and limit the strength of interpretations of environmental influences on behaviour. Given the collinearity observed in this study, it cannot be ruled out that the fish may in fact be responding to changes in parameters that are associated with photoperiod, such as water temperature and thermal experience. Certainly, the importance and prevalence of thermal experience within the top model set

suggests that water temperature is having a significant effect on when CCT are arriving in spawning tributaries.

Discharge was the only parameter included in the top set of models that was not significant, suggesting that movements into spawning tributaries were not influenced by flow. A stronger response to flow was certainly expected in this study given that CCT are known to, and were observed to, spawn in the upper most accessible reaches of small first and second order tributaries. Flow may have had an insignificant effect on spawning behaviour for several reasons. First, flows in year 1 were significantly lower than in year 2 and it is possible that behavioural responses varied between years. Indeed, a visual examination of the data reveals that flows were more variable in year 2 and that CCT in that year completed migrations during high flow events. Flows during year 1, however, were more stable and the primary movement of CCT into spawning tributaries occurred between flow events. Therefore, if CCT showed a strong response in one year, but not both years, it is possible that the lack of response would reduce the significance of flow within the model.

It is also possible that flows in each year were above a threshold required to access spawning habitats. In this study, CCT were observed travelling to spawning habitats in the upper most accessible reaches of first and second order tributaries during each year. The geography of the Kitimat River may also permit CCT to move to the upper most accessible spawning habitats at a wide range of flows. In both years of the study, the majority of spawning was observed within the lower and middle reaches of the Kitimat watershed, where the valley is at its widest and accessible reaches of tributaries are relatively short, low gradient and influenced by groundwater (Macdonald and Shepherd 1983, Reese-

Hansen 2004). If flows did not restrict access to spawning habitats, then a minimal response to flow should be expected.

Finally, this study used mainstem discharge as a surrogate of flows within small tributaries. It is possible that a stronger response to flow would have been observed if flows had been measured directly within tributaries. Mainstem discharge should reflect the general behaviour of tributary flows; however, a temporal lag will certainly exist between tributary and mainstem flows. Previous research has demonstrated that responses to flows vary between years, populations and species. Given this variability, the appearance of flow within the top ranked model set should be considered to indicate that flow may have an effect on the spawning behaviours of CCT. To better understand how flow affects spawning behaviour research that applies a longer-term dataset is recommended.

Implications

The results of the overwintering and spawning analyses demonstrate that factors influencing migrations from overwintering to spawning habitats were complex and influenced by both biotic and abiotic variables. Coastal cutthroat trout are arguably the least understood species of salmonid (Trotter 2008) and the results of this study provide insight into some of the variables that appear to be structuring migratory behaviours within the Kitimat River. Previous research into the migratory behaviours of salmonids have demonstrated that responses to biotic and abiotic cues are highly variable within and among species as well as over time. Thus, the results presented in this study should be regarded as a point of reference and are not likely to reflect range wide trends for the subspecies.

In addition to the metrics that were included in this analysis, strong correlations are likely to exist among unmeasured/unmodeled environmental variables which may influence movement. Movement studies often focus upon flow and temperature while ignoring covariates that may also have a strong influence on movement (Trepanier et al. 1996). For instance, rising flows generally increase turbidity which may reduce predation during spawning migrations (Gregory and Levings 1998). Additionally, flows may promote movement towards foraging habitats if they increase invertebrate drift (Romero et al. 2005), or to off-channel cover habitats if they are suitably high (Harper and Farag 2004). Thus, although these factors were not assessed in my study, it is possible that they too may have influenced behaviours.

Due to the collinearity among environmental parameters the results of this analysis should not be considered to reflect cause and effect. This should not be implied to underscore the presented results but rather to ensure that they are interpreted with caution and an understanding that changes in modelled environmental parameters will influence a variety of additional unmodeled environmental metrics. Thus, changes in day length stimulate migratory behaviours of CCT in the Kitimat River, but migration may or may not be in direct response to photoperiod.

EPILOGUE

Coastal cutthroat trout are not fished commercially and the recreational fishery for the subspecies is limited, relative to other Pacific salmonids. As a result, there has been minimal systematic research into their ecology and behaviour. All too often, stream-specific information is anecdotal or has been collected indirectly during studies of other species (e.g. McCubbing 2002). The diverse array of habitats occupied by coastal cutthroat trout and the varied life history strategies displayed by the subspecies have added to the challenges in extrapolating range-wide trends. For these reasons, watershed-specific, or at least regional evaluations of CCT are required to assess and manage stocks appropriately. This is particularly important in British Columbia, which contains the majority of the species native range. To date, however, the research on the migration patterns and movement behaviours has occurred overwhelmingly at the extremities of the subspecies range (specifically, in Washington, Oregon and Alaska).

Patterns of trophic migrations, however, found for other species of salmonids may be applicable to CCT. As individual fish move through different life history stages they are not only capable of, but also require, access to different types of habitats and food sources. The movement patterns exhibited by salmonids can, therefore, be considered as variations on a theme that ensures the successful linking of spawning and rearing habitats with areas for feeding and overwintering. Northcote's (1997b) migratory/residency spectrum model, for example, provides a functional description of general migratory behaviours that may be applied to CCT from all life history strategies and suggests that CCT migrate between feeding, wintering and spawning habitats to meet their foraging, refuge and reproductive

requirements. The movements and behaviours observed throughout this study fit within the migratory/residency spectrum model developed by Northcote (1997b). Refuge migrations were completed in the fall when CCT moved from mainstem and estuarine foraging habitats to overwintering habitats. In the spring, reproductive migrations from overwintering to spawning habitats were followed by trophic migrations to mainstem and estuary foraging habitats. Although Northcote's model provides a functional overview of general movement patterns, it is unable to account for the complexity and diversity of individual trout movement.

Behaviours observed in this study can be generally characterized as either synchronous movements within the population, or individual movements. Synchronized behaviours fit within Northcote's model and were associated with life history events, occurring when tagged CCT exhibited movements of similar purpose, magnitude and timing. Synchronized movements were most apparent in the spring when CCT moved from overwintering habitats to spawn, and from spawning tributaries to the estuary. In contrast, individual movements cannot be accounted for by Northcote's model, and may be opportunistic or responsive to environmental cues. Individual movements were most apparent throughout the winter, by mobile CCT that made frequent up- and downstream movements. The duration of time that CCT spent in marine environments and the timing that they returned to fresh water was also individual, varying considerably among sea-run CCT.

Distinguishing between synchronous and individual behaviours is important. Understanding the factors influencing individual behaviours will contribute to our

understanding of whether the inherent individuality of CCT is a product of, or reason for, the species' unique and diverse life history behaviours. Movement studies, however, that focus on ecologically sensitive time periods, when movements are often synchronized, are more likely to identify significant biological relationships (Tetzlaff et al. 2005). It is recommended, therefore, that future research on CCT focus on synchronized, life history associated behaviours as they are most likely to be predictable and consistent among populations. Once our understanding of the factors shaping the basic life history behaviours of CCT are better understood it is likely that the stimuli influencing individual behaviours will become clearer.

Recent evidence suggesting that individuals may switch between migratory strategies in response to variable environmental conditions has led Johnson et al. (2010) to suggest that there may be a certain degree of phenotypic plasticity associated with life history form. These authors have proposed that sympatric populations of migratory and stream resident CCT may exist along a life history continuum rather than in fixed, predetermined states. A flexible life history strategy that has permitted individuals to modify their behaviours in response to environmental stochasticity may act to increase the resiliency of CCT populations and may have contributed to the diverse array of habitats they are currently found within (Northcote 1997b).

My research has provided evidence that CCT can, and do, shift behavioural strategies. Indeed, a portion of CCT tracked throughout both winters displayed stationary behaviours in year 1 and mobile behaviours in year 2. Though limited in number, the behavioural shift between years was clear and is further supported by the significant

difference in the relative proportion of CCT displaying stationary and mobile behaviours in each year. Certainly, Westslope cutthroat trout have been documented to display similar stationary and mobile overwinter behaviours which may indicate that these strategies are more common than has been previously recognized (Brown 1999). In my study, stationary CCT were significantly larger than mobile CCT. It is unlikely however, that size was the primary factor structuring the proportion of CCT displaying each overwintering strategy given that relatively larger year 1 stationary CCT were observed to display mobile behaviours in year 2. Thus, it was more likely that environmental conditions, or some other external stimuli (i.e. environmental, or competition/resource related) influenced overwinter behaviours. To better understand the prevalence of stationary and migratory winter behavioural strategies, and to gain insight into the factors that may stimulate shifts between strategies will require additional research. The observed shift and change in proportion of CCT that displayed different behaviours in each year, however, suggest that these strategies are plastic, rather than fixed traits.

It is likely that the wandering, individual nature of CCT may have influenced the subspecies current distribution, and likely facilitated use of the full range of available habitats within a watershed. The recolonization of previously inaccessible habitats was directly observed in my study. Indeed, multiple CCT were observed spawning upstream of a highway crossing that had recently been modified to permit fish passage. Additionally, spawning within multiple streams occurred within 100 m of impassable barriers suggesting that CCT were moving as far upstream as physically possible. These observations demonstrate the benefits that will be realized by management activities that aim to

maximize habitat availability. Indeed, Magee et al. (1996) report that cutthroat trout redd density is correlated with the quantity and quality of spawning habitats. Effective population size is an indicator of resiliency to stochastic events (Newman and Pilson 1997). A strong positive correlation between available spawning area and effective population size in Chinook salmon (*O. tshawytscha*) was reported by Shrimpton and Heath (2003). These findings demonstrate the benefits that will be realized by management activities that aim to maximize available habitat for spawning.

Conservation Concerns

The exposure of CCT to recreational fisheries in the Kitimat watershed is a conservation concern. Arguably, CCT are most vulnerable to angling throughout the winter, when aggregated in overwintering habitats. Salmon and steelhead bait fisheries, however, also pose considerable risk to CCT. Bait fisheries for CCT have been associated with high mortality due to "deep hooking" (Mongillo 1984, Pauley and Thomas 1993, Gresswell and Harding 1997) and incidental mortality was observed during this study when artificially scented plastic worms were used as bait. Deep hooking was observed when angling with roe; however, it was less frequent and no mortalities were directly attributed to the use of roe. To reduce mortality associated with "deep hooking" the use of artificial plastic worms is discouraged. Relative to bait, angling by lure and fly should reduce capture rates and mortality of CCT (Schisler and Bergersen 1996). Additional research (i.e. angler surveys) is recommended to quantify the exposure of CCT to recreational fisheries and assess the risks to CCT associated with varying angling methods.

As with other species, CCT continue to feed throughout the winter and are particularly vulnerable to angling as they aggregate within deep, slow moving pools (Cunjak and Power 1987, White and Harvey 2007). Habitats with these characteristics are few and far between within the Kitimat watershed. Thus, CCT aggregated in the same locations during both winters and occupied all habitats with these characteristics. Of concern, however, is the fact that these overwintering habitats are known, readily accessible and frequently targeted by anglers. Thus, the seasonal dependence on these habitats has indirectly increased angling pressure and efficiency. Presumably, CCT aggregate in overwintering habitats to mitigate the stresses associated with winter environmental conditions. However, capture by hook and line is a physiologically stressful event (Ferguson and Tufts 1992, Bartholomew and Bohnsack 2005) and CCT that remain in aggregations are likely to be captured more than once in a single winter (personal observation). Angling activities that increase stress to aggregated CCT therefore diminish the functionality of overwintering habitats to provide refuge. It is also possible that angling has affected behaviours and that mobile CCT move between habitats in response to, or to escape from angling.

Angling pressure on overwintering CCT is likely to vary with environmental conditions. Relatively warm winters may increase angling pressure on CCT as ice cover will be minimal and feeding rates will be elevated. Conversely, cooler winters may decrease angling success due to the combination of reduced feeding rates and increased ice cover, although evidence of ice fishing was apparent at multiple overwintering habitats used by CCT. Thus, uncharacteristically warm winters may warrant consideration of additional

angling regulations specific to CCT. The relative ease at which aggregated CCT are captured is attractive, particularly to new anglers. Conversations with recreational anglers targeting overwintering CCT indicated that catching multiple CCT in an area over a short period contributed to the belief that Kitimat River CCT were abundant. The status of CCT populations in the Kitimat River, however, is unknown; this false assumption may promote illegal harvesting of CCT (personal observation). Tools that increase awareness of CCT behaviours and promote self-regulation of harvesting guidelines are recommended as a means of mitigating the potential for illegal harvesting of overwintering CCT.

The steelhead fishery in the Kitimat River runs from late March to mid-May and is primarily concentrated in the mainstem of the Kitimat River and the 3 largest tributaries (Hirsch Creek, Big Wedeene and Little Wedeene). Angling was not conducted during the steelhead fishery and anecdotal information on exposure to, and rates of, bycatch are limited. Mobile tracking occurred frequently during the steelhead fishery and demonstrated that CCT were concentrated in the lower and middle sections of the river. Given that steelhead frequently targeted in this area, it is likely that CCT are also often captured. The steelhead fishery directly coincides with the CCT spawning period and CCT may be removed from the population in critical spawning tributaries (excluding CCT staging in the mainstem and accessible reaches of the 3 largest tributaries). Fluvial CCT are perhaps more exposed to the fishery than sea-run CCT which moved directly towards the estuary after spawning. Thermal experience was identified as a key variable influencing the timing that CCT arrived within spawning tributaries. Thus, exposure to the steelhead fishery may be elevated during warmer years if fluvial CCT spawn and return to the mainstem earlier. Relative to gear that

is used during the salmon fishery, angling equipment used for steelhead is typically smaller and more appropriate to CCT. Relative to the salmon fishery, the use of bait in the steelhead fishery is likely to increase incidental mortality of CCT due to the smaller size of hooks that are used.

Research Limitations

Aerial tracking flights were conducted infrequently during the salmon fishery and radio tagged fish provided limited insight into the behaviours of CCT in the late summer and fall. Sampling, however, was conducted extensively during the salmon fishery and demonstrated that CCT were widely distributed throughout the watershed. Although bycatch data was not formally collected from recreational salmon anglers, anglers were frequently questioned about CCT and conversations suggest, anecdotally, that CCT were captured as by-catch but that capture rates were relatively low. Sampling data corroborates this assertion, catch-per-unit-effort (CPUE) was relatively low despite using gear, and targeting habitats, specific to CCT. Thus, it is likely that CPUE of anglers targeting salmon will be further reduced given that they are using larger gear and targeting habitats specific to salmon (though habitat often overlaps, particularly with coho salmon). However, these findings should be interpreted with caution. Despite the reduced CPUE, the salmon fishery is the most popular recreational fishery on the Kitimat River and the sheer volume of recreational anglers in the watershed at this time suggests that a disproportionately large number of CCT are likely to be captured as bycatch.

The status of the Kitimat River CCT population is unknown, and stock assessment activities have been limited by a general lack of knowledge of the timing and location of

spawning in the watershed. In my study, radio tagged CCT spawned throughout the lower, middle and upper watershed in April and May. Table A2.4 summarizes the location and timing that radio tagged CCT spawned and should be consulted if stock assessment activities are considered in the Kitimat River watershed. Spawn timing differed between years and thermal experience was identified as a significant predictor of spawn timing. Thus, assessment programs should consider seasonal environmental conditions when defining monitor timing as warmer winters may stimulate CCT to spawn earlier.

Tracking studies, however, assume that tagged individuals will display behaviours that are representative of the greater population (Ramstad and Woody 2003). The surgical implantation of radio transmitters is an invasive procedure and may affect fish behaviour. Once CCT were tagged, the likelihood of recapturing, resampling, or even directly observing an individual was low and there was little opportunity to assess the condition of tagged fish. One advantage of surgical implantation is that deleterious effects of tagging should be observed within a relatively short period (i.e. wounds will heal, or if, infected will likely cause mortality). Thus, the likelihood that tagging affected behaviour should have decreased with time. In my research, radio tagged CCT spawned 3.5 to 8 months after tagging and it was therefore assumed that CCT that survived to spawn were not harmed by the surgical procedure and that their behaviours were representative of the greater population.

Coastal cutthroat trout are often characterized by their ability to adapt to local environments. Likely, this adaptation has contributed to the diverse array of habitats and behaviours exhibited by CCT. The variety of behavioural responses that local adaptation has

facilitated, however, hamper our ability as researchers and fisheries biologists, to predict how CCT populations will behave. While broad generalizations can be made, watershed scale research is necessary to understand even basic biological processes. The findings presented in my research will contribute to our ability to make broad generalizations about the species, however specifics, such as the timing of spawning and responses to environmental stimuli should be expected to vary among CCT populations.

Given how little we truly know about CCT, and how vulnerable the species appears to be to overharvesting and habitat degradation it is essential that fisheries managers err on the side of caution when considering future developments that may affect CCT habitat and fisheries regulations that may promote harvesting. This is particularly true for Northwest BC, which is being rapidly developed and likely contains many of the last remaining populations of wild, healthy CCT populations.

My research examined seasonal behaviours of CCT at a scale and scope that had not been completed previously. However, additional research is required to substantiate these findings. Given the metapopulation structure of CCT populations and the seemingly flexible migratory behaviours they exhibit, behaviours should be expected to vary among populations (Wenburg and Bentzen 2001, Costello 2006, Johnson et al. 2010). Thus, our understanding of CCT and factors shaping the subspecies behaviours will improve as more studies are conducted throughout the subspecies' range. Specific recommendations for future research were presented in the discussions of chapters 1 and 2. It is recommended, however, that future studies examining CCT behaviours focus upon life history events as they are most likely to be synchronized, structured and therefore predictable.

REFERENCES

- Adams, N., Beeman, J., and Eiler, J.H. (Editors). 2012. Telemetry Techniques: A User Guide for Fisheries Research. Am. Fish Soc., Bethesda, MD.
- Alabaster, J.S. 1990. The temperature requirements of adult Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., during their upstream migration in the River Dee. J. Fish Biol. 37: 659–661.
- Albanese, B., Angermeier, P.L., and Dorai-raj, S. 2004. Ecological correlates of fish movement in a network of Virginia streams. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 61(1): 857–869.
- Alexiades, A. V., Peacock, M.M., and Al-Chokhachy, R. 2012. Movement Patterns, Habitat Use, and Survival of Lahontan Cutthroat Trout in the Truckee River. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 32(5): 974–983.
- Bahr, M.A., and Shrimpton, J.M. 2004. Spatial and quantitative patterns of movement in large bull trout (*Salvelinus confluentus*) from a watershed in north-western British Columbia, Canada, are due to habitat selection and not differences in life history. Ecol. Freshw. Fish 13(4): 294–304.
- Banks, J.W. 1969. A Review of the Literature on the Upstream Migration of Adult Salmonids. J. Fish Biol. 1(1969): 85–136.
- Bartholomew, A., and Bohnsack, J. A. 2005. A Review of Catch-and-Release Angling Mortality with Implications for No-take Reserves. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 15(1–2): 129– 154.
- Beacham, T.D., and Murray, C.B. 1993. Fecundity and egg size variation in North American Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus*). J. Fish Biol. 42(1): 485–508.
- Behnke, R.J. 1992. Native trout of western North America. In Monograph. Am. Fish Soc., Bethesda, MD.
- Belisle, M. 1986. Measuring landscape connectivity: the challenge of behavioral landscape ecology. Ecology 86(1): 1988–1995.
- Bendall, B., Moore, A., Maxwell, D., Davison, P., Edmonds, N., Archer, D., Solomon, D., Greest, V., Wyatt, R., and Broad, K. 2012. Modelling the migratory behaviour of salmonids relation to environmental and physiological parameters using telemetry data. Fish. Manag. Ecol. 19(6): 475–483.

- Bennett, S.S., Al-Chokhachy, R., Roper, B.B., and Budy, P. 2014. Annual Variation of Spawning Cutthroat Trout in a Small Western USA Stream: A Case Study with Implications for the Conservation of Potamodromous Trout Life History Diversity. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 34(5): 1033–1046.
- van den Berghe, E.P., and Gross, M.R. 1989. Natural Selection Resulting from Female
 Breeding Competition in a Pacific Salmon (Coho: *Oncorhynchus kisutch*). Evolution
 (N. Y). 43(1): 125–140.
- Bilby, R.E., Fransen, B.R., and Bisson, P.A. 1996. Incorporation of nitrogen and carbon from spawning coho salmon into the trophic system of small streams: evidence from stable isotopes. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53(1): 164–173.
- Binder, T.R., Cooke, S.J., and Hinch, S.G. 2011. The Biology of Fish Migration. In Encyclopedia of Fish Physiology: From Genome to Environment. Academic Press. pp. 1921–1927.
- Björnsson, B.T., Taranger, G.L., Hansen, T., Stefansson, S.O., and Haux, C. 1994. The interrelation between photoperiod, growth hormone, and sexual maturation of adult Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*).
- Bohonak, A.J. 1999. Dispersal, gene flow and population structure. Q. Rev. Biol. 74(1): 21– 45.
- Boss, S.M. 1999. Summer resource limitation and over winter movement and survival of stream resident Coastal Cutthroat Trout. UBC.
- Bradshaw, W.E., and Holzapfel, C.M. 2007. Evolution of Animal Photoperiodism. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst. 38(1): 1–25.
- Brenkman, S.J., Pess, G.R., Torgersen, C.E., Kloehn, K.K., Duda, J.J., and Corbett, S.C. 2008. Predicting recolonization patterns and interactions between potamodromous and anadromous salmonids in response to dam removal in the Elwha River, Washington State, USA. Northwest Sci. 82(1): 91–106.
- Brett, J.R. 1971. Energetic Responses of Salmon to Temperature. A Study of Some Thermal Relations in the Physiology and Freshwater Ecology of Sockeye Salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*). J. Fish. Res. Board Canada Biol. Stn. 11: 99–113.

- Brönmark, C., Hulthén, K., Nilsson, P.A., Skov, C., Hansson, L.-A., Brodersen, J., and
 Chapman, B.B. 2014. There and back again: migration in freshwater fishes. Can. J.
 Zool. 92(6): 467–479.
- Brown, R.S. 1994. Spawning and overwintering movements and habitat use by cutthroat trout in the Ram River Alberta. University of Alberta.
- Brown, R.S. 1999. Fall and early winter movements of cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii*), in relation to water temperature and ice conditions in Dutch Creek, Alberta.
 Environ. Biol. Fishes 55(1): 359–368.
- Brown, R.S., Hubert, W.A., and Daly, S.F. 2011. A Primer on Winter, Ice and Fish: What Fisheries Biologist Should Know about Winter Ice Processes and Stream-Dwelling Fish. Fisheries 36(1): 8–26.
- Brown, R.S., and Mackay, W.C. 1995a. Spawning ecology of cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii*) in the Ram River, Alberta. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52(1): 983–992.
- Brown, R.S., and Mackay, W.C. 1995c. Spawning and overwintering movements and habitat use by cutthroat trout in the Ram River Alberta. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 52(1): 983– 992.
- Brown, R.S., Stanislawski, S.S., and Mackay, W.C. 1993. Effects of frazil ice on fish. In
 Proceedings of the Workshop on Environmental Aspects of River Ice. Edited by T.D.
 Prowese. National Hydrology Research Institute Series No. 12, Saskatoon,
 Saskatchewan. pp. 261–278.
- Brunsfeld, S., Sullivan, J., Soltis, D., and Soltis, P. 2001. Comparative phylogeography of northwestern North America: a synthesis. In Integrating Ecological and Evolutionary Processes in a Spatial Context. Edited by J. Silvertown and J. Antonovics. Blackwell Science, Oxford. pp. 319–339.
- Bryant, M.D., Lukey, M.D., Mcdonell, J.P., Gubernick, R.S., Aho, R.S., M. D. Bryant, M. D.
 Lukey, J. P. McDonell, R. A. Gubernick, and R. S. Aho. 2009. Seasonal Movement of
 Dolly Varden and Cutthroat Trout with Respect to Stream Discharge in a SecondOrder Stream in Southeast Alaska. North Am. J. Fish. 29(1): 1728–1742.

- Budy, P., Wood, S., and Roper, B. 2012. A study of the spawning ecology and early life
 history survival of Bonneville Cutthroat Trout. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 32(3): 436–
 449.
- Buehrens, T.W. 2011. Growth, Movement, Survival and Spawning Habitat of Coastal Cutthroat Trout. University of Washington.
- Buehrens, T.W., Glasgow, J., Ostberg, C.O., and Quinn, T.P. 2013. Spatial segregation of spawning habitat limits hybridization between sympatric native steelhead and coastal cutthroat trout. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 142(1): 221–233.
- Burnham, K.P., and Anderson, D.R. 2002. Model selection and multimodel inference: a practical information-theoretic approach. In 2nd edition. Springer, New York.
- Bustard, D.R. 1970. Some aspects of the winter ecology of juvenile salmonids with reference to possible habitat alteration by logging in Carnation Creek, Vancouver Island. University of British Columbia.
- Bustard, D.R., and Narver, D.W. 1975a. Aspects of Winter Ecology of Juvenile Coho Salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) and Steelhead Trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). J. Fish. Res. Board Canada 32: 667–680.
- Bustard, D.R., and Narver, D.W. 1975b. Preferences of juvenile coho salmon and cutthroat trout relative to stimulated alteration of winter habitat. J. Fish. Res. Board Canada 32: 681–687.
- Cagnacci, F., Boitani, L., Powell, R. a, and Boyce, M.S. 2010. Animal ecology meets GPS-based radiotelemetry: a perfect storm of opportunities and challenges. Philos. Trans.
 R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 365(1550): 2157–62.
- Carrillo, M., Bromage, N., Zanus, S., Serrano, R., and Prat, F. 1989. The Effect of Modifications in Photoperiod on Spawning Time, Ovarian Development and Egg Quality in the Sea Bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax* L.). Aquaculture 81: 351–365.
- Chezik, K.A., Lester, N.P., and Venturelli, P.A. 2014. Fish growth and degree-days I: selecting a base temperature for a within-population study. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 71(1): 47– 55.

- Clark, R.W., Henderson-Arzapalo, A., and Sullivan, C. V. 2005. Disparate effects of constant and annually-cycling daylength and water temperature on reproductive maturation of striped bass (*Morone saxatilis*). Aquaculture 249(1–4): 497–513.
- Colyer, W.T., Kershner, J.L., and Hilderbrand, R.H. 2005. Movements of Fluvial Bonneville Cutthroat Trout in the Thomas Fork of the Bear River, Idaho–Wyoming. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 25(3): 954–963.
- Connolly, P.J., Williams, T.H., and Gresswell, R.E. 2005. 2005 Coastal Cutthroat Trout Symposium: Status, Management, Biology and Conservation. Am. Fish. Soceity: 186. Oregon Chapter, Am. Fish Soc., Portland, OR.
- Costello, A.B. 2006. The origin and maintenance of genetic variation in small populations -Coastal Cutthroat trout as a model system. UBC.
- Costello, A.B. 2008. The status of coastal cutthroat trout in British Columbia. In Am. Fish Soc.. pp. 24–36.
- Costello, A.B., and Rubidge, E. 2005. COSEWIC Status Report on Coastal Cutthroat Trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii*). Draft Report. Ottawa, Canada.
- Cunjak, R.A., and Power, G. 1987. The feeding and energetics of stream-resident trout in winter. J. Fish Biol. 31(4): 493–511.
- Curry, R.A., Sparks, D., and van de Sande, J. 2002. Spatial and temporal movements of a riverine brook trout population. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 131(3): 551–560.
- Dahl, J., Dannewitz, J., Karlsson, L., Petersson, E., Löf, A., and Ragnarsson, B. 2004. The timing of spawning migration: implications of environmental variation, life history, and sex. Can. J. Zool. 82(12): 1864–1870.
- DeRito, J.N., Zale, A. V., and Shepard, B.B. 2010. Temporal Reproductive Separation of Fluvial Yellowstone Cutthroat Trout from Rainbow Trout and Hybrids in the Yellowstone River. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 30(4): 866–886.
- Dickerson, B.R., Brinck, K.W., Willson, M.F., Bentzen, P., and Quinn, T.P. 2005. Relative Importance of Salmon Body Size and Arrival Time at Breeding Grounds to Reproductive Success. Ecology 86(2): 347–352.

- Dittman, A.H., and Quinn, T.P. 1996. Homing in Pacific salmon: mechanisms and ecological basis. J. Exp. Biol. 199(1): 83–91.
- Dodson, J.J., and Young, J.C. 1977. Temperature and photoperiod regulation of rheotropic behaviour in prespawning common shiners, *Notropis cornutus*. J. Fish. Res. Board Canada 34(3): 341–346.
- Donaldson, M.R., Arlinghaus, R., Hanson, K.C., and Cooke, S.J. 2008. Enhancing catch-andrelease science with biotelemetry. Fish and Fisheries. 9(1): 79–105.
- Downs, C.C., White, R.G., and Shepard, B.B. 1997. Age at sexual maturity, sex ratio, fecundity, and longevity of isolated headwater populations of Westslope Cutthroat Trout. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 17(1): 85–92.
- Duffy, E.J., and Beauchamp, D.A. 2008. Seasonal Patterns of Predation on Juvenile Pacific Salmon by Anadromous Cutthroat Trout in Puget Sound. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 137(1): 165–181.
- Duston, J., and Bromage, N. 1986. Photoperiodic mechanisms and rhythms of reproduction in the female rainbow trout. Fish Physiol. Biochem. 2(1): 35–51.
- Duston, J., and Saunders, R.L. 1990. The entrainment role of photoperiod on hypoosmoregulatory and growth-related aspects of smolting in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Can. J. Zool. 68(4): 707–715.
- Enders, E.C., Stickler, M., Pennell, C.J., Cote, D., Alfredsen, K., and Scruton, D.A. 2008. Variations in distribution and mobility of Atlantic salmon parr during winter in a small, steep river. Hydrobiologia 609(1): 37–44.
- Erkinaro, J., Okland, F., Moen, K., Niemela, E., and Rahiala, M. 1999. Return migration of Atlantic salmon in the River Tana: the role of environmental factors. J. Fish Biol. 55(1): 506–516.
- Farrell, A.P. 2002. Cardiorespiratory performance in salmonids during exercise at high temperature: Insights into cardiovascular design limitations in fishes. Comp.
 Biochem. Physiol. A Mol. Integr. Physiol. 132(4): 797–810.

- Ferguson, R.A., and Tufts, B.L. 1992. Physiological effects of brief air exposure in exhaustively exercised rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*): implications for "catch and release" fisheries. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 49(September): 1157–1162.
- Fisheries and Oceans Canada. 2009. Kitimat River Hatchery Background Information. Available from http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/sep-pmvs/projectsprojets/kitimat/bg-rb-eng.htm.
- Fleming, I.A. 1996. Reproductive strategies of Atlantic salmon: ecology and evolution. Fish. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 6(1): 349–416.
- Foster, M.B. 2003. Maturity, fecundity, growth, and sustained yield of coastal cutthroat trout at Florence Lake, Southeast Alaska. University of Alaska Fairbanks.
- Fraser, D.J., Weir, L.K., Bernatchez, L., Hansen, M.M., and Taylor, E.B. 2011. Extent and scale of local adaptation in salmonid fishes: review and meta-analysis. Heredity 106(3): 404–20.
- Friesen, T.A. 2005. Biology, Behavior, and Resources of Resident and Anadromous Fish in the Lower Willamette River. Portland.
- Garant, D., Dodson, J.J., and Bernatchez, L. 2001. A Genetic Evaluation of Mating System
 and Determinants of Individual Reproductive Success in Atlantic Salmon (*Salmo salar*L.). J. Hered. 92(2): 137–145.
- Garcia de Leaniz, C., Fleming, I.A., Einum, S., Verspoor, E., Jordan, W.C., Consuegra, S., Aubin-Horth, N., Lajus, D., Letcher, B.H., Youngson, A.F., Webb, J.H., Vøllestad, L. a, Villanueva, B., Ferguson, A., and Quinn, T.P. 2007. A critical review of adaptive genetic variation in Atlantic salmon: implications for conservation. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 82(2): 173–211.
- Garrett, A.M. 1998. Interstream movements of coastal cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii*) in the Clearwater River, Jefferson County, Washington. The Evergreen State College, Olympia WA.
- Giger, R.D. 1972. Ecology and Management of Coastal Cutthroat Trout in Oregon. Oregon State Game Commission.

- Gregory, J.S., Emery, A.M., and Derito, J.N. 2011. Survival and movement of adult rainbow trout during winter and spring in the Henrys Fork of the Snake River. Int. J. Sci. 17(1–4): 1–13.
- Gregory, R.S., and Levings, C.D. 1998. Turbidity Reduces Predation on Migrating Juvenile Pacific Salmon. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 127(2): 275–285.
- Gresswell, R.E., and Harding, R.D. 1997. Role of special angling regulations in management of Coastal Cutthroat Trout. Am. Fish. Soc. (Sea-Run Cutthroat Trout: Biology, Management, and Future Conservation): 151–156.
- Gresswell, R.E., and Hendricks, S.R. 2007. Population-Scale Movement of Coastal Cutthroat Trout in a Naturally Isolated Stream Network. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 136(1): 238–253.
- Gresswell, R.E., Liss, W.J., Larson, G.L., and Bartlein, P.J. 1997. Influence of basin scale properties on life history characteristics of west slope cutthroat in Yellowstone lake. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 17(1): 1046–1064.
- Hanley, A.J., and McNeil, J.B. 1982. The Meaning and Use of the Area under a Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) Curve. Radiology 143: 29–36.

Hanski, I. 1999. Metapopulation Ecology. Oxford University Press, Oxford, USA.

- Hanski, I., and Gaggiotti, O.E. 2004. Ecology, genetics, and evolution of metapopulations. Elsevier, Burlington, MA.
- Hanson, A.J., and Smith, H.D. 1967. Mate selection in a population of sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus* nerka) of mixed age-groups. J. Fish. Res. Board Canada 24: 1955– 1977.
- Harper, D.D., and Farag, A.M. 2004. Winter Habitat Use by Cutthroat Trout in the Snake River near Jackson, Wyoming. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. (133): 15–25.
- Harvey, B.C., Nakamoto, R.J., and White, J.L. 1999. Influence of large woody debris and a bankfull flood on movement of adult resident coastal cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii*) during fall and winter. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56(1): 2161–2166.
- Harwood, A.J., Metcalfe, N.B., Armstrong, J.D., and Griffiths, S.W. 2001. Spatial and temporal effects of interspecific competition between Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) and brown trout (Salmo trutta) in winter. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58(6): 1133–1140.

- Heggenes, J., Northcote, T.G., and Peter, A. 1991. Seasonal Habitat Selection and
 Preferences by Cutthroat Trout in a small coastal stream. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.
 48(1): 1364–1370.
- High, B., Peery, C.A., and Bennett, D.H. 2011. Temporary Staging of Columbia River Summer Steelhead in Coolwater Areas and Its Effect on Migration Rates. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 135(2): 519–528.
- Hoar, W.S. 1988. The Physiology of Smolting Salmonids. In Fish Physiology. Edited by W.S. Hoar and D. Randall. Academic Press, New York. pp. 275–343.
- Hoar, W.S., Randall, D.J., and Donaldson, E.M. (Editors). 1983. Fish Physiology, vIX: Reproduction. Academic Press, New York.
- Hokanson, K.E.F., McCormick, J.H., Jones, B.R., and Tucker, J.H. 1973. Thermal requirements for maturation, spawning, and embryo survival of the brook trout, *Salvelinus fontinalis*. J. Fish. Res. Board Canada 30(1957): 975–984.
- Holtby, L.B. 1988. Effects of logging on stream temperatures in Carnation Creek, British
 Columbia, and associated impacts on the Coho Salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*). Can.
 J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 45(3): 502–515.
- Homel, K.M., Gresswell, R.E., and Kershner, J.L. 2015. Life History Diversity of Snake River
 Finespotted Cutthroat Trout: Managing for Persistence in a Rapidly Changing
 Environment. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 35(4): 789–801.
- Hudson, J.M., Johnson, J.R., Hogle, J., Brunzell, J., and Zydlewski, J. 2008. Adult Coastal
 Cutthroat Trout Movement and Habitat Use in the Lower Columbia River. In The
 2005 Coastal Cutthroat Trout Symposium: Status, Management. Biology, and
 Conservation. Edited by P.J. Connolly, T.H. Williams, and R.E. Gresswell. Oregon
 Chapter, Am. Fish Soc., Portland, OR. pp. 75–76.
- Huusko, A., Greenberg, L., Stickler, M., Linnansaari, T., and Nyka, M. 2007. Life in the ice lane: the winter ecology of stream salmonids. River Res. Appl. 23: 469–491.
- Huusko, A., Vehanen, T., and Stickler, M. 2013. Salmonid habitats in riverine winter conditions with ice. Ecohydraulics An Integr. Approach: 177–192.

- Jakober, M.J., McMahon, T.E., Thurow, R.F., Clancy, C.G. 1998. Role of Stream Ice on Fall and Winter Movements and Habitat Use by Bull Trout and Cutthroat Trout in Montana Headwater Streams. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 127(1): 223–235.
- Jensen, A.J., Heggberget, T.G.H., and Johnsen, B.O. 1986. Upstream migration of adult Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar* L., in the River Vefsna, northern Norway. J. Fish Biol. 29: 459–465.
- Johnson, J.R., Baumsteiger, J., Zydlewski, J., Hudson, J.M., and Ardren, W. 2010. Evidence of panmixia between sympatric life history forms of coastal cutthroat trout in two lower Columbia River tributaries. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 30(3): 691–701.
- Johnson, O.W., Ruckelshaus, M.H., Grant, W.S., Waknitz, W., Garrett, A.M., Bryant, G.J., and Hard, J.J. 1999. Status Review of Coastal Cutthroat Trout from Washington, Oregon, and California. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NWFSC- 37.
- Johnson, O.W., Waples, R.S., Wainwright, K.G., Neely, F.W., Waknitz, W., and Parker, L.T. 1994. Status Review for Oregon's Umpqua River Sea-Run Cutthroat Trout. U.S. Dep. Commer. NOAA Tech.: 122. U.S. Dep. Commer., NOAA Tech. Mem. NMDS-NWFSC-15.
- Johnston, J.M. 1981. Life histories of anadromous cutthroat trout with emphasis on migratory behaviour. In Proceedings of the Salmon and Trout Migratory Behaviour Symposium. Edited by E.L. Brannon and E.O. Salo. pp. 123–128.
- Jones, D.E. 1975. Steelhead and sea-run cutthroat trout life history study in Southeast Alaska.
- Jones, D.S., Fleming, I.A., Mclaughlin, L.K., and Jones, K.K. 2008. Feeding Ecology of Cutthroat Trout in the Salmon River Estuary, Oregon. In The 2005 Coastal Cutthroat Trout Symposium: Status, Management. Biology, and Conservation. Edited by P.J. Connolly, T.H. Williams, and R.E. Gresswell. Oregon Chapter of the Am. Fish Soc., Portland, OR. pp. 144–151.
- Jones, J.D., and Harding, R.D. 1998. Juneau Roadside Cutthroat Trout Studies: Windfall Creek Weir and Windfall Lake, 1997. Alaska Dep. Fish Game (Fishery Data Series No. 98-94): Anchorage, AK.

- Jones, J.D., and Yanusz, R.J. 1998. Distribution of Mature Sea-run Cutthroat Trout from Sitkoh Creek, Alaska in 1996. In Alaska Department of Fish and Game.
- Jones, M.S., and Rogers, K.B. 1998. Palmetto Bass Movements and Habitat Use in a Fluctuating Colorado Irrigation Reservoir. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 18(3): 640–648.
- Jonsson, B., and Jonsson, N. 1993. Partial migration niche shift versus sexual maturation in fishes. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 3(1): 348–365.
- Jonsson, B., and Jonsson, N. 2009. A review of the likely effects of climate change on anadromous Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* and brown trout *Salmo trutta*, with particular reference to water temperature and flow. J. Fish Biol. 75(10): 2381–2447.
- Jonsson, N. 1991. Influence of water flow, water temperature and light on fish migration in rivers. Nord. J. Freshw. Res. 66: 20–35.
- Jonsson, N., and Jonsson, B. 2002. Migration of anadromous brown trout *Salmo trutta* in a Norwegian river. Freshw. Biol. 47(8): 1391–1401.
- Juanes, F., Gephard, S., and Beland, K.F. 2004. Long-term changes in migration timing of adult Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) at the southern edge of the species distribution. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 61(August 2003): 2392–2400.
- June, J.A. 1981. Life history and habitat utilization of cutthroat trout in a headwater stream on the Olympic Peninsula, Washington. University of Washington.
- Karanka, E.J. 1993. Cumulative effects of forest harvesting on the Kitimat River, BC. Prince Rupert.
- Kareiva, P., Mullen, A., and Southwood, R. 1990. Population dynamics in spatially complex environments: theory and data [and discussion]. Philos. Trans. Biol. Sci. 330(1257, Population, Regulation and Dynamics): 175–190.
- Klemetsen, A., Amundsen, P.-A., Dempson, J.B., Jonsson, B., Jonsson, N., O'Connell, M.F., and Mortensen, E. 2003. Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.), brown trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) and Arctic charr (*Salvelinus alpinus* (L.)): a review of aspects of their life histories. Ecol. Freshw. Fish 12(1): 1–59.

- Kovach, R.P., Joyce, J.E., Echave, J.D., Lindberg, M.S., and Tallmon, D.A. 2013. Earlier migration timing, decreasing phenotypic variation, and biocomplexity in multiple salmonid species. PLoS One 8(1): e53807.
- Krentz, L.K. 2007. Habitat use, movement, and life history variation of coastal cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii*) in the Salmon River Estuary, Oregon. Oregon State University.
- Krimmer, A.N., Paul, A.J., Hontela, A., and Rasmussen, J.B. 2011. Behavioural and physiological responses of brook trout *Salvelinus fontinalis* to midwinter flow reduction in a small ice-free mountain stream. J. Fish Biol. 79(3): 707–725.
- Lee, C.G., Farrell, A.P., Lotto, A., MacNutt, M.J., Hinch, S.G., and Healey, M.C. 2003. The effect of temperature on swimming performance and oxygen consumption in adult sockeye (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) and coho (*O. kisutch*) salmon stocks. J. Exp. Biol. 206(18): 3239–3251.
- de Leeuw, A.D. 1987. Observations on cutthroat trout of the Mosquito Lake system, Queen Charlotte Islands. Smithers, B.C.
- Lindstrom, J.W., and Hubert, W.A. 2004. Ice Processes Affect Habitat Use and Movements of Adult Cutthroat Trout and Brook Trout in a Wyoming Foothills Stream. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 24(1): 1341–1352.
- Linnansaari, T. 2013. Effects of ice on behaviour of juvenile Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 70(10): 1488–1497.
- Losee, J.P., Phillips, L., and Young, W.C. 2016. Spawn timing and redd morphology of anadromous coastal cutthroat trout *Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii* in a tributary of south Puget Sound, Washington. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 36(2): 375–384.
- Macdonald, D.O., and Shepherd, B.G. 1983. A Review of the Kitimat River Watershed. Vancouver, BC.
- Macquarrie, D.W., Markert, J.R., Vanstone, W.E., Macquarrie, D.W., Markert, J.R., and Photoperiod, W.E.V. 1978. Photoperiod induced off-season spawning of coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus* kisutch). Ann. Biol. Anim. Biochim. Biophys. 18(4): 1051– 1058.

- Magee, J.P., and McMahon, T.E. 1996. Spatial Variation in Spawning Habitat of Cutthroat Trout in a Sediment-Rich Stream Basin. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 125(5): 768–779.
- Mäki-Petäys, A., Erkinaro, J., Niemelä, E., Huusko, A., and Muotka, T. 2004. Spatial distribution of juvenile Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) in a subarctic river: size-specific changes in a strongly seasonal environment. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. **61**(12): 2329–2338.
- Malcolm, I. A., Gibbins, C.N., Soulsby, C., Tetzlaff, D., and Moir, H.J. 2012. The influence of hydrology and hydraulics on salmonids between spawning and emergence: implications for the management of flows in regulated rivers. Fish. Manag. Ecol. 19(6): 464–474.
- Marston, B.H., Miller, M.G., and Fleischman, S.J. 2011. Spawning Movements of Cutthroat Trout on a Copper River Delta Tributary. In Alaska Department of Fish and Game. Fishery Data Series No. 11-69.
- Martin, P., Rancon, J., Segura, G., Laffont, J., Boeuf, G., and Dufour, S. 2012. Experimental study of the influence of photoperiod and temperature on the swimming behaviour of hatchery-reared Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.) smolts. Aquaculture 362–363: 200–208. Elsevier B.V.
- McCormick, S.D., Shrimpton, J.M., Moriyama, S., and Björnsson, B.T. 2002. Effects of an advanced temperature cycle on smolt development and endocrinology indicate that temperature is not a zeitgeber for smolting in Atlantic salmon. J. Exp. Biol. 205: 3553–3560.
- McCubbing, D. 2002. Adult Steelhead Trout and Salmonid Smolt Migration at the Keogh River, B.C. during Spring 2002.
- McDowall, R.M. 1997. The evolution of diadromy in fishes (revisited) and its place in phylogenetic analysis. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 7: 443–462.
- McDowall, R.M. 2001. Anadromy and homing: two life-history traits with adaptive synergies in salmonid fishes? Fish Fish. 2(1): 78–85.
- McLean, J.E., Bentzen, P., and Quinn, T.P. 2005. Nonrandom, size- and timing-biased breeding in a hatchery population of steelhead trout. Cons. Biol. 19(2): 446–454.

- McMillan, J.R., Dunham, J.B., Reeves, G.H., Mills, J.S., and Jordan, C.E. 2011. Individual condition and stream temperature influence early maturation of rainbow and steelhead trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Environ. Biol. Fishes 93(3): 343–355.
- Meka, J.M., Knudsen, E.E., Douglas, D.C., and Benter, R.B. 2003. Variable Migratory Patterns of Different Adult Rainbow Trout Life History Types in a Southwest Alaska. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 132(4): 717–732.
- Meka, J.M., and Margraf, F.J. 2007. Using a bioenergetic model to assess growth reduction from catch-and-release fishing and hooking injury in rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Fish. Manag. Ecol. **14**(2): 131–139.
- Mercer, S.P., and Johnston, J.M. 1979. Sea-run cutthroat: development and evaluation of a new enhancement technique. Fishery Research Report, Washington State Game Department. Olympia, Washington.
- Meyer, K.A., Schill, D.J., Elle, F.S., and Lamansky, J.A. 2003. Reproductive Demographics and Factors that Influence Length at Sexual Maturity of Yellowstone Cutthroat Trout in Idaho. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 132(2): 183–195.
- Michael, J.H. 1983. Contribution of cutthroat trout in headwater streams to the sea-run population. Calif. Dep. Fish Game 69(2): 68–76.
- Michael, J.H. 1989. Life history of anadromous coastal cutthroat trout in Snow and Salmon Creeks, Jefferson County, Washington, with implications for management. Calif. Fish Game 75(4): 188–203.
- Milner, N.J., Solomon, D.J., and Smith, G.W. 2012. The role of river flow in the migration of adult Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*, through estuaries and rivers. Fish. Manag. Ecol. 19(6): 537–547.
- Mollenhauer, R. 2011. Seasonal Movement and Habitat use of Wild Brook Trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*). Pennsylvania State University.
- Mollenhauer, R., Wagner, T., Kepler, M. V., and Sweka, J.A. 2013. Fall and Early Winter Movement and Habitat Use of Wild Brook Trout. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 142(5): 1167– 1178.

- Mongillo, P.E. 1984. A summary of hooking mortality. Washington Department of Fish and Game. Olympia, Washington.
- Moore, M.E., Goetz, F. a, Van Doornik, D.M., Tezak, E.P., Quinn, T.P., Reyes-Tomassini, J.J., and Berejikian, B.A. 2010. Early marine migration patterns of wild coastal cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii*), steelhead trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), and their hybrids. PLoS One 5(9): 1–10.
- Morales, J.M., Moorcroft, P.R., Matthiopoulos, J., Frair, J.L., Kie, J.G., Powell, R. a, Merrill, E.H., and Haydon, D.T. 2010. Building the bridge between animal movement and population dynamics. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B. Biol. Sci. 365(1550): 2289–2301.

Morbey, Y. 2000. Protandry in Pacific salmon. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57(6): 1252–1257.

- Morris, K.J., and Prince, A. 2004. St. Mary River Westslope Cutthroat Trout Radio Telemetry Study 2001-2004. In Report prepared for Columbia-Kootenay Fisheries Renewal Partnership, Cranbook B.C. Cranbrook B.C.
- Newman, D., and Pilson, D. 1997. Increased probability of extinction due to decreased genetic effective population size: experimental populations of *Clarkia pulchella*. Evolution (N. Y). 51(2): 354–362.
- Norberg, B., Brown, C.L., Halldorsson, O., Stensland, K., and Björnsson, B.T. 2004.
 Photoperiod regulates the timing of sexual maturation, spawning, sex steroid and thyroid hormone profiles in the Atlantic cod (*Gadus morhua*). Aquaculture 229(1–4): 451–467.
- Northcote, T.G. 1997a. Potamodromy in Salmonidae: Living and Moving in the Fast Lane. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 17(4): 37–41.
- Northcote, T.G. 1997b. Why sea-run? An exploration into the migratory/residency spectrum of coastal cutthroat trout. In Sea-Run Cutthroat Trout: Biology, Management, and Future Conservation. Edited by J.D. Hall, P.A. Bisson, and R.E. Gresswell. Oregon Chapter of the Am. Fish Soc., Corvallis, OR. pp. 20–26.
- O'Malley, K.G., Ford, M.J., and Hard, J.J. 2010. Clock polymorphism in Pacific salmon: evidence for variable selection along a latitudinal gradient. Proc. Biol. Sci. 277(1701): 3703–3714.

- Økland, F., Erkinaro, J., Moen, K., Niemelä, E., Fiske, P., McKinley, R.S., Thorstad, E.B.,
 Okland, F., Erkinaro, J., Moen, K., Niemela, E., Fiske, P., McKinley, R.S., and Thorstad,
 E.B. 2001. Return migration of Atlantic salmon in the River Tana: phases of migratory
 behavior. J. Fish Biol. 59(4): 862–874.
- Pauley, G.B., Moran, P., Bowers, K.L., and Thomas, G.L. 1989. Species Profiles: Life Histories and Environmental Requirements of Coastal Fishes and Invertebrates (Pacific Northwest): SEA-RUN CUTTHROAT TROUT. In US Army Corps of Engineers.
- Pauley, G.B., and Thomas, G.L. 1993. Mortality of Anadromous Coastal Cutthroat Trout
 Caught with Artificial Lures and Natural Bait. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 13(2): 337– 345.
- Pearcy, W.G., Brodeur, R.D., and Fisher, J.P. 1990. Distribution and biology of juvenile cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii*) and steelhead (*O. mykiss*) in coastal Waters off Oregon and Washington. Fish. Bull. (Armstrong 1971): 697–711.
- Petty, J.T., Hansbarger, J.L., Huntsman, B.M., and Mazik, P.M. 2012. Brook Trout Movement in Response to Temperature, Flow, and Thermal Refugia within a Complex Appalachian Riverscape. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 141(4): 1060–1073.
- Pickett, S.T.A., and Cadenasso, M.L. 1995. Landscape Ecology: Spatial Heterogeneity in Ecological Systems. Science (80). 269(5222): 331–334.
- Quinn, T.P. 2005. The Behavior and Ecology of Pacific Salmon and Trout. UBC Press, Vancouver.
- Quinn, T.P. 2011. The Behaviour and Ecology of Pacific Salmon and Trout. American Fisheries Soceity, Bethesda, MD.
- Quinn, T.P., and Adams, D.J. 1996. Environmental Changes Affecting the Migratory Timing of American Shad and Sockeye. Ecol. 77(4): 1151–1162.
- Quinn, T.P., Hodgson, S., Flynn, L., Hilborn, R., and Rogers, D.E. 2007. Directional selection by fisheries and the timing of sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus* nerka). Ecol. Appl. 17(3): 731–739.

- Rakowitz, G., Berger, B., Kubecka, J., and Keckeis, H. 2008. Functional role of environmental stimuli for the spawning migration in Danube nase *Chondrostoma nasus* (L.). Ecol. Freshw. Fish 17(3): 502–514.
- Ramstad, K.M., and Woody, C.A. 2003. Radio Tag Retention and Tag-Related Mortality among Adult Sockeye Salmon. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 23(3): 978–982.
- Rand, P.S., Hinch, S.G., Morrison, J., Foreman, M.G.G., MacNutt, M.J., Macdonald, J.S.,
 Healey, M.C., Farrell, A.P., and Higgs, D.A. 2006. Effects of River Discharge,
 Temperature, and Future Climates on Energetics and Mortality of Adult Migrating
 Fraser River Sockeye Salmon. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 135(3): 655–667.
- Reese-Hansen, L.P. 2004. Beaver (*Castor canadensis*) Patch Creation in Response to Land Development in the Kitimat Valley, B.C. Royal Roads University.
- Ringel, B.M.K., Neibauer, J., Fulmer, K., and Nelson, M.C. 2014. Migration patterns of adult bull trout in the Wenatchee River, Washington 2000-2004. Leavenworth, Washington.
- Robards, M.D., and Quinn, T.P. 2002. The Migratory Timing of Adult Summer-Run Steelhead in the Columbia River over Six Decades of Environmental Change. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 131(3): 523–536.
- Roff, D.A. 1974. Spatial Heterogeneity and the Persistence of Populations. Oecologia 15(3): 245–258.
- Rogers, K.B., and White, G.C. 2001. Analysis of Movement and Habitat Use from Telemetry Data. In Analysis and Interpretation of Freshwater Fisheries Data. Am. Fish. Soc. pp. 625–676.
- Romero, N., Gresswell, R.E., and Li, J.L. 2005. Changing patterns in coastal cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii*) diet and prey in a gradient of deciduous canopies. Can.
 J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 62(1): 1797–1807.
- Rosenfeld, J.S., Macdonald, S., Foster, D., Amrhein, S., Bales, B., Williams, T., Race, F., and Livingstone, T. 2002. Importance of small streams as rearing habitat for coastal cutthroat trout. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 22: 177–187.

- Rustadbakken, A., L'Abée-Lund, J.H., Arnekleiv, J.V. V., Kraabol, M., L'Abee-Lund, J.H., Arnekleiv, J.V. V., and Kraabol, M. 2004. Reproductive migration of brown trout in a small Norwegian river studied by telemetry. J. Fish Biol. 64(1): 2–15.
- Saiget, D.A., Sloat, M.R., and Reeves, G.H. 2007. Spawning and movement behavior of migratory coastal cutthroat trout on the Western Copper River Delta, Alaska. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 27(1): 1029–1040.
- Saunders, D., Hobbs, R., and Margules, C. 1991. Biological consequences of ecosystem fragmentation: a review. Cons. Biol. 5(1): 18–29.
- Sauter, S.T., McMillan, J., and Dunham, J.B. 2001. Salmonid Behavior and Water Temperature. EPA Issue Paper 1: Prepared as Part of EPA Region 10 Temperature Water Quality Criteria Guidance Development Project.
- Schisler, G.J., and Bergersen, E.P. 1996. Post-release Hooking Mortality of Rainbow Trout Caught on Scented Artificial Baits. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 16(3): 570–578.
- Schmetterling, D.A. 2011. Seasonal Movements of Fluvial Westslope Cutthroat Trout in the Blackfoot River Drainage, Montana. North Am. J. Fish. Manag. 21: 37–41.
- Seamons, T.R., Bentzen, P., and Quinn, T.P. 2004. The mating system of steelhead, Oncorhynchus mykiss, inferred by molecular analysis of parents and progeny. Environ. Biol. Fishes 69(1–4): 333–344.
- Shrimpton, J.M., and Heath, D.D. 2003. Census vs. effective population size in chinook salmon: Large- and small-scale environmental perturbation effects. Mol. Ecol. 12(10): 2571–2583.
- Simpkins, D.G., Hubert, W.A., Wesche, T.A., Taylor, P., Simpkins, D.G., Hubert, W.A., and Wesche, T.A. 2000. Effects of Fall-to-Winter Changes in Habitat and Frazil Ice on the Movements and Habitat Use of Juvenile Rainbow Trout in a Wyoming Tailwater. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 129(1): 101–118.
- Simpson, C.D., Harrington, C.F., Cullen, W.R., Reimer, K.J., and Bright, D.A. 1998. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon contamination in marine sediments near Kitimat, British Columbia. Enivronmental Sci. Technol. 32(21): 3266–3272.
- Slaney, P., and Roberts, J. 2005. Coastal cutthroat trout as sentinels of Lower Mainland watershed health: strategies for coastal cutthroat trout conservation, restoration and recovery. Minist. Environ. Rep.
- Smith, G.W., Smith, I.P., and Armstrong, S.M. 1994. The relationship between river flow and entry to the Aberdeenshire Dee by returning adult Atlantic salmon. J. Fish Biol. 45: 953–960.
- Smith, R.J.F. 1985. Control of Migration in Fish. In Zoophysiology. Edited by D.S. Farner, B. Heinrich, W.S. Hoar, Johansen K., H. Langer, G. Neuweiler, and D.J. Randall. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Starcevich, S.J., Howell, P.J., Jacobs, S.E., and Sankovich, P.M. 2012. Seasonal movement and distribution of fluvial adult bull trout in selected watersheds in the Mid-Columbia river and snake river basins. PLoS One 7(5).
- StataCorp. 2015. Stata Statistical Software: Release 14. StataCorp LP, College Station, TX.
- Stein, S., Cornwell, T.J., and Jones, K.K. 2012a. The Oregon Plan for Salmon and Watersheds: Life History Variability and migratory behaviour of coastal cutthroat trout in the Salmon River Oregon. Oregon Dep. Fish Wildl. 1(1): 1–38.
- Stein, S., Cornwell, T.J., and Jones, K.K. 2012b. Oregon Plan for Salmon: Life History Variability, Habitat Use and Migratory Behavior of Coastal Cutthroat trout in the Salmon River.
- Stephan, K., and Zurstadt, C.F. 2004. Seasonal Migration of Westslope cutthroat trout in the middle fork salmon river drainage, Idaho. Northwest Sci. 78(4): 278–285.
- Stewart, D.C., Smith, G.W., and Youngson, A.F. 2002. Tributary-specific variation in timing of return of adult Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) to fresh water has a genetic component. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 59(2): 276–281.
- Sumner, F.H. 1952. Migrations of salmonids in Sand Creek, Oregon. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 82(1): 139–150.
- Sumner, F.H. 1972. A contribution to the life history of the cutthroat trout in Oregon. Oregon State Game Comm., 142pp.

- Svendsen, J.C., Koed, A., and Aarestrup, K. 2004. Factors influencing the spawning migration of female anadromous brown trout. J. Fish Biol. 64(2): 528–540.
- Swanberg, T.R. 1997. Movements of and habitat use by fluvial bull trout in the Blackfoot river, Montana. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 126(5): 735–746.
- Symonds, M.R.E., and Moussalli, A. 2011. A brief guide to model selection, multimodel inference and model averaging in behavioural ecology using Akaike's information criterion. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 65(1): 13–21.
- Taylor, M.K., and Cooke, S.J. 2012. Meta-analyses of the effects of river flow on fish movement and activity. Environ. Rev. 20(4): 211–219. The Am. Fish Soc., Maryland.
- Tetzlaff, D., Soulsby, C., Youngson, A.F., Gibbins, C., Bacon, P.J., Malcolm, I.A., and Langan, S. 2005. Variability in stream discharge and temperature: a preliminary assessment of the implications for juvenile and spawning Atlantic salmon. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 9: 193–208.
- Thorstad, E.B., Fiske, P., Aarestrup, K., Hvidsten, N.A., Hårsaker, K., and Økland, F. 2005. Upstream migration of Atlantic salmon in three regulated rivers. In Aquatic telemetry: advances and applications. Proceedings of the Fifth Conference on Fish Telemetry held in Europe. Edited by M.T. Spedicato, G. Lembo, and G. Marmulla. FAO/COISPA, Ustica, Italy. pp. 111–121.
- Thorstad, E.B., Økland, F., Aarestrup, K., and Heggberget, T.G. 2008. Factors affecting the within-river spawning migration of Atlantic salmon, with emphasis on human impacts. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 18: 345–371.
- Thorstad, E.B., Rikardsen, A.H., Alp, A., and Okland, F. 2013. The Use of Electronic Tags in Fish Research - An Overview of Fish Telemetry Methods. Turkish J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 13: 881–896.
- Trepanier, S., Rodriguez, M.A.A., and Magnan, P. 1996. Spawning migrations in landlocked Atlantic salmon: time series modelling of river discharge and water temperature effects. J. Fish Biol. 48(1): 925–936.
- Trotter, P.C. 1989. Coastal cutthroat trout: A life history compendium. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 118(5): 463–473.

- Trotter, P.C. 2008. Cutthroat: Native Trout of the West. University of California Press, Berkeley.
- Trotter, P.C., Bisson, P.A., and Fransen, B. 1993. Status and Plight of the Sea-Run Cutthroat trout. Genet. Conserv. Salmon. Fishes: 203–212.
- Walther, G.-R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T.J., Fromentin, J.-M.,
 Hoegh-Guldberg, O., and Walther, F. 2002. Ecological responses to recent climate
 change. Nature 416(1): 389–395.
- Waples, R.S., and Gaggiotti, O.E. 2006. What is a population? An empirical evaluation of some genetic methods for identifying the number of gene pools and their degree of connectivity. Mol. Ecol. 15(1): 1419–1439.
- Waters, E. 1993a. Winter habitat utilization of radio tagged coastal cutthroat trout. North Carolina State University.
- Waters, E. 1993b. Winter Habitat Utilization of Radio-Tagged Coastal Cutthroat Trout. North Carolina State University.
- Watz, J., Bergman, E., Calles, O., Enefalk, A., Gustafsson, S., Hagelin, A., Nilsson, P. A.,
 Norrgard, J.R., Nyqvist, D., Osterling, E.M., Piccolo, J.J., Schneider, L.D., Greenberg,
 L., and Jonsson, B. 2015. Ice cover alters the behavior and stress level of brown trout
 Salmo trutta. Behav. Ecol. 0: 1–8.
- Webb, J.H., and McLay, H.A. 1996. Variation in the timing of spawning in relation to temperature of Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in the Aberdeenshire Dee, Scotland.
 Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53: 2739–2744.
- Wenburg, J.K., and Bentzen, P. 2001. Genetic and Behavioral Evidence for Restricted Gene Flow among Coastal Cutthroat Trout Populations. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 130(6): 1049– 1069.
- Wenger, S.J., Isaak, D.J., Luce, C.H., Neville, H.M., Fausch, K.D., Dunham, J.B., Dauwalter,
 D.C., Young, M.K., Elsner, M.M., Rieman, B.E., Hamlet, A.F., and Williams, J.E. 2011.
 Flow regime, temperature, and biotic interactions drive differential declines of trout
 species under climate change. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108(34): 14175–80.

- Whalen, K.G., Parrish, D.L., and Mather, M.E. 1999. Effect of ice formation on selection of habitats and winter distribution of post-young-of-the-year Atlantic salmon parr. Can.
 J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56(1): 87–96.
- White, J.L., and Harvey, B.C. 2007. Winter Feeding Success of Stream Trout under Different Streamflow and Turbidity Conditions. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 136(5): 1187–1192.
- Whitehead, C., Bromage, N., Forster, J.R.M., and Matty, A.J. 1978. The effects of alterations in photoperiod on ovarian development and spawning time in the rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri). Ann Biol Anim Biochim Biophys. 18(4): 1035–1043.
- Wickham, H. 2009. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. Springer-Verlag, New York. Available from http://ggplot2.org.
- Wildlife, O.D. of F. and. 2004. Biology, Status and Management of Coastal Cutthroat Trout on the North Oregon Coast (Neskowin Creek - Necanicum River).
- Wilkinson, R.J., Longland, R., Woolcott, H., and Porter, M.J.R. 2010. Effect of elevated winter-spring water temperature on sexual maturation in photoperiod manipulated stocks of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture 309(1–4): 236–244. Elsevier B.V.
- Williams, J.E., Haak, A.L., Neville, H.M., and Colyer, W.T. 2009. Potential Consequences of Climate Change to Persistence of Cutthroat Trout Populations. North Am. J. Fish. 29(3): 533–548.
- Yanusz, R.J. 1997. Status of Sea-run Cutthroat Trout, Sea-run Dolly Varden, and Steelhead Populations at Sitkoh Creek, Southeast Alaska, during 1996. Alaska Dep. Fish Game (97): 1–40.
- Young, M.K. 2011. Generation-scale movement patterns of cutthroat trout (*Oncorhynchus clarkii pleuriticus*) in a stream network. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 68: 941–951.
- Young, R.G., Hayes, J.W., Wilkinson, J., and Hay, J. 2010. Movement and Mortality of Adult Brown Trout in the Motupiko River, New Zealand: Effects of Water Temperature, Flow, and Flooding. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 139(1): 137–146.
- Zaugg, W.S., and Wagner, H.H. 1973. Gill ATPase activity related to parr-smolt transformation and migration in steelhead trout (*Salmo gairdneri*): Influence of

photoperiod and temperature. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. -- Part B Biochem. 45(4): 955–965.

- Zeigler, M.P., Todd, A.S., and Caldwell, C. a. 2012. Evidence of Recent Climate Change within the Historic Range of Rio Grande Cutthroat Trout: Implications for Management and Future Persistence. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 141: 1045–1059.
- Zydlewski, G.B., Zydlewski, J., and Johnson, J.R. 2009. Patterns of migration and residency in coastal cutthroat trout *Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii* from two tributaries of the lower Columbia River. J. Fish Biol. 75(1): 203–22.
- Zydlewski, J., Johnson, J.R., Brunzell, J., and Hogle, J. 2008. Seaward Migration of Coastal Cutthroat Trout *Oncorhynchus clarkii clarkii* from Four Tributaries of the Columbia River. Coast. Cutthroat Trout Symp. Status, Manag. Biol. Conserv. 2008.

APPENDICES

Chapter 1 Appendix

Table A1.1. Physical characteristics of all male and female CCT sampled during angling.

			Age (y)		For	k Length	n (mm)		Weight	(g)	Condition Factor (k)*		
	n	mean	SE	range	mean	SE	range	mean	SE	range	mean	SE	range
Male	80	3.6	0.11	2 - 6	319	7.32	135 - 455	414	23.53	35 - 1020	1.13	0.04	0.84 - 1.67
Female	144	3.9	0.11	2 - 7	335	6.18	110 - 480	500	24.71	45 - 1180	1.13	0.03	0.74 - 1.98
Welch's two sample t:		t(173.79)	= -2.33,	p = 0.021	t(181.0	5) = -1.6	3, p = 0.10	t(198.28	3) = -2.54	l, p = 0.012	t(370.0) = -0.04	48, p = 0.96



Figure A1.1. Fork length (A), weight (B), age (C) and condition factor (D) of all CCT sampled during angling.

.

				Age (y)	Fo	rk Leng	gth (mm)		Weig	ht (g)	Con	dition F	actor (g/cm³)
Year	Sex	n	Mean	SE	Range	Mean	SE	Range	Mean	SE	Range	Mean	SE	Range
Combined	Male	31	3.9	0.15	3 - 6	377	5.6	331 - 455	605	23.4	440 - 1020	1.13	0.02	0.92 - 1.45
	Female	62	4.5	0.14	3 - 7	390	5.4	330 - 480	703	29.3	430 - 1180	1.15	0.01	0.93 - 1.37
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(67.	.1) = -2.5	9, p = 0.01	t(78.	8) = -1.	70, p = 0.09	t(89	.5) = -2.	59, p = 0.01	t(4	5.7) = -0	0.88, p = 0.38
1	Male	14	4.2	0.26	3 - 6	401	6.8	367 - 455	674	36.9	520 - 1020	1.03	0.02	0.92 - 1.10
	Female	26	5.0	0.25	3 - 7	413	8.3	330 - 480	819	45.9	440 - 1180	1.13	0.02	0.94 - 1.34
Welch's two sample t:			t(25.	.4) = -2.2	5, p = 0.03	t(37.	3) = -1.	12, p = 0.27	t(37	.6) = -2.	45, p = 0.02	t(34	.85) = -4	l.05, p < 0.001
2	Male	17	3.8	0.18	3 - 5	357	4.5	331 - 392	557	23.1	440 - 720	1.20	0.03	1.06 - 1.45
	Female	36	4.2	0.15	3 - 6	373	5.9	330 - 446	618	31.9	430 - 1020	1.17	0.02	1.03 - 1.37
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(35.	.5) = -1.6	6, p = 0.11	t(50.	3) = -2.	25, p = 0.03	t(50	.9) = -1.	80, p = 0.08	t(2	5.7) = 1	.32, p = 0.20
1	Combined	40	4.6	0.21	2 - 7	409	5.9	330 - 480	768	34.0	440 - 1180	1.09	0.02	0.92 - 1.34
2		53	4.0	0.12	3 - 6	368	4.4	330 - 446	596	23.2	430 - 1020	1.18	0.02	1.03 - 1.39
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(49	9.9) = 2.62	l, p = 0.01	t(76.4	4) = 5.5	7, p < 0.001	t(71.	.9) = 4.1	8, p < 0.001	t(86	5.6) = -3.	.88, p < 0.001
1	Male	14	4.2	0.26	3 - 6	401	6.8	367 - 455	674	36.9	520 - 1020	1.03	0.02	0.92 - 1.10
2		17	3.8	0.18	3 - 5	357	4.5	331 - 392	557	23.1	440 - 720	1.20	0.03	1.06 - 1.45
Welch's two sample t:			t(31	7) = 2.92	2, p = 0.01	t(48.:	1) = 3.9	1, p < 0.001	t(47.	.1) = 3.5	7, p < 0.001	t(2	5.7) = -5	.20, p <0.001
1	Female	26	5.0	0.25	3 - 7	413	8.3	330 - 480	819	45.9	440 - 1180	1.13	0.02	0.94 - 1.34
2		36	4.2	0.15	3 - 6	373	5.9	330 - 446	618	31.9	430 - 1020	1.17	0.02	1.03 - 1.37
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(25.	.7) = -5.2	, p < 0.001	t(22.	.2) = 2.9	91, p = 0.01	t(19	9.1) = 1.	3, p = 0.21	t(5	4.4) = -1	26, p = 0.21

Table A1.2. Summary of the physical characteristics of male and female CCT radio tagged with large transmitters in year 1 and year 2. Significant test results are presented in bold.

				Capture	Final	Survived	
ID	Sex	Age	FL (mm)	Date	Relocation	Tagging?	Comments
1	М	-	398	8-Aug-12	21-Oct-13	Yes	No upstream movement observed after 6-Sept-2013.
2	F	-	340	10-Aug-12	10-Dec-13	Yes	Fish still alive on 10-Dec-2013 when tag expired.
3	F	4	330	11-Aug-12	17-Dec-12	Yes	Recaptured on 16-Nov-2012. Not observed after 20-Dec-2012
6	F	3	345	22-Aug-12	20-Nov-12	No	No upstream movement after capture.
7	F	-	370	22-Aug-12	30-Oct-12	Unknown***	No upstream movement after moving into Goose OW area.
8	F	5	435	22-Aug-12	12-Aug-13	Unknown**	Insufficient relocation data. Relocated during 1 aerial tracking flight.
9	F	4	385	23-Aug-12	4-Feb-14	Yes	Fish alive when tag expired on 4-Feb-2014. CCT returned to OW habitat used in first winter.
10	М	4	375	23-Aug-12	23-Sep-12	No	No upstream movement after capture.
12	F	-	435	26-Aug-12	1-Feb-13	Yes	No upstream movement observed after moving into Wedeene OW area on 17-Dec-2012.
13	F	6	455	31-Aug-12	4-Feb-14	Yes	Survived spawn. Estuary from 23-May to 1-July. Returned to Goose OW. Tag expired after 4-Feb-2014.
15	М	6	417	1-Sep-12	28-Oct-12	No	No upstream movement observed after tagging.
19	М	-	455	12-Sep-12	17-May-13	Yes	Chicken Ck. spawning mort. Recovered on 17-May-2013.
21	F	4	380	15-Sep-12	8-Mar-13	Yes	Not observed after 8-March-2013 at 16.5 rKM.
29	М	-	435	17-Sep-12	22-Apr-13	Yes	Goose Ck. spawning mort. Recovered on 22-Apr-2013.
34	Μ	4	432	23-Sep-12	1-May-13	Yes	Upper Big Wedeene spawning mort. No upstream movement after 1-May-2013.
43	F	4	423	26-Sep-12	27-Apr-13	Yes	Cecil Ck. spawning mort. No movement after 27-April-2013.
44	F	-	400	26-Sep-12	17-May-13	Yes	Chicken Ck. spawning mort. Recovered on 17-May-2013.
45	F	4	404	26-Sep-12	1-May-13	Yes	Big Wedeene spawning mort. No movement after 1-May-2013
47	F	6	450	6-Oct-12	10-Mar-14	Yes	Survived spawn. In estuary from 26-May-2013 to 11-July-2013. Tag expired after 4-Feb-2014.
49	F	4	414	8-Oct-12	6-Sep-13	Yes	Survived spawn. Moved to estuary on 23-May-2013, predated on by eagle before 6-Sept-2013.
50	F	7	460	8-Oct-12	4-Feb-14	Yes	Survived spawn. Tag expired after 4-Feb-2014.
51	F	-	438	28-Oct-12	5-Apr-13	Yes	No upstream movement observed after 31-March-2013. Tag recovered on 23-April-2013.
52	F	5	419	2-Nov-12	28-Mar-14	Yes	Survived spawn. In estuary from 3-June to 30-July. No upstream movement after 15-Jan-2014.
53	F	-	348	2-Nov-12	25-Feb-13	Yes	No upstream movement observed after 25-Feb-2013.
54	F	6	465	3-Nov-12	9-Dec-12	Unknown**	Not observed during any aerial relocation flights.
67	F	7	480	7-Nov-12	6-Apr-13	Yes	Killed by angler on 6-April-2013.
69	F	5	384	8-Nov-12	21-Oct-13	Yes	Survived spawn. In estuary 20-May to 13-Aug-2013. No upstream movement after 21-Oct-2013.
74	Μ	4	380	10-Nov-12	13-May-13	Yes	Predated upon by eagle on 13-May-2013. Tag expired 5-May-2014.
77	F	5	409	16-Nov-12	21-Mar-14	Yes	Survived spawn. In estuary 22-May to 23-July-2013. Mortality between 23-July and 10-Dec-2013.
87	F	5	408	19-Nov-12	17-Dec-13	No	No upstream movement observed after tagging.
88	Μ	5	404	19-Nov-12	27-Apr-13	Yes	Chicken Ck. spawning mort after 27-April-2013.
91	F	6	424	24-Nov-12	28-Apr-14	Yes	Survived spawn. Overwintered in Wedeene OW area. Tag expired on 28-April-2014.
92	Μ	4	396	24-Nov-12	24-May-13	Yes	Big Wedeene spawner. Not observed after 24-May-2013.
93	F	4	447	10-Dec-12	14-Apr-13	Yes	KTR Trib spawning mort. No upstream movement after 14-April-2013.
94	F	5	454	11-Dec-12	1-May-14	Yes	Little Wedeene spawning mort - after 1-May-2013.
95	Μ	3	367	11-Dec-12	1-May-13	Yes	Predated upon by eagle between 27-April and 1-May-2013.
96	Μ	5	399	12-Dec-12	6-May-13	Yes	Cecil Ck. spawning mort. No upstream movement after 14-April-2013. Recovered on 6-May-13.
97	Μ	3	376	12-Dec-12	27-Apr-13	Yes	Deception Ck. spawning mort. No upstream movement after 27-April-2013. Recovered on 3-May-2013.
99	Μ	4	398	12-Dec-12	6-May-13	Yes	McNeil Ck. spawning mort. No upstream movement after 6-May-2013. Recovered on 17-May-2013.
100	Μ	4	384	12-Dec-12	17-Apr-13	Yes	Survived spawn and second winter. Estuary28-May to 17-July-2013. Tag expired on 17-April-2014.
102	F	6	448	15-Dec-12	1-Feb-13	No	No upstream movement observed after tagging.

Table A1.3. Physical characteristics, capture summary and fate of all CCT selected for radio tagging in year 1.

Unknown* = Fish moved directly out of system following tagging.

Unknown** = Fish not relocated sufficiently to determine fate. Unknown*** = Fish not observed departing from OW habitat occuppied within 6 weeks of tagging.

Table A1.4. Physical	characteristics,	capture summary a	and fate of	f all CCT	selected	for rad	io tagging in y	/ear 2.
----------------------	------------------	-------------------	-------------	-----------	----------	---------	-----------------	---------

				Capture	Final	Survived	
Fish ID	Sex	Age	FL (mm)	Date	Relocation	Tagging?	Comments
118	М	5	380	20-Jun-13	6-Sep-13	Yes	Last observed on 6-Sept-2013 at 11.2 rKM. Possibly captured.
123	м	5	363	9-Jul-13	13-May-14	Yes	Duck Ck. spawning mort. No upstream movement after 5-May-2014. Recovered on 13-May-2014.
132	М	3	342	13-Jul-13	16-Dec-13	Yes	Last moving past receiver at 2.2 rKM on 6-Sept-2013.
134	F	5	435	14-Jul-13	28-Jun-14	Yes	Survived spawn (Cecil Ck.), in estuary from 3-June to 28-June-2014. Not observed after 28-June-2014
141	F	4	388	18-Jul-13	22-Nov-13	No	No movement observed after tagging.
143	F	-	369	21-Jul-13	21-Oct-13	No	No upstream movement observed after tagging.
146	M	4	390	21-Jul-13	TAGGING	No	Did not survive surgery.
14/	F	5	392	21-Jul-13	18-Sep-13	Yes	Last observed on 18-Sept-2013 at 16.5 rKM. Possibly captured.
148	F	4	389	21-Jul-13	27-IVIay-14	Yes	Survived spawn (Chicken Ck.), last observed 15-May-2014 in Hirsch Ck.
149	Ē	4	238	22-Jul-13	27-May-14	NU	Did not survive surgery.
152	F	5	418	23-Jul-13	10-May-14	Ves	Cecil Ck, snawning mort between 11-Anril and 5-May-2014. Recovered on 10-May-13
154	F	5	350	23-Jul-13	9-Sep-13	Unknown*	Last observed moving out of system on 9-Sept-2013.
155	F	3	297	25-Jul-13	25-Jul-13	Unknown**	Not observed after tagging.
156	F	4	349	25-Jul-13	16-May-14	Yes	Powerline Ck. spawning mort. No upstream movement after 9-May-2014.
157	F	6	440	25-Jul-13	27-May-14	Yes	Survived spawn (McKay Ck.). Not observed after 27-May-2014.
158	F	5	371	25-Jul-13	9-May-14	Yes	Nalbeelah Ck. spawning mort.No upstream movement after 9-May-2014.
159	F	-	446	29-Jul-13	18-Jul-14	Yes	Survived spawn (McNeil Ck.), in estuary 1-June to 18-July-2014. Not observed after 18-July-2014.
161	F	3	336	12-Aug-13	21-Oct-13	No	No upstream movement after 6-Sept-2013. Not observed after 22-Nov-2013.
162	-	-	388	12-Aug-13	13-Jul-14	Yes	Survived spawn (Upper Kitimat), in estuary 1-June to 13-July-2014. Not observed after 13-July-2014.
163	F	5	333	12-Aug-13	4-Feb-14	Yes	Not observed after 4-Feb-2014. Likely captured near 19.6 rKM.
166	F	4	387	15-Aug-13	21-Aug-13	No	No upstream movement after tagging.
109	IVI	3	287	17-Aug-13	25-Aug-13	Unknown*	Last observed moving out of system on 25-Aug-2013 at 8.3 rKM.
170	E	2	340	17-Aug-13	15-Apr-14 4-Eob-14	No	Last observed moving out of system on 20-Aug-2015 at 6.5 fKW.
172	F	3	338	17-Aug-13	TAGGING	No	Did not survive surgery
173	м	3	335	18-Aug-13	4-Sep-13	No	No upstream movement after tagging.
174	M	3	335	18-Aug-13	30-Aug-13	Unknown*	Last observed moving out of system on 30-Aug-2013 at 8.3 rKM.
175	F	3	341	18-Aug-13	6-Sep-13	Unknown*	Last observed moving out of system on 6-Sept-2013.
176	М	3	350	18-Aug-13	10-Feb-14	Unknown**	Not observed after 6-Sept-2013.
177	-	4	293	18-Aug-13	6-Sep-13	No	No upstream movement after tagging.
179	F	3	283	21-Aug-13	11-Sep-13	Unknown**	Not observed after 11-Sept-2013.
180	F	3	276	21-Aug-13	6-Feb-14	Unknown**	Not observed during any aerial relocation flights.
181	F	3	359	5-Sep-13	8-Sep-13	No	No upstream movement after tagging.
182	F	5	399	9-Sep-13	10-Dec-13	Unknown***	No upstream movement observed after entering Goose overwinter area on 10-Dec-2013.
185	F	5	435	9-Sep-13	3-May-14	Yes	Powerline Ck. spawning mort. No upstream movement after 3-May-2014.
18/		3	345	13-Sep-13	22-NOV-13	Unknown***	No upstream movement after 22-Nov-2013.
105	г	2	240	17 Sop 12	27-Sep-15	Voc	Last observed on 27-sept-2015 at 2.2 fixin moving out of system.
200	F	4	340	17-3ep-13	8-0ct-13	No	No unstream movement after tagging
206	F	3	366	21-Sep-13	10-Dec-13	No	No upstream movement after tagging.
207	F	3	332	24-Sep-13	28-Mar-14	Yes	Not observed in spawning habitat. Last relocated on 28-March-2014.
208	М	4	392	24-Sep-13	5-May-14	Yes	Cecil Ck. spawning mort. No upstream movement after 5-May-2014. Tag recovere on 15-May-2014.
209	F	5	436	25-Sep-13	27-May-14	Yes	Survived spawn (Cecil Ck.), last observed 27-May-2014 entering estuary.
211	F	4	364	25-Sep-13	27-May-14	Yes	Big Wedeene spawner. Fate unclear. Last observed 27-May-2014.
212	М	5	331	25-Sep-13	27-May-14	Yes	Survived spawn (Nalbeelah Ck.). Last observed on 27-May-2014.
217	F	4	374	26-Sep-13	29-Apr-14	Yes	Goose Ck. spawning mort. Recovered on 29-April-2014.
218	F	4	372	26-Sep-13	14-Jul-14	Yes	Survived spawn (Chicken Ck.), in estuary 8-June to 14-July-2014.
220	F	4	346	27-Sep-13	15-Jan-14	Yes	Moved continuously downstream after tagging, no movement after 21-March-2014.
222	F	-	344	28-Sep-13	15-Jan-14	Yes	Last observed on 7-April-2014 in Goose Pool OW area
224	м	4	368	7-Oct-13	5-May-14	Ves	Duck Ck, snawning mort, No unstream movement after 5-May-2014 Tag recovered 6-May-2014
225	F	4	353	7-Oct-13	29-May-14	Yes	Fate unclear. No unstream movement observed after 11-April-2014. Fish may have moved to estuary on 29-May-2014.
231	F	4	365	9-Oct-13	21-Oct-13	Unknown**	Not observed after 21-Oct-2013.
232	м	4	416	9-Oct-13	30-Jun-14	Yes	Survived spawn (upper Kitimat), in estuary 22-May to 30-June-2014. Last observed 30-June-2014.
233	М	4	355	9-Oct-13	10-Dec-13	No	Fish moved continuously downstream after tagging.
234	М	5	320	9-Oct-13	4-Mar-14	Yes	Last observed on 4-March-2014 in McNeil Ck. No upstream movement after 15-Jan-2014.
235	F	5	380	9-Oct-13	9-Oct-13	Unknown**	Not observed after tagging.
236	F	4	350	9-Oct-13	14-May-14	Yes	Not observed in spawning habitat but likely spawned near Airpark. Last observed moving into estuary 14-May-2014.
240	М	4	345	10-Oct-13	30-Mar-14	Yes	Last observed on 30-March-2014 at 16.5 rKM
241	F	5	376	10-Oct-13	24-May-14	Yes	Survived spawn (Big Wedeene), last observed moving into estuary on 24-May-2014.
242	F	4	357	10-Oct-13	27-May-14	Yes	Not observed in spawning habitat. Last relocated on 27-May-2014.
245	F	4	330	11-Oct-13	4-Feb-14	Yes	No upstream movement observed after 4-Feb-2014.
249	M	4	3/1	14-Uct-13	2/-IVIay-14	Yes	Big wedeene spawning mort. No upstream movement after 15 Jan 2014.
25U 2⊑1	IVI NA	5 1	320	14-UCC-13	10-Jun 14	res	Not observed departing Cable Carlow area. No movement after 15-Jan-2014.
251	F	4	335	15-0ct-12	4-Mar-1/	Yes	Not observed leaving Goose overwintering area. No movement after 4-March-2014
255	M	4	355	18-Oct-13	17-Apr-14	Yes	Deception Ck. spawning mort. No upstream movement after 28-April-2014.
							· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

 Unknown*
 = Fish moved directly out of system following tagging.

 Unknown**
 = Fish not relocated sufficiently to determine fate.

 Unknown***
 = Fish not observed departing from OW habitat occuppied within 6 weeks of tagging.

Fish #	Sex	Age (y) FL	L (mm)	Summary of winter movement behaviours
#002	F	-	340	Mobile, captured in Nalbeelah. Overwintered near Airpark, Deception and Cecil in first winter. Spawned in McNeil and then returned to Nalbeelah area. In second winter, was first relocated near Cecil Ck. on 22-Nov-2013. Tag expired on 10-Dec-2013.
#009	F	4	385	Stationary in both winters, occupied same overwintering area during both winters. Occupied overwintering area from 20-Nov-2012 to during the first winter. Spawned and then went to estuary. Returned to initial overwintering area and occupied it from 22-Nov-2013 to 4-Feb-2014 during the second winter. Suspect that tag expired while still in overwintering area.
#013	F	6	455	Stationary in both winters, occupied same overwintering area during both winters. Captured near initial overwintering area on 31-Aug-2013 and remained until 9-April-2013. Spawned in spring and then moved into estuary. Relocated in initial overwintering area on 21-Oct-2013. Final relocation was on 4-Feb-2014, while still in overwintering area.
#050	F	7	460	Stationary in both winters, occupied different overwintering areas in first and second winter. In first winter, CCT remained in initial overwintering area (Deception) from 20-Nov-2012 to 28-March-2013. CCT spawned in the Big Wedeene and then moved throughout watershed during summer/fall. During the second winter it was relocated in a new overwintering area (mouth of Wedeene) on 21-Oct-2013. Tag expired after 4-Feb-2014, fish may have died previously.
#052	F	5	419	Stationary in 2012, mobile in 2013. Overwintered in upper Big Wedeene from 2-Nov-2012 to 14-April-2013. Spawned (19-April-2013) and then moved downstream to the estuary. Relocated in lower Big Wedeene (22-Nov-2013 to 10-Dec-2013) and then moved into the Big Wedeene side channel until tag expired on 28-March-2014.
#091	F	6	424	Captured in upper watershed and primarily overwintered near Cecil Ck in first winter. Spawned (Chist Ck.) and remained in upper watershed through summer. Overwintered in Clay Banks side channel through second winter. Last relocated on 28-April-2014, may have died previously.

Table A1.5. Summary of the behaviours of CCT tracked into overwintering habitats in year 1 and 2.

				Age (y)		For	(Length	(mm)	Weight (g) ge Mean SE Range		g)	Conditi	on Facto	r (g/cm³)
Year	Winter Behaviour	n	Mean	SE	Range	Mean	SE	Range	Mean	SE	Range	Mean	SE	Range
Combined	Stationary	23	4.8	0.2	3 - 7	417	6.1	368 - 460	833	41.1	540 - 1180	1.13	0.02	0.92 - 1.38
	Mobile	34	4.3	0.1	3 - 7	385	6.7	330 - 480	659	34.1	430 - 1050	1.13	0.02	0.93 - 1.37
Welch'	s two sample t:		t(66)	= 2.45, p	= 0.02	t(110.7) = 5.07, j	o < 0.001	t(97.6)) = 4.67, p	< 0.001	t(90.2	.) = 0.05,	p = 0.96
1	Stationary	18	4.8	0.30	3 - 7	419	6.6	376 - 460	826	48.0	540 - 1180	1.11	0.02	0.92 - 1.25
	Mobile	12	4.4	0.38	3 - 7	407	11.3	340 - 480	734	60.8	440 - 1050	1.07	0.02	0.93 - 1.18
Welch'	s two sample t:		t(17.1	l) = 0.71, p	= 0.49	t(18.5) = 0.91, p	o = 0.38	t(23.	1) = 1.18,	p = 0.25	t(26.8	s) = 1.19,	p = 0.24
2	Stationary	5	4.8	0.37	4 - 6	411	16.2	368 - 440	862	85.5	620 - 1020	1.23	0.04	1.17 - 1.38
	Mobile	22	4.3	0.14	3 - 5	373	7.3	330 - 446	618	39.3	430 - 1000	1.17	0.02	1.03 - 1.37
Welch'	s two sample t:		t(5.2) = 1.37, p	= 0.23	t(5.7)	t(5.7) = 2.14, p = 0.08		t(5.8)) = 2.60, p	9 = 0.04	t(6.0) = 1.49, p	0 = 0.19
1	Combined	30	4.7	0.23	3 - 7	414	6.0	340 - 480	789	37.9	440 - 1180	1.09	0.02	0.92 - 1.25
2		27	4.4	0.14	3 - 6	380	7.1	330 - 446	663	39.6	430 - 1020	1.18	0.02	1.03 - 1.38
Welch'	s two sample t:		t(36.5	5) = 1.08, p	= 0.29	t(52.4)	= 3.68 , p	< 0.001	t(54.5	i) = 2.30, j	o = 0.03	t(54.4)	= -3.72, j	o < 0.001
1	Stationary	18	4.8	0.30	3 - 7	419	6.6	376 - 460	826	48.0	540 - 1180	1.11	0.02	0.92 - 1.25
2			4.8	0.37	4 - 6	411	16.2	368 - 440	862	85.5	620 - 1020	1.23	0.04	1.17 - 1.38
Welch'	s two sample t:		t(9.6)	= -0.03, p	= 0.98	t(5.4)	= 0.46, p	= 0.67	t(6.8)	= -0.37, p	o = 0.72	t(7.0)	= -2.79, p	o = 0.03
1	Mobile	12	4.44	0.38	3 - 7	407	11.3	340 - 480	734	60.8	440 - 1050	1.07	0.02	0.93 - 1.18
2		22	4.25	0.14	3 - 5	373	7.3	330 - 446	618	39.3	430 - 1000	1.17	0.02	1.03 - 1.37
Welch'	s two sample t:		t(10.4	l) = 0.48, p	= 0.64	t(20.2) = 2.55, p	o = 0.02	t(20.3	s) = 1.61,	o = 0.12	t(25.2) = -3.4, p	= 0.002

Table A1.6. Physical characteristics of stationary and mobile CCT radio tagged with large transmitters in year 1 and year 2. Significant tests results are bold.

Voor	Sov		Initia	IOW	Position		Final	OW P	osition	Welch's two sample t:
real	JEX	n	Mean	SD	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range	Initial vs Final
Combined	Male	22	24.4	1.7	10.8 to 36.9	20	24.0	1.8	10.8 to 32.1	t(54.6) = -0.19, p = 0.85
	Female	47	24.5	1.2	10.8 to 37.1	32	24.2	1.5	10.8 to 35.7	t(105.8) = 0.31, p = 0.76
Welch's t	wo sample t:		t(53.3)	= -0.5	1, p = 0.61	_	t(49.3) =	-0.03	3, p = 0.97	-
1	Male	12	25.8	2.3	10.8 to 36.9	12	24.4	2.2	10.8 to 32.1	t(16.5) = 0.65, p = 0.53
	Female	19	24.4	2.0	10.8 to 35.7	16	24.1	2.4	10.8 to 35.7	t(22.0) = 0.46, p = 0.65
Welch's t	wo sample t:		t(25.6)	= 0.05	5, p = 0.96		t(17.6)	= -0.2	, p = 0.84	-
2	Male	10	22.7	2.5	10.8 to 34.6	8	23.3	3.1	10.8 to 31.9	t(5.7) = -0.21, p = 0.84
	Female	29	24.7	1.5	10.8 to 37.1	15	24.0	1.8	11 to 33.5	t(25.2) = -0.09, p = 0.93
Welch's t	wo sample t:		t(14.6)	= -0.8	1, p = 0.43		t(4.0) =	-0.36	, p = 0.74	-
1	Combined	31	24.9	1.5	10.8 to 36.9	28	24.3	1.7	10.8 to 35.7	t(60.3) = 0.54, p = 0.59
2		37	24.1	1.3	10.8 to 37.1	24	24.0	1.5	10.8 to 33.5	t(70.1) = -0.00, p = 0.99
Welch's t	wo sample t:		t(73.6)	= 0.05	5, p = 0.62		t(56.8) =	= -0.16	ō, p = 0.87	-
1	Male	12	25.8	2.3	10.8 to 36.9	12	24.4	2.2	10.8 to 32.1	-
2		10	22.7	2.5	10.8 to 34.6	8	23.3	3.1	10.8 to 31.9	-
Welch's t	wo sample t:		t(19.6)	= 0.71	l, p = 0.49		t(6.5 =	-0.20,	p = 0.85	-
1	Female	19	24.4	2.0	10.8 to 35.7	16	24.1	2.4	10.8 to 35.7	-
2		29	24.7	1.5	10.8 to 37.1	15	24.0	1.8	11 to 33.5	-
Welch's t	wo sample t:		t(31.6)	= -0.0	3, p = 0.98		t(18.2) =	-0.57	7, p = 0.58	-

Table A1.7. River position (km) of initial and final overwintering habitats used by male and female CCT in year 1 and 2. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Veer	Winter Behaviour		Initial	ow F	Position		Final O	N Positio	'n	Welch's two sample t:
rear	winter Benaviour	n	Mean	SD	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range	Initial vs Final
Combined	Stationary	25	23.7	1.9	10.8 to 35.7	25	23.7	1.9	10.8 to 35.7	t(43.7) = 0.76, p = 0.45
	Mobile	40	25.1	1.1	10.8 to 37.1	27	24.5	1.3	10.8 to 32	t(110.3) = -0.2, p = 0.84
Welch	's two sample t:		t(36.2) =	-0.3	3, p = 0.74		t(31.4) = -	1.33, p = 0	0.19	-
1	Combined	30	25.2	1.5	10.8 to 36.9	28	24.3	1.7	10.8 to 35.7	t(64.8) = 0.52, p = 0.6
2		34	24.0	1.3	10.8 to 37.1	24	24.0	1.5	10.8 to 33.5	t(66.2) = -0.36, p = 0.72
Welch	's two sample t:		t(77.6) =	= 0.44	, p = 0.66		t(60.7) = -	0.46, p = 0	0.65	
1	Stationary	19	24.0	2.2	10.8 to 35.7	19	24.0	2.2	10.8 to 35.7	-
	Mobile	11	27.4	1.7	15.7 to 36.9	9	24.9	2.5	10.8 to 30.7	t(21) = -0.23, p = 0.82
Welch	n's two sample t:	t(26.1) = -0.61, p = 0.55					t(21) = -1	.85, p = 0	.08	
2	Stationary	6	22.8	3.9	10.8 to 33.5	6	22.8	3.9	10.8 to 33.5	-
	Mobile	30	24.3	1.3	10.8 to 37.1	17	24.1	1.7	10.8 to 32	t(33.4) = -0.08, p = 0.94
Welch	's two sample t:		t(6.2) =	-0.33	, p = 0.75			-		
1	Stationary	19	24.0	2.2	10.8 to 35.7	19	24.0	2.2	10.8 to 35.7	-
2		6	22.8	3.9	10.8 to 33.5	6	22.8	3.9	10.8 to 33.5	-
Welch	's two sample t:		t(8.8) =	0.31	p = 0.77			-		
1	Mobile	11	27.4	1.7	15.7 to 36.9	9	24.9	2.5	10.8 to 30.7	-
2		30	24.3	1.3	10.8 to 37.1	17	24.1	1.7	10.8 to 32	-
Welch	Welch's two sample t:			= 0.83	, p = 0.41		t(21.9) = 0).89, p = ().39	-

Table A1.8. River position of initial and final overwintering habitats used by mobile and stationary CCT in year 1 and 2. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Year Se	Sov		Observe	d in Overw	vintering Habitats		Captured	in Overv	vintering Habitats		NOT Captu	ured in Ov	verwintering Habitats
Teal	Jex	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range
Combined	Male	22	20-Nov	28.0	12-Sep to 17-Dec	11	19-Nov	35.8	12-Sep to 17-Dec	11	20-Nov	18.6	21-Oct to 17-Dec
	Female	46	21-Oct	24.7	11-Aug to 17-Dec	15	21-Oct	31.2	11-Aug to 11-Dec	31	30-Oct	20.5	06-Sep to 17-Dec
Two Sam	ple KS Test		H _o : Male	>Female;	d = 0.22, p = 0.233		H _o : Male >	Female	; d = 0.35, p = 0.221		H _o : Male	> Female	e; d = 0.21, p = 0.477
1	Male	12	22-Nov	26.0	12-Sep to 17-Dec	7	11-Dec	33.7	12-Sep to 17-Dec	5	20-Nov	12.1	20-Nov to 17-Dec
	Female	19	20-Nov	27.7	11-Aug to 17-Dec	7	8-Nov	41.2	11-Aug to 11-Dec	12	20-Nov	16.7	06-Oct to 17-Dec
Two Sam	ple KS Test		H _o : Male	>Female;	d = 0.34, p = 0.182	_	H _o : Male >	Female	; d = 0.43, p = 0.280		H _o : Male > Female; d = 0.25, p = 0.639		
2	Male	10	21-Oct	18.5	24-Sep to 22-Nov	4	10-Oct	9.4	24-Sep to 14-Oct	6	23-Oct	16.1	21-Oct to 22-Nov
	Female	27	21-Oct	18.6	06-Sep to 22-Nov	8	21-Oct	14.7	09-Sep to 21-Oct	19	21-Oct	18.9	06-Sep to 22-Nov
Two Sam	ple KS Test		H₀ : Male	< Female;	d = 0.29 p = 0.301		H _o : Male <	Female	; d = 0.75, p = 0.050		H_o: Male > Female; d = 0.24, p = 0.601		e; d = 0.24, p = 0.601
1	Combined	31	20-Nov	27.2	11-Aug to 17-Dec	14	22-Nov	37.4	11-Aug to 17-Dec	11	20-Nov	16.6	21-Oct to 17-Dec
2		37	21-Oct	18.3	11-Aug to 17-Dec	12	14-Oct	13.1	09-Sep to 21-Oct	31	30-Oct	18.1	06-Sep to 17-Dec
Two Sam	ple KS Test		H _o : 2012	2 > 2013; d	= 0.71, p < 0.001		H _o : 2012	> 2013; c	l = 0.85, p < 0.001		H _o : 201	L2 > 2013;	d = 0.66, p < 0.001
1	Male	12	22-Nov	26.0	12-Sep to 17-Dec	7	11-Dec	33.7	12-Sep to 17-Dec	5	20-Nov	12.1	20-Nov to 17-Dec
2		10	21-Oct	18.5	24-Sep to 22-Nov	4	10-Oct	9.4	24-Sep to 14-Oct	6	23-Oct	16.1	21-Oct to 22-Nov
Two Sam	ple KS Test		H _o : 2012	2 > 2013; d	= 0.72, p = 0.004		H _o : 2012	> 2013; c	l = 0.86, p = 0.023		H _o : 2012 > 2013; d = 0.67, p = 0.089		d = 0.67, p = 0.089
1	Female	19	20-Nov	27.7	11-Aug to 17-Dec	7	8-Nov	41.2	11-Aug to 11-Dec	12	20-Nov	16.7	06-Oct to 17-Dec
2		27	21-Oct	18.6	06-Sep to 22-Nov	8	21-Oct	14.7	09-Sep to 21-Oct	19 21-Oct 18.9 06-Sep to 22-Nov			06-Sep to 22-Nov
Two Sam	ple KS Test		H₀: 2012	2 > 2013; d	= 0.71, p < 0.001		H₀: 2012	> 2013; c	l = 0.86, p = 0.004	H _o : 2012 > 2013; d = 0.65, p =0.002			

Table A1.9. Median date male and female CCT arrived in, and were captured in, initial overwintering habitats in year 1 and year 2. Note that 1 CCT captured in an overwintering habitat in year 1 was excluded from this analysis (Fish#003). Significant tests results are bold.

Vear	Winter		Observed	n Overwi	ntering Habitats		Captured i	n Overwi	ntering Habitats		NOT Captur	ed in Ove	rwintering Habitats
Tear	Behaviour	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range
1	Combined	30	20-Nov	20.6	11-Aug to 17-Dec	13	22-Nov	26.4	11-Aug to 17-Dec	17	20-Nov	15.6	06-Oct to 17-Dec
2		34	21-Oct	18.4	06-Sep to 22-Nov	12	14-Oct	13.1	09-Sep to 21-Oct	22	21-Oct	16.5	06-Sep to 22-Nov
Two Sa	mple KS Test		H _o : 2012 >	2013; d =	0.71, p<0.001		H _o : 2012 >	2013; d =	0.86, p < 0.001		H _o : 2012	> 2013; d =	= 0.66, p < 0.001
1	Stationary	18	20-Nov	22.7	12-Sep to 17-Dec	7	20-Nov	33.5	12-Sep to 17-Dec	11	20-Nov	13.5	30-Oct to 17-Dec
	Mobile	12	20-Nov	18.0	06-Oct to 12-Dec	6	2-Dec	14.6	07-Nov to 12-Dec	6	20-Nov	18.4	06-Oct to 20-Nov
Two sa	mple KS Test:	H	: Stationary	> Mobile	; d = 0.17, p = 0.665	H	H_o : Stationary < Mobile; d = 0.29, p = 0.588				H₀: Stationar	y > Mobile	e; d = 0.18, p = 0.770
2	Stationary	6	21-Oct	24.0	09-Sep to 22-Nov	2	23-Sep	19.8	09-Sep to 07-Oct	4	21-Oct	16.0	21-Oct to 22-Nov
	Mobile	28	21-Oct	17.3	06-Sep to 22-Nov	10	18-Oct	8.7	24-Sep to 21-Oct	18	21-Oct	19.4	06-Sep to 22-Nov
Two sa	mple KS Test:	H	: Stationary	< Mobile	; d = 0.23, p = 0.597	H	₀: Stationary	< Mobile	; d = 0.80, p = 0.118	ŀ	l _o : Stationary	y < Mobile	; d = 0.083, p = 0.960
1	Combined	30	20-Nov	20.6	11-Aug to 17-Dec	13	22-Nov	26.4	11-Aug to 17-Dec	17	20-Nov	15.6	06-Oct to 17-Dec
2		34	21-Oct	18.4	06-Sep to 22-Nov	12	14-Oct	13.1	09-Sep to 21-Oct	22	21-Oct	16.5	06-Sep to 22-Nov
Two Sa	mple KS Test		H _o : 2012 >	2013; d =	0.71, p<0.001		H₀: 2012 >	• 2013; d =	0.86, p<0.001		H _o : 2012	> 2013; d =	= 0.66, p < 0.001
1	Stationary	18	20-Nov	22.7	12-Sep to 17-Dec	7	20-Nov	33.5	12-Sep to 17-Dec	11	20-Nov	13.5	30-Oct to 17-Dec
2		6	21-Oct	24.0	09-Sep to 22-Nov	2	23-Sep	19.8	09-Sep to 07-Oct	4	21-Oct	16.0	21-Oct to 22-Nov
Two sa	mple KS Test:		H _o : 2012 >	2013; d =	0.78, p = 0.004		H _o : 2012 >	• 2013; d =	0.86, p = 0.102	H _o : 2012 > 2013; d = 0.75, p = 0.037			= 0.75, p = 0.037
1	Mobile	12	20-Nov	18.0	06-Oct to 12-Dec	6	2-Dec	14.6	07-Nov to 12-Dec	6	20-Nov	18.4	06-Oct to 20-Nov
2		28	21-Oct	17.3	06-Sep to 22-Nov	10	18-Oct	8.7	24-Sep to 21-Oct	18 21-Oct 19.4 06-Sep to 22-Nov			06-Sep to 22-Nov
Two sa	mple KS Test:		H₀: 2012 >	2013; d =	0.74, p<0.001		H _o : 2012 :	> 2013; d =	= 1.0, p < 0.001	H _o : 2012 > 2013; d = 0.56, p = 0.062			

Table A1.10. Median date mobile and stationary CCT arrived in, and were captured in, initial overwintering habitats in year 1 and year 2. Note that 1 CCT captured in an overwintering habitat in year 1 was excluded from this analysis (Fish#003). Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Voor	Sox		Absolute	Distan	ce (rkm)	Ab	solute D	istanc	e (tkm)	Abs	olute Dis	tance (rkm + tkm)
Teal	JEX	n	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range
Combined	Male	11	6.2	1.8	0.0 - 19.2	11.0	1.5	0.7	0.0 - 6.1	11	7.7	1.6	0.8 - 19.2
	Female	31	9.2	1.2	0.0 - 22.0	31.0	0.8	0.4	0.0 - 12.0	31	10.1	1.1	1.0 - 22.0
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(40.2) =	-2.00,	o = 0.05	t	(36.3) = 3	1.18, p	= 0.25		t(76.7) =	-2.21, p	o = 0.03
1	Male	5	2.6	1.0	0.0 - 5.0	5	1.8	1.1	0.0 - 5.9	5	4.4	1.0	1.9 - 7.0
	Female	12	8.8	1.7	0.0 - 20.8	12	0.4	0.2	0.0 - 2.6	12	9.2	1.7	1.0 - 20.8
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(15.0) = -	- 3.18 , p	9 = 0.006	1	t(4.3) = 1	.28, p :	= 0.27		t(15.0) =	-2.46, p	o = 0.03
2	Male	6	9.3	2.7	0.0 - 19.2	6	1.2	1.0	0.0 - 6.1	6	10.5	2.4	0.8 - 19.2
	Female	19	9.5	1.6	0.0 - 22.0	19	1.1	0.6	0.0 - 12.0	19	10.6	1.5	1.0 - 22.0
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(8.8) = -) = 0.94	t	(9.7) = 0.	094, p	= 0.93		t(9.1) = -0).043, p	o = 0.97	
1	Combined	17	7.0	1.4	0.0 - 20.8	17	0.8	0.4	0.0 - 5.9	17	7.8	1.3	1.0 - 20.8
2		25	9.5	1.4	0.0 - 22.0	25	1.1	0.5	0.0 - 12.0	25	10.6	1.2	0.8 - 22.0
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(78.3) =	-1.82,	o = 0.07	t	(79.6) = -	0.68, p	= 0.50		t(42.0) =	-1.72, p	o = 0.09
1	Male	5	2.6	1.0	0.0 - 5.0	5	1.8	1.1	0.0 - 5.9	5	4.4	1.0	1.9 - 7.0
2		6	9.3	2.7	0.0 - 19.2	6	1.2	1.0	0.0 - 6.1	6	10.5	2.4	0.8 - 19.2
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(6.3) = -	·2.31, p	9 = 0.06	1	t(8.6) = 0	.41, p =	= 0.69		t(6.7) = -	2.34, p	= 0.05
1	Female	12	8.8	1.7	0.0 - 20.8	12	0.4	0.2	0.0 - 2.6	12 9.2 1.7 1.0 - 20.8			
2		19	9.5	1.6	0.0 - 22.0	19	1.1	0.6	0.0 - 12.0	19	10.6	1.5	1.0 - 22.0
Welch's tw	Velch's two sample t:		t(26.8) =	: -0.3, p) = 0.76	t	(21.6) = -	1.03, p	= 0.31		t(25.3) =	-0.63, p	o = 0.53

Table A1.11. Absolute distance male and female CCT travelled to initial overwintering areas. Note that CCT captured within overwintering areas have been excluded. Summary includes distance travelled in mainstem (rkm), tributaries (tkm) and in total (rkm + tkm).

Voor	Winter	Ab	solute D	ce (rkm)	Abs	olute D	ce (tkm)	Absolute Distance (rkm + tkm)						
Teal	Behaviour	n	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range	
Combined	Stationary	25	7.2	1.5	0.0 - 20.8	25	1.0	0.4	0.0 - 5.9	25	8.2	1.4	1.0 - 20.8	
	Mobile	15	9.4	1.4	0.0 - 22.0	15	1.1	0.5	0.0-12.0	15	10.5	1.3	0.8 - 22.0	
Welch's tv	wo sample t:	t(69.5) = -2	l.25, p	o = 0.22	t(82.0) = -	1.0, p	= 0.31	t(7	6.7) = -2	.07, p	= 0.041	
1	Stationary	11	7.3	2.0	0.0 - 20.8	11	0.9	0.5	0.0 - 5.9	6	8.2	1.8	1.0 - 20.8	
	Mobile	6	6.4	1.9	0.5 - 11.1	6	0.6	0.4	0.0 - 2.6	11	7.0	2.1	1.1 - 13.1	
Welch's tv	vo sample t:	t(13.5) = 0	.32, p	= 0.76	t(14.9) = 0	.50, p	= 0.62	t(11.9) = 0	.45, p	= 0.66	
2	Stationary	4	7.2	2.5	1.9 - 13.4	4	1.2	0.9	0.3 - 3.9	4	8.4	2.4	2.2 - 13.7	
	Mobile	19	10.5	1.7	0.0 - 22.0	19	1.2	0.7	0.0 - 12.0	19	11.7	1.5	0.8 - 22.0	
Welch's tv	wo sample t:	t(6.3) = -0	.89, p	= 0.40	t(7.4) = -0	.21, p	= 0.84	t(5.6) = -1	.06, p	= 0.33	
1	Combined	17	7.0	1.4	0.0 - 20.8	17	0.8	0.4	0.0 - 5.9	17	7.8	1.3	1.0 - 20.8	
2		23	9.9	1.5	0.0 - 22.0	23	23 1.2 0.6 0.0-12.0				23 11.1 1.3 0.8 - 22.0			
Welch's tw	wo sample t:	t(79.4) = -2	1.56, p	o = 0.12	t(7	77.9) = -().47, p	o = 0.64	t(e	68.8) = -1	L.56, p	o = 0.12	
1	Stationary	11	7.3	2.0	0.0 - 20.8	11	0.9	0.5	0.0 - 5.9	11	8.2	1.8	1.0 - 20.8	
2		4	7.2	2.5	1.9 - 13.4	4	1.2	0.9	0.3 - 3.9	4	8.4	2.4	2.2 - 13.7	
Welch's two sample t: t(7.0) = 0.03, p = 0.98						t(5.2) = -0	.26, p	= 0.81	t(6.6) = -0	.06, p	= 0.95	
1	Mobile	6	6.4	1.9	0.5 - 11.1	6	0.6	0.4	0.0 - 2.6	6	7.0	2.1	1.1 - 13.1	
2		19	10.5	1.7	0.0 - 22.0	19	1.2	0.7	0.0 - 12.0	19	11.7	1.5	0.8 - 22.0	
Welch's tv	wo sample t:	t(13.9) = -1.35, p = 0.20				t(22.8) = -1.03, p = 0.31				t(10.7) = -1.72, p = 0.11				

Table A1.12. Absolute distance mobile and stationary CCT travelled to initial overwintering areas. Note that CCT captured within overwintering areas have been excluded. Summary includes distance travelled in mainstem (rkm), tributaries (tkm) and in total (rkm + tkm). Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Table A1.13. Summary of the number of overwintering habitats (OW) mobile CCT occupied; the mainstem river position (rkm) of final overwintering habitats
for mobile CCT relative to initial overwintering habitats; the mean distance separating overwintering habitats, and; the total absolute distance male and female
CCT moved between overwintering habitats. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Voor	Sov	Number of OW habitats Occupied					Relative	on of OW	Mean Distance of				Total Absolute Distance Moved (rkm +				
Tear	Jex	n	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range
Combined	Male	12	2.6	0.2	2 - 4	12	-0.9	2.3	-12.1 to 12.3	21	6.8	0.9	2.1 - 15.0	12	10.4	1.6	2.9 to 23
	Female	17	2.7	0.2	2 - 5	17	-2.3	1.4	-17.9 to 6.2	39	4.8	0.5	1.1 - 11.6	17	8.2	1.7	1.4 to 31.3
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(21.2) =	-0.29,	o = 0.77		t(19.0)	= 0.53	, p = 0.60		t(30.0) =	1.90,	p = 0.07		t(26.8) =	0.98, p = 0).34
1	Male	10	2.6	0.2	2 - 4	5	-5.2	2.8	-12.1 to 4.4	10	5.8	1.4	2.1 - 15.0	5	12.6	3.3	5 to 23.5
	Female	19	2.7	0.2	2 - 5	5	-3.6	2.3	-10.4 to 1.3	7	5.5	1.4	1.3 - 10.7	5	6.3	2.0	1.3 to 11
Welch's tw	o sample t:	t(26.6) = -0.43, p = 0.67			o = 0.67		t(7.8) =	-0.42,	, p = 0.68	t(14.1) = 0.16, p = 0.88				t(6.7) = 1.65, p = 0.15			0.15
2	Male	5	3.0	0.3	2 - 4	7	2.1	2.9	-9.3 to 12.3	11	7.6	1.3	2.7 - 13.4	7	11.8	2.4	3 to 22.2
	Female	5	2.2	0.2	2 - 3	12	-1.8	1.7	-17.9 to 6.2	32	4.6	0.5	1.1 - 11.6	12	9.4	2.6	2.2 to 33.4
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(6.8) =	2.14, p	= 0.07		t(10.4)	= 1.15	, p = 0.28		t(12.8) =	2.14,	p = 0.05		t(15.9) =	0.68, p = 0	0.51
1	Combined	7	2.3	0.2	2 - 3	10	-4.4	1.7	-12.1 to 4.4	17	5.7	1.0	1.3 - 15.0	10	9.5	2.1	1.3 to 23.5
2		12	2.9	0.3	2 - 5	19	-0.3	1.6	-17.9 to 12.3	43	5.4	0.5	1.1 - 13.4	19	10.3	1.8	2.2 to 33.4
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(17.0) =	-1.98,	o = 0.06		t(22.1)	= -1.73	3, p = 0.10		t(26.0) =	0.32,	p = 0.75		t(21.5) =	-0.3, p = 0).76
1	Male	5	3.0	0.3	2 - 4	5	-5.2	2.8	-12.1 to 4.4	10	5.8	1.4	2.1 - 15.0	5	12.6	3.3	5 to 23.5
2		7	2.3	0.2	2 - 3	7	2.1	2.9	-9.3 to 12.3	11	7.6	1.3	2.7 - 13.4	7	11.8	2.4	3 to 22.2
Welch's tw	o sample t:	t(6.7) = 1.95, p = 0.09				t(9.7) =	-1.79,	, p = 0.10	1	t(18.9) =	-0.93,	p = 0.37	t(8) = 0.2, p = 0.85				
1	Female	5	2.2	0.2	2 - 3	5	-3.6	2.3	-10.4 to 1.3	7	5.5	1.4	1.3 - 10.7	5	6.3	2.0	1.3 to 11
2		12	2.9	0.3	2 - 5	12	-1.8	1.7	-17.9 to 6.2	32	4.6	0.5	1.1 - 11.6	12	9.4	2.6	2.2 to 33.4
Welch's tw	o sample t:		t(14.2) =	-2.18,	o = 0.05		t(8.9) =	-0.64,	, p = 0.54		t(7.4) =	0.62, p) = 0.55		t(13.9) = -	-0.96, p =	0.35

Voor	Sov		Stagir	ng & No	n-Staging		N	on-Sta	ging	Staging				Two-sample KS test:	
Tear	Зех	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	Non-Staging vs Staging CCT	
Combined	Male	20	31-Mar	13.1	04-Mar to 28-Apr	10	1-Apr	4.5	15-Mar to 28-Apr	10	30-Mar	3.6	04-Mar to 09-Apr	Ho: Non Stage < Stage; p = 0.78, D = 0.07	
	Female	33	07-Apr	11.3	06-Mar to 05-May	17	5-Apr	2.6	06-Mar to 19-Apr	16	8-Apr	3.0	20-Mar to 05-May	Ho: Non Stage < Stage; p = 0.78, D = 0.07	
Two samp	le KS test:	Н	o: Male < F	emale;	p = 0.11, D = 0.30	Но	: Male < Fe	male;	p = 0.48, D = 0.24	H	o: Male < Fe	emale;	p = 0.08, D = 0.45	-	
1	Male	12	28-Mar	10.0	13-Mar to 14-Apr	5	23-Mar	5.1	15-Mar to 14-Apr	7	28-Mar	3.6	13-Mar to 09-Apr	Ho: Non Stage < Stage; p = 0.30, D = 0.46	
	Female	16	05-Apr	12.0	06-Mar to 19-Apr	9	5-Apr	4.5	06-Mar to 19-Apr	7	5-Apr	4.2	20-Mar to 19-Apr	Ho: Non Stage < Stage; p = 0.79, D = 0.17	
Two samp	le KS test:	Ho: Male < Female, p = 0.49, D = 0.23			Ho: Male < Female; p = 0.22, D = 0.49			Ho: Male < Female; p = 0.87, D = 0.14			Ho: Male < Female; p = 0.87, D = 0.14			p = 0.87, D = 0.14	-
2	Male	8	02-Apr	16.6	04-Mar to 28-Apr	5	7-Apr	5.6	31-Mar to 28-Apr	3	1-Apr	9.3	04-Mar to 01-Apr	Ho: Non Stage > Stage; p = 0.09, D = 0.8	
	Female	17	08-Apr	9.7	28-Mar to 05-May	8	7-Apr	2.3	28-Mar to 17-Apr	9	11-Apr	3.9	28-Mar to 05-May	Ho: Non Stage < Stage; p = 0.66, D = 0.22	
Two samp	ole KS test:	Н	o: Male < F	emale;	p = 0.30, D = 0.33	H	o: Male > Fe	emale;	p = 0.37, D = 0.4	H	o: Male < Fe	<i>l</i> ale < Female; p = 0.03, D = 0.89		-	
1	Combined	28	28-Mar	11.3	06-Mar to 19-Apr	14	28-Mar	3.4	06-Mar to 19-Apr	14	1-Apr	2.7	13-Mar to 19-Apr	Ho: Non Stage < Stage; p = 0.56, D = 0.14	
2		25	07-Apr	12.2	04-Mar to 05-May	13	7-Apr	2.6	28-Mar to 28-Apr	12	6-Apr	4.4	04-Mar to 05-May	Ho: Non Stage < Stage; p = 0.42, D = 0.19	
Two samp	le KS test:	Но	o: Year 1 < ۱	/ear 2;	p < 0.001, D = 0.42	Но	: Year 1 < Y	ear 2; J	o = 0.001, D = 0.49	Н	o: Year 1 < `	Year 2;	p = 0.05, D = 0.35	-	
1	Male	12	28-Mar	10.0	13-Mar to 14-Apr	5	23-Mar	5.1	15-Mar to 14-Apr	7	28-Mar	3.6	13-Mar to 09-Apr	-	
2		8	02-Apr	16.6	04-Mar to 28-Apr	5	7-Apr	5.6	31-Mar to 28-Apr	3	1-Apr	9.3	04-Mar to 01-Apr	-	
Two samp	le KS test:	Н	lo:Year 1 <	Year 2;	p = 0.06, D = 0.54	Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p = 0.04, D = 0.8		Н	o: Year 1 > `	Year 2;	p = 0.46, D = 0.43	-			
1	Female	16	05-Apr	12.0	06-Mar to 19-Apr	9	5-Apr	4.5	06-Mar to 19-Apr	7	5-Apr	4.2	20-Mar to 19-Apr	-	
2		17	08-Apr	9.7	28-Mar to 05-May	8	7-Apr	2.3	28-Mar to 17-Apr	9	11-Apr	3.9	28-Mar to 05-May	-	
Two samp	le KS test:	Н	lo:Year 1<	Year 2;	p = 0.19, D = 0.32	Но	o: Year 1 < Y	'ear 2;	p = 0.42, D = 0.32	Н	o: Year 1 < `	Year 2;	p = 0.26, D = 0.41	-	

Table A1.14. Timing that staging and non-staging male and female CCT departed from final overwintering habitats in year 1 and year 2. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Voor	Migration		Stagir	ng & No	n-Staging		N	on-Sta	ging	Staging			ng	Two-sample KS test:
fear	Туре	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	Non-Staging vs Staging CCT
Combined	Stationary	24	05-Apr	10.6	06-Mar to 19-Apr	12	04-Apr	13.1	06-Mar to 19-Apr	12	08-Apr	7.35	21-Mar to 19-Apr	Ho: Non Stage > Stage; p = 0.42, D = 0.19
	Mobile	29	02-Apr	13.6	04-Mar to 05-May	15	07-Apr	10.9	21-Mar to 28-Apr	14	30-Mar	16.2	04-Mar to 05-May	Ho: Non Stage > Stage; p = 0.56, D = 0.14
Two samp	ole KS test:	Ho:	Stationary	> Mobil	e; p = 0.41, D = 0.18	Ho:	Stationary ·	< Mobil	e; p = 0.59, D = 0.2	Ho:	Stationary	> Mobil	e; p = 0.14, D = 0.39	-
1	Stationary	18	05-Apr	11.5	06-Mar to 19-Apr	9	28-Mar	13.7	06-Mar to 19-Apr	9	09-Apr	8.24	21-Mar to 19-Apr	Ho: Non Stage < Stage; p = 0.37, D = 0.33
	Mobile	10	28-Mar	10.5	13-Mar to 19-Apr	5	28-Mar	12.3	21-Mar to 19-Apr	5	28-Mar	6.77	13-Mar to 28-Mar	Ho: Non Stage > Stage; p = 0.45, D = 0.4
Two samp	ole KS test:	Ho: Stationary > Mobile; p = 0.11, D = 0.41			Ho: Stationary < Mobile; p = 0.73, D = 0.22			Ho: Stationary > Mobile; p = 0.02, D = 0.78			e; p = 0.02, D = 0.78	-		
2	Stationary	6	09-Apr	5.89	01-Apr to 17-Apr	3	11-Apr	7.0	03-Apr to 17-Apr	3	07-Apr	5.03	01-Apr to 11-Apr	Ho: Non Stage = Stage; p = 0.72, D = 0.33
	Mobile	19	07-Apr	13.8	04-Mar to 05-May	10	7-Apr	10.0	28-Mar to 28-Apr	9	05-Apr	17.7	04-Mar to 05-May	Ho: Non Stage = Stage; p = 0.8, D = 0.16
Two samp	ole KS test:	Ho:	Stationary	> Mobil	e; p = 0.53, D = 0.26	Ho: S	Stationary >	Mobil	e; p = 0.54, D = 0.37	Ho: Stationary > Mobile; p = 0.61, D = 0.3		e; p = 0.61, D = 0.33	-	
1	Combined	28	28-Mar	11.3	06-Mar to 19-Apr	14	28-Mar	12.8	06-Mar to 19-Apr	14	01-Apr	10	13-Mar to 19-Apr	Ho: Non Stage > Stage; p = 0.41, D = 0.25
2		25	07-Apr	12.2	04-Mar to 05-May	13	07-Apr	9.2	28-Mar to 28-Apr	12	06-Apr	15.3	04-Mar to 05-May	Ho: Non Stage = Stage; p = 0.47, D = 0.25
Two samp	ole KS test:	Н	o:Year1<\	/ear 2;	o < 0.001, D = 0.42	Но	:Year1 <y< td=""><td>ear 2; p</td><td>o = 0.001, D = 0.49</td><td>Н</td><td>o: Year 1 < '</td><td>Year 2;</td><td>p = 0.05, D = 0.35</td><td>-</td></y<>	ear 2; p	o = 0.001, D = 0.49	Н	o: Year 1 < '	Year 2;	p = 0.05, D = 0.35	-
1	Stationary	18	05-Apr	11.5	06-Mar to 19-Apr	9	28-Mar	13.7	06-Mar to 19-Apr	9	09-Apr	8.24	21-Mar to 19-Apr	-
2		6	09-Apr	5.89	01-Apr to 17-Apr	3	11-Apr	7.0	03-Apr to 17-Apr	3	07-Apr	5.03	01-Apr to 11-Apr	-
Two samp	ole KS test:	Н	lo: Year 1 <	Year 2;	p = 0.26, D = 0.39	Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p = 0.25, D = 0.56			Н	o: Year 1 < `	Year 2;	p = 0.80, D = 0.22	-	
1	Mobile	10	28-Mar	10.5	13-Mar to 19-Apr	5	28-Mar	12.3	21-Mar to 19-Apr	5	28-Mar	6.77	13-Mar to 28-Mar	-
2		19	07-Apr	13.8	04-Mar to 05-May	10	7-Apr	10.0	28-Mar to 28-Apr	9	05-Apr	17.7	04-Mar to 05-May	-
Two samp	ole KS test:	Н	o: Year 1 < \	/ear 2;	o = 0.004; D = 0.64	Н	o: Year 1 < `	Year 2;	p = 0.19, D = 0.5	Н	o: Year 1 < `	Year 2;	p = 0.02, D = 0.78	-

Table A1.15. Timing that staging and non-staging mobile and stationary CCT departed from final overwintering habitats in year 1 and year 2. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Voor	Sov		OW	/ to St	age	Stage to Spawn					
Tear	JEX	n	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range		
Combined	Male	10	6.2	3.5	0.1 - 36.2	10	3.2	0.5	0.8 - 5.7		
	Female	16	4.5	1.2	0.1 - 14.8	14	5.7	1.0	1.7 - 14.0		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t	(11.0) =	: 0.47,	p = 0.65	t(-	2.3) = 1	19.06	, p = 0.04		
1	Male	7	3.5	1.2	0.1 - 9.5	7	3.2	0.6	0.8 - 5.2		
	Female	7	4.4	1.9	0.2 - 14.8	6	4.2	0.9	1.7 - 8.1		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t(10.3) = -0.42, p = 0.68					t(-1.0) = 8.27, p = 0.37				
2	Male	3	12.7	11.8	0.7 - 36.2	3	3.1	1.4	0.8 - 5.7		
	Female	9	4.6	1.5	0.1 - 14.0	8	6.9	1.5	2.4 - 14.0		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t	:(2.1) =	0.68,	p = 0.56	t(-1.8) =	6.82,	p = 0.12		
1	Combined	14	4.0	1.1	0.1 - 14.8	13	3.6	0.5	0.8 - 8.1		
2		12	6.6	2.9	0.1 - 36.2	11	5.8	1.3	0.8 - 14.0		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t(14.0) =	-0.85	, p = 0.41	t(-	1.6) = 1	13.42	, p = 0.13		
1	Male	7	3.5	1.2	0.1 - 9.5	7	3.2	0.6	0.8 - 5.2		
2		3	12.7	11.8	0.7 - 36.2	3	3.1	1.4	0.8 - 5.7		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t(2.0) = -0.78, p = 0.52					0.01) =	2.64	, p = 0.99		
1	Female	7	4.4	1.9	0.2 - 14.8	6	4.2	0.9	1.7 - 8.1		
2		9	4.6	1.5	0.1 - 14.0	8	6.9	1.5	2.4 - 14.0		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t(12.4) = -0.07, p = 0.94					t(-1.5) = 11.03, p = 0.17				

Table A1.16. Summary of absolute distances travelled by male and female CCT from overwintering to spawning habitats, from overwinter to staging habitats, and from staging to spawning habitats in year 1 and year 2. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Voor	Migration		OW	to St	age	Stage to Spawn				
Tear	Туре	n	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range	
Combined	Stationary	12	2.6	0.6	0.1 - 5.8	11	3.6	0.6	0.8 - 8.1	
	Mobile	14	7.4	2.6	0.1 - 36.2	13	5.5	1.1	0.8 - 14.0	
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t(14.5) =	-1.80	, p = 0.09	t(-	·1.5) = 1	18.94	, p = 0.16	
1	Stationary	9	2.6	0.8	0.1 - 5.8	8	3.3	0.8	0.8 - 8.1	
	Mobile	5	6.3	2.6	1.4 - 14.8	5	4.2	0.6	2.9 - 5.6	
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t	(4.7) = -	1.39,	p = 0.23	t(-	-1.0) = 1	L0.97	, p = 0.33	
2	Stationary	3	2.6	1.0	1.2 - 4.6	3	4.7	1.0	2.7 - 5.7	
	Mobile	9	8.0	3.9	0.1 - 36.2	8	6.3	1.7	0.8 - 14	
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t	(9.0) = -	1.35,	p = 0.21	t(-0.8) =	8.97,	p = 0.44	
1	Combined	14	4.0	1.1	0.1 - 14.8	13	3.6	0.5	0.8 - 8.1	
2		12	6.6	2.9	0.1 - 36.2	11	5.8	1.3	0.8 - 14.0	
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t(14.0) =	-0.85	, p = 0.41	t(-	-1.6) = 1	L3.42	, p = 0.13	
1	Stationary	9	2.6	0.8	0.1 - 5.8	8	3.3	0.8	0.8 - 8.1	
2		3	2.6	1.0	1.2 - 4.6	3	4.7	1.0	2.7 - 5.7	
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	1	:(4.6) = (0.02,	p = 0.99	t(-1.1) =	4.77,	p = 0.32	
1	Mobile	5	6.3	2.6	1.4 - 14.8	5	4.2	0.6	2.9 - 5.6	
2		9	8.0	3.9	0.1 - 36.2	8	6.3	1.7	0.8 - 14.0	
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t(12) = -0.35, p = 0.73					t(-1.1) = 8.38, p = 0.29			

Table A1.17. Summary of absolute distances travelled by stationary and mobile CCT from overwintering to spawning habitats, from overwinter to staging habitats, and from staging to spawning habitats in year 1 and year 2. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Vear	Year Sex Arrival to pre-spawn staging						Departure	e from pr	e-spawn staging	
Teal	JEX	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	
1	Combined	12	11-Apr	10.5	28-Mar to 01-May	11	19-Apr	10.0	28-Mar to 06-May	
2		10	12-Apr	7.1	07-Apr to 28-Apr	10	27-Apr	6.0	14-Apr to 01-May	
Two sa	mple KS test:		Ho: Year 1 <	< Year 2;	p = 0.023, D = 0.42		Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p < 0.001, D = 0.61	
Combined	Male	9	9-Apr	8.9	28-Mar to 23-Apr	8	17-Apr	6.7	05-Apr to 28-Apr	
	Female	13	14-Apr	9.1	28-Mar to 01-May	13	23-Apr	9.9	28-Mar to 06-May	
Two sa	mple KS test:		Ho: Male <	Female;	p = 0.061, D = 0.51		Ho: Male <	Female;	p = 0.184, D = 0.41	
1	Male	6	7-Apr	9.0	28-Mar to 19-Apr	5	14-Apr	6.5	05-Apr to 22-Apr	
	Female	6	14-Apr	11.7	28-Mar to 01-May	6	19-Apr	12.6	28-Mar to 06-May	
Two sa	mple KS test:		Ho: Male <	Female;	p = 0.51, D = 0.33		Ho: Male <	Female;	p = 0.68, D = 0.27	
2	Male	3	9-Apr	8.7	07-Apr to 23-Apr	3	17-Apr	6.4	17-Apr to 28-Apr	
	Female	7	14-Apr	6.7	11-Apr to 28-Apr	7	28-Apr	5.6	14-Apr to 01-May	
Two sa	mple KS test:		Ho: Male <	Female;	p = 0.15, D = 0.67	_	Ho: Male <	Female;	p = 0.32, D = 0.52	
1	Male	6	7-Apr	9.0	28-Mar to 19-Apr	5	14-Apr	6.5	05-Apr to 22-Apr	
2		3	9-Apr	8.7	07-Apr to 23-Apr	3	17-Apr	6.4	17-Apr to 28-Apr	
Two sa	Two sample KS test: Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p = 0.37, D = 0.5						Ho: Year 1	< Year 2	; p = 0.26, D = 0.6	
1	Female	6	14-Apr	11.7	28-Mar to 01-May	6	19-Apr	12.6	28-Mar to 06-May	
2		7	14-Apr	6.7	11-Apr to 28-Apr	7	28-Apr	5.6	14-Apr to 01-May	
Two sa	mple KS test:		Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p = 0.49, D = 0.33	Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p = 0.046, D = 0.69				

Table A1.18. Median timing that male and female CCT arrived in, and departed from, pre-spawn staging habitats in year 1 and year 2. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Vear	Migration Type Arrival to pre-spawn staging						Departure	from pr	e-spawn staging	
Tedi	wigiation type	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	
1	Combined	12	11-Apr	10.5	28-Mar to 01-May	11	19-Apr	10.0	28-Mar to 06-May	
2		10	12-Apr	7.1	07-Apr to 28-Apr	10	27-Apr	6.0	14-Apr to 01-May	
Two s	ample KS test:		Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p = 0.023, D = 0.42		Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p < 0.001, D = 0.61	
Combined	Stationary	10	14-Apr	10.2	28-Mar to 01-May	9	19-Apr	10.7	28-Mar to 06-May	
	Mobile	12	11-Apr	9.0	28-Mar to 28-Apr	12	21-Apr	7.8	05-Apr to 01-May	
Two sample KS test:Ho: Stationary > Mobile; p = 0.69, D = 0.1							o: Stationary	/ < Mobil	e; p = 0.383, D = 0.31	
1	Stationary	7	14-Apr	12.3	28-Mar to 01-May	6	20-Apr	12.8	28-Mar to 06-May	
	Mobile	5	5-Apr	6.2	28-Mar to 14-Apr	5	14-Apr	5.7	05-Apr to 19-Apr	
Two s	ample KS test:	ŀ	lo: Stationar	y < Mobi	le; p = 0.21, D = 0.51	H	Ho: Stationa	ry < Mob	ile; p = 0.26, D = 0.5	
2	Stationary	3	11-Apr	2.5	09-Apr to 14-Apr	3	17-Apr	6.8	14-Apr to 27-Apr	
	Mobile	7	17-Apr	7.8	07-Apr to 28-Apr	7	28-Apr	4.7	17-Apr to 01-May	
Two s	ample KS test:	ŀ	lo: Stationar	y < Mobi	le; p = 0.25, D = 0.57		o: Stationary	/ < Mobil	e; p = 0.117, D = 0.71	
1	Stationary	7	14-Apr	12.3	28-Mar to 01-May	6	20-Apr	12.8	28-Mar to 06-May	
2		3	11-Apr	2.5	09-Apr to 14-Apr	3	17-Apr	6.8	14-Apr to 27-Apr	
Two s	ample KS test:		Ho: Year 1	>Year 2;	p = 0.46, D = 0.43	Ho: Year 1 > Year 2; p = 0.64, D = 0.33				
1	Mobile	5	5-Apr	6.2	28-Mar to 14-Apr	5	14-Apr	5.7	05-Apr to 19-Apr	
2	2 7 17-Apr 7.8 07-Apr to 28		07-Apr to 28-Apr	7 28-Apr 4.7 17-Apr to 01-May						
Two s	ample KS test:		Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p = 0.081, D = 0.66	Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p = 0.014, D = 0.86				

Table A1.19. Median timing that mobile and stationary CCT arrived in, and departed from, staging habitats in year 1 and year 2. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Voor	Sox	OW to Spawn (Staging)					/ to Spa	awn (Non-staging)	g) Welch's two sample t:	
Teal	JEX	n	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range	Staging vs. Non-Staging	
Combined	Male	10	8.9	3.3	2.5 - 37.0	10	12.5	3.5	2.4 - 33.0	t(18.0) = -0.74, p = 0.47	
	Female	14	9.0	1.3	1.9 - 17.8	13	16.5	2.7	2.8 - 35.1	t(17.0) = -2.46, p = 0.02	
Welch's tv	vo sample t:	t	(0.0) = 1	11.68,	p = 0.98	1	t(18.4)	= -0.9	91, p = 0.38	-	
1	Male	7	6.3	1.6	2.5 - 14.0	5	16.7	6.5	2.5 - 33.0	t(4.5) = -1.55, p = 0.19	
	Female	6	8.4	2.2	1.9 - 17.8	7	11.4	2.1	2.8 - 17.5	t(10.7) = -1.01, p = 0.33	
Welch's tv	vo sample t:	t	(-0.8) =	9.29,	p = 0.46		t(4.8)	= 0.7	7, p = 0.48	-	
2	Male	3	15.0	11.0	3.6 - 37.0	5	8.2	1.7	2.4 - 12.7	t(2.1) = 0.61, p = 0.60	
	Female	8	9.5	1.6	2.9 - 16.4	6	22.4	4.5	7.1 - 35.1	t(6.3) = -2.69, p = 0.03	
Welch's tv	1	t(0.5) =	2.09,	p = 0.67		t(6.3) =	-2.9	4, p = 0.02	-		
1	Combined	13	7.3	1.3	1.9 - 17.8	12	13.6	2.9	2.5 - 33.0	t(15.2) = -2.00, p = 0.06	
2		11	11.0	2.9	2.9 - 37.0	11	16.0	3.3	2.4 - 35.1	t(19.7) = -1.12, p = 0.28	
Welch's tv	vo sample t:	t(-1.2) =	13.87	, p = 0.26	1	t(20.3)	= -0.5	53, p = 0.60	-	
1	Male	7	6.3	1.6	2.5 - 14.0	5	16.7	6.5	2.5 - 33.0	-	
2		3	15.0	11.0	3.6 - 37.0	5	8.2	1.7	2.4 - 12.7	-	
Welch's tv	p = 0.51		t(4.5)	= 1.20	6, p = 0.27	-					
1	Female	6	8.4	2.2	1.9 - 17.8	7	11.4	2.1	2.8 - 17.5	-	
2		8	9.5	1.6	2.9 - 16.4	6	22.4	4.5	7.1 - 35.1	-	
Welch's tv	t(-0.4) = 9.76, p = 0.68					t(7.1) =	-2.2	1, p = 0.06	-		

Table A1.20. Comparison of the total absolute distance staging and non-staging male and female CCT travelled from overwintering habitats to spawn. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Voar	Migration	0	W to Sp	awn	(Staging)	OW	/ to Spa	awn (Non-staging)	Welch's two sample t:		
Tear	Туре	n	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range	Staging vs. Non-Staging		
Combined	Stationary	11	5.6	0.8	1.9 - 9.4	11	12.9	2.6	2.5 - 32.1	t(11.9) = -2.73, p = 0.02		
	Mobile	13	11.9	2.5	2.9 - 37.0	12	16.5	3.4	2.4 - 35.1	t(20.4) = -1.08, p = 0.29		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t(-2.4) =	14.36	, p = 0.03	t	t(19.8)	= -0.8	34, p = 0.41	-		
1	Stationary	8	5.3	1.0	1.9 - 9.4	8	12.8	3.4	2.5 - 32.1	t(8.3) = -2.11, p = 0.07		
	Mobile	5	10.5	2.4	4.8 - 17.8	4	15.3	6.0	7.6 - 33.0	t(3.9) = -0.73, p = 0.51		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:		t(-2) = 5	5.54,	p = 0.10		t(5) =	-0.35	, p = 0.74	-		
2	Stationary	3	6.4	1.0	4.5 - 7.4	3	12.9	2.9	7.1 - 16.3	t(2.1) = 0.87, p = 0.47		
	Mobile	8	12.8	3.9	2.9 - 37.0	8	17.1	4.5	2.4 - 35.1	t(12.0) = -1.45, p = 0.17		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t	(-1.6) =	7.77,	p = 0.15		t(8.7) =	= -0.7	8, p = 0.46	-		
1	Combined	13	7.3	1.3	1.9 - 17.8	12	13.6	2.9	2.5 - 33.0	t(15.2) = -2.00, p = 0.06		
2		11	11.0	2.9	2.9 - 37.0	11	16.0	3.3	2.4 - 35.1	t(19.7) = -1.12, p = 0.28		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t(-1.2) =	13.87	, p = 0.26	t	t(20.3)	= -0.5	53, p = 0.59	-		
1	Stationary	8	5.3	1.0	1.9 - 9.4	8	12.8	3.4	2.5 - 32.1	-		
2		3	6.4	1.0	4.5 - 7.4	3	12.9	2.9	7.1 - 16.3	-		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t	(-0.8) =	6.86,	p = 0.44	1	t(7.3) =	= -0.0	2, p = 0.98	-		
1	Mobile	5	10.5	2.4	4.8 - 17.8	4	15.3	6.0	7.6 - 33.0	-		
2		8	12.8	3.9	2.9 - 37.0	8	17.1	4.5	2.4 - 35.1	-		
Welch's tw	vo sample t:	t(-0.5) = 10.65, p = 0.63					t(6.4) =	= -0.2	5, p = 0.81	-		

Table A1.21. Comparison of the total absolute distance staging and non-staging mobile and stationary CCT travelled from overwintering habitats to spawn. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Voor	Sov		Staging & Non-Staging		Non-Staging			Staging				Two sample KS Test:		
Teal	JEX	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	Non-staging vs Staging CCT
Combined	Male	20	23-Apr	11.0	28-Mar to 05-May	10	16-Apr	12.2	28-Mar to 05-May	10	27-Apr	9.0	05-Apr to 05-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.20, D = 0.40
	Female	27	28-Apr	10.2	05-Apr to 09-May	13	27-Apr	9.1	06-Apr to 01-May	14	1-May	11.2	05-Apr to 09-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.22, D = 0.34
Two samp	le KS test:	Н	o: Male < F	emale;	p = 0.29, D = 0.23	Н	o: Male < F	emale;	p = 0.32, D = 0.32	Н	o: Male < F	emale;	p = 0.10, D = 0.44	-
1	Male	12	19-Apr	10.3	28-Mar to 29-Apr	5	14-Apr	9.6	28-Mar to 19-Apr	7	27-Apr	9.0	05-Apr to 29-Apr	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.15, D = 0.57
	Female	13	27-Apr	11.5	05-Apr to 06-May	7	27-Apr	10.4	06-Apr to 01-May	6	26-Apr	13.6	05-Apr to 06-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.49, D = 0.33
Two samp	le KS test:	н	o: Male < F	emale;	p = 0.16, D = 0.38	Ho: Male < Female; p = 0.15, D = 0.57 Ho: Male < Female; p = 0				o: Male < F	p = 0.20, D = 0.50	-		
2	Male	8	01-May	9.9	11-Apr to 05-May	5	1-May	11.8	11-Apr to 05-May	3	1-May	3.5	28-Apr to 05-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.55, D = 0.40
	Female	14	01-May	8.9	11-Apr to 09-May	6	25-Apr	8.1	11-Apr to 01-May	8	1-May	9.4	11-Apr to 09-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.30, D = 0.42
Two samp	le KS test:	Н	o: Male < F	emale;	p = 0.89, D = 0.11	Н	o: Male > F	emale;	p = 0.68, D = 0.27	Ho: Male > Female; p = 0.76, D = 0.25			p = 0.76, D = 0.25	-
1	Combined	25	19-Apr	11.0	28-Mar to 06-May	12	19-Apr	11.0	28-Mar to 01-May	13	27-Apr	10.9	05-Apr to 06-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.14, D = 0.28
2		22	01-May	9.0	11-Apr to 09-May	11	28-Apr	9.4	11-Apr to 05-May	11	1-May	8.1	11-Apr to 09-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.20, D = 0.27
Two samp	le KS test:	Н	o: Year 1 <	Year 2;	p < 0.001, D = 0.44	Н	o:Year1<	Year 2;	p = 0.04, D = 0.38	Но	: Year 1 < ١	/ear 2;	o = 0.002, D = 0.51	-
1	Male	12	19-Apr	10.3	28-Mar to 29-Apr	5	14-Apr	9.6	28-Mar to 19-Apr	7	27-Apr	9.0	05-Apr to 29-Apr	-
2		8	01-May	9.9	11-Apr to 05-May	5	1-May	11.8	11-Apr to 05-May	3	1-May	3.5	28-Apr to 05-May	-
Two samp	le KS test:	Н	o: Year 1 <	Year 2;	p = 0.01, D = 0.67	Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p = 0.17, D = 0.60			Н	o:Year1<	Year 2;	p = 0.05, D = 0.86	-	
1	Female	13	27-Apr	11.5	05-Apr to 06-May	7	27-Apr	10.4	06-Apr to 01-May	6	26-Apr	13.6	05-Apr to 06-May	-
2		14	01-May	8.9	11-Apr to 09-May	6	25-Apr	8.1	11-Apr to 01-May	8	1-May	9.4	11-Apr to 09-May	-
Two samp	le KS test:	Н	lo:Year1<	Year 2;	p = 0.28, D = 0.31	Н	o: Year 1>	Year 2;	p = 0.59, D = 0.29	Ho: Year 1 < Year 2;			p = 0.47, D = 0.33	-

Table A1.22. Date that male and female staging and non-staging CCT arrived in spawning tributaries in year 1 and year 2. Comparisons between staging and non-staging CCT are presented in the final column. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Voor			Stag	ging & No	on-Staging			Non-S	taging			Stagi	ng	Two sample KS Test:		
Tear	wilgration type	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	Non-staging vs Staging CCT		
Combined	Stationary	22	20-Apr	10.6	28-Mar to 01-May	11	19-Apr	10.9	28-Mar to 01-May	11	27-Apr	10.4	05-Apr to 01-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.44, D = 0.27		
	Mobile	25	01-May	9.7	05-Apr to 09-May	12	27-Apr	10.0	05-Apr to 05-May	13	1-May	8.8	11-Apr to 09-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.21, D = 0.35		
Two sa	Two sample KS test:		o: Stationar	le; p = 0.07, D = 0.33	Ho: Stationary < Mobile; p = 0.33, D = 0.31					o: Stationar	ry < Mob	ile; p = 0.05, D = 0.5	-			
1	Stationary	16	19-Apr	Apr 11.1 28-Mar to 01-May 8 16-Apr		11.8	28-Mar to 01-May	8	24-Apr	10.9	05-Apr to 01-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.32, D = 0.38				
	Mobile	9	27-Apr	10.2	05-Apr to 06-May	4	23-Apr	10.4	05-Apr to 27-Apr	5	29-Apr	10.0	14-Apr to 06-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.20, D = 0.60		
Two sa	Two sample KS test:		o: Stationar	le; p = 0.45, D = 0.26	Ho: Stationary < Mobile; p = 0.72, D = 0.25					o: Stationar	y < Mobi	le; p = 0.25, D = 0.48	-			
2	Stationary	6	25-Apr	8.1	11-Apr to 01-May	3	23-Apr	8.7	11-Apr to 28-Apr	3	1-May	8.1	17-Apr to 01-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.26, D = 0.67		
	Mobile	16	01-May	9.4	11-Apr to 09-May	8	1-May	10.0	11-Apr to 05-May	8	1-May	8.4	11-Apr to 09-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.61, D = 0.25		
Two sa	nple KS test:	Ho: Stationary < Mobile; p = 0.33, D = 0.35					o: Stationar	le; p = 0.18, D = 0.63	Но	o: Stationar	y < Mobi	le; p = 0.54, D = 0.38	-			
1	Combined	25	19-Apr	11.0	28-Mar to 06-May	12	19-Apr	11.0	28-Mar to 01-May	13	27-Apr	10.9	05-Apr to 06-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.14, D = 0.28		
2		22	01-May	9.0	11-Apr to 09-May	11	28-Apr	9.4	11-Apr to 05-May	11	1-May	8.1	11-Apr to 09-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.20, D = 0.27		
Two sa	nple KS test:	Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p < 0.001, D = 0.44					Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p = 0.04, D = 0.38		Ho:Year1<	Year 2;	p = 0.002, D = 0.51	-		
1	Stationary	16	19-Apr	11.1	28-Mar to 01-May	8	16-Apr	11.8	28-Mar to 01-May	8	24-Apr	10.9	05-Apr to 01-May	-		
2		6	25-Apr	8.1	11-Apr to 01-May	3	23-Apr	8.7	11-Apr to 28-Apr	3	1-May	8.1	17-Apr to 01-May	-		
Two sample KS test:		Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p = 0.29, D = 0.38					Ho: Year 1	p = 0.47, D = 0.42		Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p = 0.28, D = 0.54	-			
1	Mobile	9	27-Apr	10.2	05-Apr to 06-May	4	23-Apr	10.4	05-Apr to 27-Apr	5	29-Apr	10.0	14-Apr to 06-May	-		
2		16	01-May	9.4	11-Apr to 09-May	8	1-May	10.0	11-Apr to 05-May	8	1-May	8.4	11-Apr to 09-May	-		
Two sa	nple KS test:	Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p = 0.08, D = 0.47					Ho: Year 1	p = 0.12, D = 0.63		Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p = 0.47, D = 0.35	-			

Table A1.23. Date that mobile and stationary staging and non-staging CCT arrived in spawning tributaries in year 1 and year 2. Comparisons between staging and non-staging CCT are presented in the final column. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Table A1.24. Summary of the date that male and female staging and non-staging CCT arrived at maximum upstream relocation positions in year 1 and year 2. Note that spawn date is estimated as the median date of maximum upstream relocation position. Values presented in the last column of the table compare the arrival timing of staging and non-staging CCT. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Vear	Sev -		Stag	ging & No	n-Staging			Non-Sta	ging			Stag	ing	Two sample KS Test:			
Teal	Jex	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	Non-staging vs Staging CCT			
Combined	Male	19	27-Apr	9.7	09-Apr to 15-May	9	19-Apr	12.0	09-Apr to 15-May	10	28-Apr	7.0	14-Apr to 09-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.14, D = 0.46			
	Female	25	01-May	10.9	06-Apr to 17-May	12	30-Apr	11.5	06-Apr to 17-May	13	5-May	9.9	14-Apr to 15-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.03, D = 0.53			
Two samp		Ho: Male <	< Female;	p = 0.61, D = 0.23		Ho: Male	< Female;	p = 0.53, D = 0.25		Ho: Male	< Female	; p = 0.18, D = 0.39	-				
1	Male	11	27-Apr	7.4	09-Apr to 04-May	lay 4 19-Apr		7.4	09-Apr to 27-Apr	7	27-Apr	6.1	14-Apr to 04-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.15, D = 0.61			
	Female	12	27-Apr	12.1	06-Apr to 17-May	7	27-Apr	14.2	06-Apr to 17-May	5	27-Apr	9.9	14-Apr to 06-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.62, D = 0.29			
Two samp	le KS test:	Ho: Male > Female; p = 0.30, D = 0.33					Ho: Male	< Female;	p = 0.39, D = 0.43		Ho: Male	< Female	; p = 0.39, D = 0.40	-			
2	Male	8	05-May	10.3	17-Apr to 15-May	5	5-May	12.9	17-Apr to 15-May	3	6-May	2.1	05-May to 09-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.55, D = 0.40			
	Female	13	05-May	8.4	17-Apr to 15-May	5	1-May	6.8	17-Apr to 05-May	8	7-May	8.4	17-Apr to 15-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.06, D = 0.68			
Two samp	le KS test:		Ho: Male <	< Female;	p = 0.69, D = 0.19		Ho: Male :	> Female;	p = 0.45, D = 0.40		Ho: Male	< Female	; p = 0.76, D = 0.25	-			
1	Combined	23	27-Apr	10.0	06-Apr to 17-May	11	19-Apr	12.1	06-Apr to 17-May	12	27-Apr	7.5	14-Apr to 06-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.13, D = 0.30			
2		21	05-May	8.9	17-Apr to 15-May	10	1-May	9.8	17-Apr to 15-May	11	6-May	7.1	17-Apr to 15-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.004, D = 0.51			
Two samp	le KS test:		Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p < 0.001, D = 0.54		Ho: Year 1	. < Year 2;	p = 0.02, D = 0.43		Ho: Year 1	L < Year 2;	p < 0.001, D = 0.74	-			
1	Male	11	27-Apr	7.4	09-Apr to 04-May	4	19-Apr	7.4	09-Apr to 27-Apr	7	27-Apr	6.1 14-Apr to 04-May		-			
2		8	05-May	10.3	17-Apr to 15-May	5	5-May	12.9	17-Apr to 15-May	3	6-May	-May 2.1 05-May to 09-May		-			
Two sample KS test:		Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p = 0.005, D = 0.75					Ho: Year	1 < Year 2;	p = 0.2, D = 0.60		Ho: Year	1 < Year 2	2; p = 0.02, D = 1.0	-			
1	Female	12	27-Apr	12.1	06-Apr to 17-May	7	27-Apr	14.2	06-Apr to 17-May	5	27-Apr	9.9	14-Apr to 06-May	-			
2		13	05-May	8.4	17-Apr to 15-May	5	1-May	6.8	17-Apr to 05-May	8	7-May	8.4	17-Apr to 15-May	-			
Two samp	le KS test:	Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p = 0.10, D = 0.43					Ho: Year 1	. < Year 2;	p = 0.45, D = 0.37		Ho: Year	1 < Year 2	; p = 0.21, D = 0.50	-			

Table A1.25. Summary of the date that mobile and stationary staging and non-staging CCT arrived at maximum upstream relocation positions in year 1 and year 2. Note that spawn date is estimated as the median date of maximum upstream relocation position. Values presented in the last column of the table compare the arrival timing of staging and non-staging CCT. Significant tests results are presented in bold.

Year			Sta	ging & N	on-Staging			Non-St	aging			Stag	ing	Two sample KS Test:			
rear	wingration type	n Median		SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	n	Median	SD	Range	Non-staging vs Staging CCT			
Combined	Stationary	20	27-Apr	9.4	06-Apr to 09-May	9	27-Apr	9.7	06-Apr to 01-May	11	27-Apr	9.2	14-Apr to 09-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.27, D = 0.36			
	Mobile	24	05-May	10.1	09-Apr to 17-May	12	29-Apr	12.4	09-Apr to 17-May	12	5-May	5.5	27-Apr to 15-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.12, D = 0.42			
Two sample KS test:		Ho: Stationary < Mobile; p = 0.02, D = 0.43					o: Stationai	∙y < Mobi	le; p = 0.17, D = 0.42	ŀ	lo: Stationa	ry < Mob	ile; p = 0.03, D = 0.55	-			
1	Stationary	15	27-Apr	9.2	06-Apr to 06-May	7	19-Apr	10.1	06-Apr to 01-May	8	27-Apr	8.4	14-Apr to 06-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.54, D = 0.29			
	Mobile	8	27-Apr	11.1	09-Apr to 17-May	4	23-Apr	16.1	09-Apr to 17-May	4	28-Apr	4.1	27-Apr to 06-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.37, D = 0.50			
Two sa	Two sample KS test:		lo: Stationa	ile; p = 0.57, D = 0.23	Ho: Stationary < Mobile; p = 0.73, D = 0.25					lo: Stationa	ry < Mob	ile; p = 0.26, D = 0.50	-				
2	Stationary	5	01-May	8.5	17-Apr to 09-May	2	30-Apr	1.4	29-Apr to 01-May	3	6-May	11.9	17-Apr to 09-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.34, D = 0.67			
	Mobile	16	05-May	9.2	17-Apr to 15-May	8	3-May	11.1	17-Apr to 15-May	8	7-May	3.8	05-May to 15-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.14, D = 0.50			
Two sa	Two sample KS test:		lo: Stationa	ry < Mobi	ile; p = 0.39, D = 0.35	Ho: Stationary < Mobile; p = 0.45, D = 0.50					Ho: Stationa	ry < Mob	ile; p = 0.62, D = 0.33	-			
1	Combined	23	27-Apr	10.0	06-Apr to 17-May	11	19-Apr	12.1	06-Apr to 17-May	12	27-Apr	7.5	14-Apr to 06-May	Ho: Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.13, D = 0.30			
2		21	05-May	8.9	17-Apr to 15-May	10	1-May	9.8	17-Apr to 15-May	11	6-May	7.1	17-Apr to 15-May	Ho:Non-Staging < Staging; p = 0.004, D = 0.51			
Two sa	mple KS test:	Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p < 0.001, D = 0.54					Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p = 0.02, D = 0.43	-	Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p < 0.001, D = 0.74	-			
1	Stationary	15	27-Apr	9.2	06-Apr to 06-May	7	19-Apr	10.1	06-Apr to 01-May	8	27-Apr	8.4	14-Apr to 06-May	-			
2		5	01-May	8.5	17-Apr to 09-May	2	30-Apr	1.4	29-Apr to 01-May	3	6-May	11.9	17-Apr to 09-May	-			
Two sa	Two sample KS test:		Ho: Year 1 < Year 2; p = 0.12, D = 0.53				Ho: Year 2	L < Year 2	; p = 0.2, D = 0.71		Ho: Year 1	L < Year 2	; p = 0.28, D = 0.54	-			
1	Mobile	8	27-Apr	11.1	09-Apr to 17-May	4	23-Apr	16.1	09-Apr to 17-May	4	28-Apr	4.1	27-Apr to 06-May	-			
2		16	05-May	9.2	17-Apr to 15-May	8	3-May	11.1	17-Apr to 15-May	8	7-May	3.8	05-May to 15-May	-			
Two sa	Two sample KS test:		Ho: Year 2	< Year 2	; p = 0.03, D = 0.56		Ho: Year 1	< Year 2;	p = 0.47, D = 0.38		Ho: Year 1	L < Year 2	; p = 0.05, D = 0.75	-			

Table A1.26. Summary of the number and spawning position of and the mainstem (rkm) and tributary position (tkm) of spawning habitats within major and minor tributaries of the Kitimat River and their secondary and tertiary channels. Note that major and minor tributaries flow directly into the Kitimat River while secondary and tertiary tributaries confluence with major and minor tributaries, confluence position describes the location that secondary and tertiary tributaries confluence with major and minor tributaries, while spawning position describes the distance CCT travelled within secondary and tertiary tributaries to spawn.

			Main Cl	nannel S	Spawning CCT				2° and 3° 9		All Spawning CCT					
Spawning Water Body	rkm		Spaw	ning Po	sition (tkm)		Confluer	nce Pos	ition (tkm)	Spav	Spawning Position (tkm)					
		n Mean S		SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range	Mean	SE	Range	n	Mean	SE	Range
Hirsch Creek	15.7	0	-	-	-	5	2.5	1.4	0.4 to 7.4	2.0	0.7	0.2 to 3.4	5	4.5	0.8	3.3 to 7.6
Big Wedeene	21.4	2	26.5	4.4	22.1 to 30.9	6	9.5	2.9	5.2 to 23.3	0.8	0.2	0 to 1.1	8	14.3	3.5	6.3 to 30.9
Little Wedeene	20.1	0	-	-	-	2	2.6	0.0	2.6 to 2.6	2.9	0.0	2.9 to 2.9	2	5.4	0.0	5.4
Nalbeelah Creek	24.8	4	4.9	1.0	1.9 to 6.3	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	4	4.9	1.0	1.9 to 6.3
Humphrey Creek	29.7	1	2.4	-	-	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	2.4	0.0	2.4
Deception Creek	30.4	2	2.5	0.0	2.5 to 2.5	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	2	2.5	0.0	2.5
Cecil Creek	32.6	5	6.3	2.3	2.5 to 13.2	3	5.6	1.5	2.6 to 7.3	1.4	1.0	0.3 to 3.5	8	6.5	1.4	2.5 to 13.2
Chist Creek	44.2	1	5.8	-	-	1	0.3	-	-	0.2	-	-	2	3.1	2.6	0.5 to 5.8
McKay Creek	48.3	1	2.2	-	-	1	1.0	-	-	0.5	-	-	2	1.8	0.3	1.5 to 2.2
All Major Tributaries	27.2 ± 1.6 *	16	7.4	1.5	1.9 to 30.9	18	5.1	1.3	0.3 to 23.3	1.3	0.3	0 to 3.5	34	7.0	1.1	0.5 to 30.9
Duck Creek	10.6	3	3.0	0.0	2.9 to 3	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	3	3.0	0.0	2.9 to 3.0
Goose Creek	10.8	2	4.9	0.9	3.1 to 6.2	1	5.1	-	-	0.1	-	-	3	4.9	0.9	3.1 to 6.2
McNeil Creek	30.2	2	5.4	1.5	4 to 6.9	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	2	5.4	1.5	4 to 6.9
Powerline Creek	16.5	2	5.4	0.5	5 to 5.9	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	2	5.4	0.5	5 to 5.9
Unnamed Creeks*	41.7 ± 13.3 *	3	1.2	0.2	0 to 3.5	0	-	-	-	-	-	-	3	1.2	0.2	0.8 to 1.7
All Minor Tributaries	21.8 ± 4.5 **	12	6.9	3.8	0.8 to 6.9	1	5.1	-	-	0.1	-	-	13	3.8	0.5	0.8 to 6.9

Note: Table includes position of 4 CCT for which spawning date is unknown.

* Small unnamed tributaries flowing directly into the mainstem of the Kitimat River.

** Mean ± SE

A1. Supplemental Recapture Information

Twelve CCT were recaptured within the Kitimat watershed. This includes four Floy tagged and eight radio tagged CCT. The four Floy tagged (non-radio tagged) CCT were reported by recreational anglers, two of which provided sufficient information to identify the individual and its location of capture. The first of these two individuals, a male captured on September 16, 2012 was recaptured 6.2 km upstream of its initial capture location on October 6, 2012. The second CCT, a female captured on November 7, 2012 was recaptured 5.0 km downstream of its initial capture location on October 29, 2013. The two unidentified CCT were captured by anglers who described catching trout with a yellow tag on their dorsal fin, but did not provide the number on the Floy tag. One CCT sampled and Floy tagged on July 22, 2013 was recaptured in the same location on July 25, 2013 and outfitted with a small radio tag.

Four of the eight radio tagged CCT were recaptured during sampling while the remaining four were captured and reported by recreational anglers. Radio tagged CCT recaptured during sampling were inspected for signs of infection. Two of these fish, CCT #003 and #051, were observed to be in poor condition. Cutthroat #003, initially captured on August 11, 2012 was recaptured on November 16, 2012 within 500 m of its initial capture location. This individual's incision had closed and its sutures were intact though misplaced and cutting through the skin. Discoloration of the skin was apparent at the exit point of the antenna and on the abdomen where the tag appeared to be resting (Figure A1.2). Fish#003 was not observed after December 20, 2012. Fish#051 was radio tagged on October 28, 2012 and was recaptured 11.0 km downstream of its initial location on March 15, 2013. The

167

incision on this CCT appeared to have partially reopened, though no visible signs of infection were apparent (Figure A1.3). Fish#051 was not detected after April 19, 2013, although before this date it appeared to be moving upstream towards a presumed spawning habitat. Fish#134 was recaptured on March 26, 2014, 21.6 km upstream of its location of capture on July 14, 2014. This CCT appeared very healthy, it showed no signs of infection, the sutures had dissolved and the incision had healed cleanly and was almost undetectable (Figure A1.4). Fish#134 survived spawning and then migrated to the estuary where it was last observed on June 28, 2014. A fourth radio tagged CCT, Fish#148 was recaptured by a recreational angler on April 24, 2014 within 500 m of its initial capture location. Fish#148 had a $1.5 \times 1.5 \text{ cm}^2$ abscess on the outside of its abdomen, the cause of which was unclear. The incision appears to have healed cleanly and no sutures were present (Figure A1.5). This fish was observed in a spawning tributary from May 9 to May 12, 2014 and was last observed in Hirsch Creek on May 27, 2014. The condition of these four recaptured cutthroat provided insight into the condition and fate of other trout tagged throughout this study and ultimately influenced the criteria used to identifying tagging mortalities. Due to the poor condition of these two fish relative to the condition of Fish#134 and Fish#148, any fish that exhibit no additional movement - regardless of the duration from their initial tagging were considered tagging mortalities.



Figure A1.2. Condition of CCT ID#3 upon recapture on November 16, 2012. Note the yellow discoloration at the exit point of the antenna as well as on abdomen where transmitter appears to be resting. Fish was not relocated again 1 month after this photo was taken.



Figure A1.3. Condition of CCT ID#51 upon recapture on March 15, 2013. The transmitter in this CCT was recovered on April 19, 2013 and the fish is assumed to have died.



Figure A1.4. Condition of CCT ID#134 upon recapture on July 14, 2014. The incision appears to have healed cleanly and sutures have dissolved.



Figure A1.5. Condition of CCT ID#148 upon recapture on April 24, 2014. Note that scar, circled in red has healed cleanly. Abscess is possibly due to wear against the transmitter.
Chapter 2 Appendix

Table A2.1. Observations identified in scientific literature supporting the inclusion of abiotic metrics in the
overwintering candidate model set.

Overwintering								
Variable	Observation	ion Species and Source						
Discharge	Decreased flows reduce	CT: (Gresswell and Hendricks 2007)						
	winter movement							
	Decreased flows increase	Salmonid: (Jonsson and Jonsson 2002, Krimmer et						
	winter movement	al. 2011)						
	Increased flows influence	CT: (Waters 1993b, Brown and Mackay 1995a, White and Harvey 2007)						
	winter movement.							
		Salmonid: (Enders et al. 2008)						
	Increased flows do not	CT: (Waters 1993b, Brown 1999, Harvey et al.						
	influence winter movement.	1999, White and Harvey 2007)						
		Salmonid: (Enders et al. 2008)						
	Ice formation influences	CT: (Waters 1993b, Jakober et al. 1998, Brown						
	winter movement	1999, Harvey et al. 1999, Harper and Farag 2004,						
		Lindstrom and Hubert 2004)						
		Salmonid: (Whalen et al. 1999, Huusko et al.						
		2007, Brown et al. 2011, Linnansaari 2013, Watz						
		et al. 2015)						
	Increased flows increase	CT: (Romero et al. 2005)						
	invertebrate drift							
Motor	Descended to manage to the	CT. (Bass 1000, Brown 1000, Harner and Farag						
Water	Decreased temperature	CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced	CT :(Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Brown et al.						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement	CT :(Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011)						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement	CT : (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011)						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement	CT :(Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid :(Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008)						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement	CT :(Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid :(Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011)						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement	CT :(Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid :(Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013)						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement Decreased temperature	CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995c, Brown 1999.						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement Decreased temperature associated with increased	CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995c, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004)						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement Decreased temperature associated with increased use of overwinter habitats	CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995c, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement Decreased temperature associated with increased use of overwinter habitats	CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995c, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975b, Jakober et al. 1998, Mollenhauer 2011,						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement Decreased temperature associated with increased use of overwinter habitats	CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995c, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975b, Jakober et al. 1998, Mollenhauer 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013)						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement Decreased temperature associated with increased use of overwinter habitats Movement occurs	CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995c, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975b, Jakober et al. 1998, Mollenhauer 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Stephan and Zurstadt 2004)						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement Decreased temperature associated with increased use of overwinter habitats Movement occurs throughout winter, even at	CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995c, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975b, Jakober et al. 1998, Mollenhauer 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Stephan and Zurstadt 2004)						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement Decreased temperature associated with increased use of overwinter habitats Movement occurs throughout winter, even at low water temperatures.	CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995c, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975b, Jakober et al. 1998, Mollenhauer 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Stephan and Zurstadt 2004)						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement Decreased temperature associated with increased use of overwinter habitats Movement occurs throughout winter, even at low water temperatures. Increased water	CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995c, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975b, Jakober et al. 1998, Mollenhauer 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Stephan and Zurstadt 2004) CT: (Waters 1993b, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004)						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement Decreased temperature associated with increased use of overwinter habitats Movement occurs throughout winter, even at low water temperatures. Increased water temperature in spring	CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995c, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975b, Jakober et al. 1998, Mollenhauer 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Stephan and Zurstadt 2004) CT: (Waters 1993b, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004) Salmonid: (Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jensen et						
Water Temperature	Decreased temperature associated with reduced winter movement Decreased temperature associated with increased use of overwinter habitats Movement occurs throughout winter, even at low water temperatures. Increased water temperature in spring associated with increased	 CT: (Boss 1999, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004, Lindstrom and Hubert 2004, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004, Bryant et al. 2009, Brown et al. 2011) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jakober et al. 1998, Enders et al. 2008, Mollenhauer 2011, Krimmer et al. 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995c, Brown 1999, Harper and Farag 2004) Salmonid: (Bustard 1970, Bustard and Narver 1975b, Jakober et al. 1998, Mollenhauer 2011, Mollenhauer et al. 2013) CT: (Stephan and Zurstadt 2004) CT: (Waters 1993b, Stephan and Zurstadt 2004) Salmonid: (Bustard and Narver 1975a, Jensen et al. 1986, Swanberg 1997, Albanese et al. 2004, 						

Table A2.2. Observations identified in scientific literature supporting the inclusion of abiotic metrics in the spawning candidate model set.

Variable	Observation	Source				
Discharge	Rising flows increase	CT: (Gresswell and Hendricks 2007, DeRito et al.				
	spawning movements.	2010, Schmetterling 2011, Bennett et al. 2014)				
		Salmonid: (Banks 1969, Jensen et al. 1986, van				
		den Berghe and Gross 1989, Økland et al. 2001,				
		Albanese et al. 2004, Svendsen et al. 2004,				
		Mollenhauer 2011, Taylor and Cooke 2012,				
		Malcolm et al. 2012)				
	Rising flows reduce spawning	CT: (Brown and Mackay 1995a)				
	movements.	Other: (Jonsson 1991, Jonsson and Jonsson				
		2002, Svendsen et al. 2004)				
	Receding peak flows stimulate	Salmonid: (Alabaster 1990, Jonsson 1991,				
	spawning movements.	Gresswell et al. 1997, DeRito et al. 2010,				
		Schmetterling 2011)				
	Decreased flows increase	Salmonid: (Trepanier et al. 1996)				
	spawning movement.					
	Variability in flows increases	Salmonid: (Tetzlaff et al. 2005)				
	variability in both the					
	response to flows and spawn					
	timing.					
	Turbidity increases	Salmonid: (Banks 1969, Alabaster 1990,				
	movement.	Rakowitz et al. 2008)				
Water	Increased spawning	CT:(Gresswell et al. 1997, Stephan and Zurstadt				
Temperature	movement associated with	2004, DeRito et al. 2010, Bennett et al. 2014)				
	rising water temperatures.	Salmonid: (Dodson and Young 1977, Jensen et al.				
		1986, Swanberg 1997, Albanese et al. 2004,				
		Svendsen et al. 2004, Petty et al. 2012)				
	Increased spawning	Salmonid: (Trepanier et al. 1996, Young et al.				
	movement associated with	2010)				
	decreasing water					
	temperatures.					
	Decreased spawning	Salmonid: (Rustadbakken et al. 2004)				
	movement associated with					
	cool water temperatures.					
	Spawning movements not	CT: (Webb and McLay 1996, Jones and Harding				
	influenced by water	1998)				
	temperature.					
	Water temperature influences	CT: (Williams et al. 2009, Zeigler et al. 2012,				
	spawn timing.	Kovach et al. 2013)				
		Salmonid: (Robards and Quinn 2002, Dahl et al.				
		2004, Juanes et al. 2004, Quinn et al. 2007,				
		Jonsson and Jonsson 2009)				

Table A2.2 Continued								
Variable	Observation	References						
Discharge and water temperature	Increased spawning movement when flow is decreasing and temperature is increasing.	CT: (Gresswell and Hendricks 2007) Salmonid: (Swanberg 1997, Svendsen et al. 2004, Ringel et al. 2014)						
Photoperiod	Day length is proximate factor indicating migration season	Salmonid: (Smith 1985)						
	Day length influences motivation to spawn.	Salmonid: (Banks 1969, Jonsson 1991, Thorstad et al. 2005, 2008)						
	Day length influences rheotropic behaviour.	Salmonid: (Dodson and Young 1977, Smith 1985)						
	Day length acts as cue for physiological changes	Salmonid: (Macquarrie et al. 1978, Whitehead et al. 1978, Smith 1985, Carrillo et al. 1989, Fleming 1996, Norberg et al. 2004, Garcia de Leaniz et al. 2007)						
Sex	Sex influences timing of migrations	CT: (Jones and Yanusz 1998) Salmonid: (Morbey 2000, Dahl et al. 2004)						
Fork Length	Size influences timing of spawning movements	CT: (Jones and Yanusz 1998, Young 2011) Salmonid: (Swanberg 1997, Curry et al. 2002)						
	Size does not influence movement timing.	CT: (Alexiades et al. 2012)						
	Size influences distance travelled.	Salmonid: (Wenger et al. 2011)						
	Size does not influence distance travelled.	Salmonid: (Svendsen et al. 2004)						
Distance to Spawn	Increased distance to spawn decreases date.	Salmonid: (Bahr and Shrimpton 2004)						

			Winter (Oct. 1 to March 14)		Spawn (March 15 to May 31)			Combined (Oct 1 to May 31)			
Year	Tributary	Deployment Date	Mean	SD	Range	Mean	SD	Range	Mean	SD	Range
1	Hirsch	1-Oct-12	1.8	1.9	0 - 8.3	3.1	1.0	0.6 - 4.9	2.2	1.8	0 - 8.3
1	Cecil	1-Oct-12	1.6	1.9	-3 - 6.6	3.7	1.2	-0.3 - 6	2.3	2.0	-3 - 6.6
1	Nalbeelah	6-Oct-12	1.8*	1.9	-0.1 - 8.1	3.6	1.1	0.6 - 5.4	2.4*	1.9	-0.1 - 8.1
1	Little Wedeene	1-Oct-12	1.9*	1.9	0 - 8	3.5	0.9	1.2 - 5.4	2.4*	1.8	0 - 8
1	Humphrey	1-Oct-12	2.7	1.7	0.2 - 8.6	3.4	1.0	1.8 - 5.8	2.9	1.5	0.2 - 8.6
1	McNeil	18-Dec-12	1.7*	0.9	0.1 - 3.4	4.7	1.4	1.6 - 7.6	3.1*	1.9	0.1 - 7.6
1	Big Wedeene	1-Oct-12	2.9	1.7	0.3 - 9	4.1	1.2	2.4 - 6.7	3.3	1.6	0.3 - 9
1	Chicken	12-May-13	-	-	-	7.2*	0.9	6.1 - 8.5	7.2*	0.9	6.1 - 8.5
1	Goose	24-Apr-13	-	-	-	9.1*	2.2	5.3 - 12.1	9.1*	2.2	5.3 - 12.1
2	Lone Wolf	23-Oct-13	1.6*	1.7	0 - 7.5	3.9	2.2	0.1 - 7.5	2.4	2.2	0 - 7.5
2	Hirsch	1-Oct-12	2.3	2.6	0 - 8.2	2.9	1.4	0.2 - 5.5	2.5	2.3	0 - 8.2
2	Chist	12-Oct-13	2.2	2.1	0 - 7.7	3.8	1.6	0.7 - 6.8	2.7	2.1	0 - 7.7
2	Cecil	1-Oct-12	2.2	2.2	-0.1 - 7	3.9	1.3	0.6 - 6.6	2.8	2.1	-0.1 - 7
2	Nalbeelah	6-Oct-12	2.6*	2.7	0.1 - 8.6	3.1	1.5	0.6 - 6	2.8	2.4	0.1 - 8.6
2	Little Wedeene	1-Oct-12	2.4	2.4	0-8.1	3.8	1.4	0.8 - 6.9	2.8	2.2	0-8.1
2	Humphrey	1-Oct-12	2.9	2.1	0.1 - 7.8	3.3	1.5	0.2 - 6.1	3.0	1.9	0.1 - 7.8
2	Duck	11-Oct-13	2.6*	2.4	0 - 8.9	3.9	1.8	0.5 - 7.4	3.1*	2.3	0 - 8.9
2	Chicken	12-May-13	2.9*	2.8	0-9.1	4.0	2.5	0.7 - 8.4	3.3*	2.8	0-9.1
2	Big Wedeene	1-Oct-12	3.1	2.1	0.3 - 8	3.9	1.6	0.5 - 6.7	3.4	2.0	0.3 - 8
2	Deception	17-Oct-13	2.1*	2.4	0.1 - 9.1	5.8	3.9	0.1 - 12.1	3.4	3.5	0.1 - 12.1
2	Goose	24-Apr-13	2.6	2.9	0 - 9.4	5.5	3.8	0.1 - 11.4	3.5	3.5	0 - 11.4
2	McNeil	18-Dec-12	5.4	2.0	0.5 - 9.8	3.9	0.7	2.6 - 4.8	5.2	2.0	0.5 - 9.8

Table A2.3. Mean water temperature recorded in tributaries of the Kitimat river throughout the overwinter period (October 1 to March 14), spawning period (March 15 to May 31) and combined periods (October 1 to May 31) of each year.

* Indicates that temperatures were not collected throughout the entire period.

			Date		V	Water Temperature (°c)			
Tributary	Year	n	Median	SE	Range	Mean	SD	Range	
Big Wedeene	1	5	20-Apr	8.23	07-Apr to 04-May	3.63	0.58	2.85 to 5.24	
Cecil	1	4	9-Apr	8.51	26-Mar to 23-Apr	3.71	0.71	2.52 to 5.62	
Chicken	1	3	20-Apr	5.34	12-Apr to 29-Apr	n/a	n/a	n/a	
Chist	1	2	28-Apr	0.71	28-Apr to 29-Apr	n/a	n/a	n/a	
Deception	1	1	17-Apr	NA	17-Apr to 17-Apr	n/a	n/a	n/a	
Duck	1	1	18-Apr	NA	18-Apr to 18-Apr	n/a	n/a	n/a	
Goose	1	3	3-Apr	1.87	01-Apr to 06-Apr	6.28	1.05	5.26 to 8.47	
Hirsch	1	1	23-Apr	NA	23-Apr to 23-Apr	3.75	0.57	2.78 to 5.33	
Humphrey	1	0	-	-	-	3.63	0.58	2.85 to 5.24	
Little Wedeene	1	1	4-May	NA	04-May to 04-May	3.31	0.56	2.2 to 4.58	
Nalbeelah	1	1	1-Apr	NA	01-Apr to 01-Apr	4.37	0.55	3.28 to 5.92	
Big Wedeene	2	3	2-May	1.00	01-May to 03-May	3.44	0.86	1.19 to 5.01	
Cecil	2	4	11-Apr	3.03	07-Apr to 16-Apr	3.65	0.93	1.1 to 5.27	
Chicken	2	2	3-May	2.45	30-Apr to 07-May	3.78	1.13	1.94 to 6.17	
Chist	2	0	-	-	-	3.82	0.92	1.6 to 5.54	
Deception	2	1	6-Apr	NA	06-Apr to 06-Apr	5.44	2.12	1.4 to 9.24	
Duck	2	2	23-Apr	0.71	23-Apr to 24-Apr	3.8	1.01	1.58 to 5.35	
Goose	2	1	23-Apr	NA	23-Apr to 23-Apr	4.95	2.38	0.97 to 9.41	
Hirsch	2	0	-	-	-	3.7	0.89	1.55 to 5.25	
Humphrey	2	1	30-Apr	NA	30-Apr to 30-Apr	3.44	0.86	1.19 to 5.01	
Little Wedeene	2	1	27-Apr	NA	27-Apr to 27-Apr	3.49	0.91	1.21 to 5.18	
McNeil	2	0	-	-	-	n/a	n/a	n/a	
Nalbeelah	2	3	28-Apr	1.29	27-Apr to 30-Apr	4.08	1.05	1.72 to 5.68	

Table A2.4. Summary of date that radio tagged CCT were first observed in spawning tributaries and the temperature of spawning tributaries upon arrival.